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OUR MISSION

WE WORK TO CREATE ABETTER
FUTURE EVERY DAY

We help people feel good, look goed and get
more out of life with brands and services that
are good for them and good for others We will
iInspire people to take small, everyday actions
that can add up to a big difference for the world
We will develop new ways of doing business with
the aim of doubling the size of our company
while reducing our environmental impact

Our business model 1s designed to deliver sustainable growth We are
living In a world where temperatures are rising water Is scarce, energy s
expensive, sanitation 1s poor, and food supplies are volatile and uncertain
We have to develop products that enable people to live well 1n a resource-

stressed world, and encourage behaviour and habits that help them to
live sustainably

Forus sustainability 1s integral to our way of doing business Executed
well 1twill be a powerful driver of business growth and 1s a core
competence for any successful company
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PUREIT

Provides people with safe and affordable

drinking water where supplies are of poor

quality, and without the need for gas

electricity or a pressurised supply '

KNORR

Goes to extraordinary lengths to provide
great-tasting producis which help people
to prepare delicious and nutntious meats
for their families every day

LIPTON

Is committed to sourcing all its

tea sustainably to help conserve the
environment and improve the livelihoods
of tea workers their families and
communities

DOVE

Hetps women to realise their persenal
potential for beauty and encourages
men to take better care of themselves
by engaging them with products that
deliver superior care

COMFORT ONE RINSE

Saves up to 30 litres of water per
wash for the millions of people who
do their laundry by hand in water-
scarce countries
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The brand names shown in this report are trademarks owned by or Licensed to companies within the
Unilever Group Thiz document contains certain statements that are neither reported financial results
nor other historical information These statements are forward-loaking statements including within
the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 Actual results may
differ materially from those disclosed in our forward-locking statements For a description of factors
that could affect future results reference should be made to the full Cautionary statement on the inside
back cover and to the section entitled Risks on pages 28 to 33 For information about our non-GAAP
measures see pages 26 and 27 In our report we make reference to Unilever s website Information

on our website 1s not iIncorporated herein and does not form part of this document This Annual Report
comprises regulated inforrmation wathin the meaning of sections 1 1 and 5 25¢ of the Act on Financial
Supervision [ Wet op het financieel toezicht [Wft] }in the Netherlands




Report of the Directors About Unilever

CHAIRMAN'S
STATEMENT

Against the backdrop of a continuing tough economic
environment, Unilever delivered a good performance in 2011

We have a stronger business, with a compelling vision, a sharper
organisation and an increasingly effective performance culture

In a year marked by natural disasters
and political turmoil Unilever s
performance stands out all the more
Beyond delivering solid results the
Group has been taking the right actions
for the long term, building a sustainahle
growth model for our business

This model reflects the values that are
central to Unilever s approach to doing
business - knowing It can only prosper
if the societies and communities in
which 1t aperates sirilarly benefit from
its presence

We also see good governance as an
essential foundation for the long-term
success of the Group and your Directors
firmly believe that acting with integrity
and upholding the highest standards of
corporate governance form an essential
compenent of the delivery of the Group s
strategy You will find a description of
Unilever s corporate governance
structures and procedures, along with
an explanation of the work of the Boards,
beginning on page 36 Together these
should give you a sense of how Unilever
seeks to achieve these aspirations

2011 was another busy year for the
Boards, with a number of key initiatives
undertaken

Board evaluation

Following our internal evatuation of the
Boards actvities and effectivenessin
2010 we appointed an external
consultancy in 2011 to carry cut the
evaluation Their report was presented

to the Boards in December and
concluded that overall the Boards were
operating effectively The report made a
number of valuable recommendations
and, as a result, Board meetings will
now build knowledge-sharing sessions
Into the agenda where Directors can
discuss experiences on specific topics
of relevance to Unilever

Understanding the business

During 2011 the Directors went out into
the business and visited operations In
Jakarta Indonesia and Rome ltaly In
both locations the Directors visited local
markets and consumersin their homes
Rome 1s particularly important as the
global centre far Unilever s 1ce cream
business Visits such as these give
Non-Executive Directors the opportunity
to meet senior managers across
Unilever and help them to gain a deeper
understanding of the Group

Diversity

At Unilever we have long understood the
importance of diversity within our
workforce because of the wide range of
consumers we connect with globally

This goes nght through our organisation,

starting with the Boards

The subject of gender diversity at Board
level 1s receving considerable attention
within the EU In nominating directors
Unilever considers diversity in terms of
natienality, race, gender and relevant
expertise and directs that wherever
possible the Boards should reflect
Unilever s consumer base

| am pleased that already 25% of
Directors on our Boards are wormen, and
we will continue In our aim to Increase
that percentage However, Unilever feels
that gender s only one part of diversity
and Unilever Directors will continue to
be selected on the basis of their
wide-ranging experience backgrounds,
skills, knowledge and mnsight

Changes to the Boards

Jeroen van der Veer retired as a
Non-Executive Director at the end of the
2011 AGMs in May and on behalf of the
Beoards, | would Like to thank tum for his
valued contributions as Vice-Chairman
and Senior independent Director, and as
Chairman of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committees

At the same AGMs Sunil B Mittal was
elected as a Non-Executive Director
bringing experience in developing
markets that will further strengthen
the expertise and independence of the
Boards as well as broadening their
diversity

It remains for me to thank our 171000
employees across the world for their

hard work in detivering good results in
such a challenging environment

Michael Treschow
Chairman

/ ﬂ(('/ét‘( //M%_., .
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Unilever Group

Unilever NV [NV] 15 a public imited cornpany registered in the Netherlands 1t has listings of shares and depositary
receipts for shares on Euronext Amsterdam and on the New York Stock Exchange Unilever PLC (PLC) 1s & public Limited
company registered in England and Wales It has shares listed on the London Stock Exchange and as American
Depositary Receipts on the New York Stock Exchange

The two parent companies NV and PLC together with their group companies operate as a single economic entity (the
Unilever Group also referred to as Unilever or the Groupl NV and PLC and their group companies regardless of legal
ownership constitute a single reperting entity for the purposes of presenting consolidated financial staterents
Accordingly the accounts of the Unilever Group are presented by both NV and PLC as their respective consolidated
financial statements The same people sit on the Boards of the two parent companies and other officers are of ficers of
both companies Any references to the Board 1a this document mean the Boards of NV and PLC
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Chief Exacutive Officer
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Ann Fudge
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Charles Golden
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For Directors biograghies
please goto page 34
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S REVIEW

2011 has been another year of real progress in delivering
our Compass strategy We made significant progress in the
transformation of Unilever to a sustainable growth company

despite difficult markets

2011 was another turbulent year for the
world economy, reflected in the instability
of the Eurozene and sluggish consumer
demand in North America Growth in the
emerging countries remained robust
although even here we saw some
softening It was also in these markets
that we experienced our most intense
competitor activity

The uncertainty underpinning global
markets gave rise to strong inflationary
pressures and a sharp increase in
commodity costs, stifing growth and
significantly impacting costs With
unemployment rising and real incomes
falling there s no doubt that consumers
are suffering

Despite these conditions 2011 was a
strong year for Unilever Underlying sales
growth of 6 5% was ahead of our markets
and continued the trend of improving top
Line performance Growth was price and
volumedriven reflecting the strength of
our brands and their ability to compete in
the most difftcult canditions Recent
acquisition and disposal activity added a
further 1 2% to turnover

Growth was broad-based, although
fuelled by an ouistanding performance in
the emerging markets - a strategic focus
for the business Driven by markets like
india, China, Turkey and South Africa -
all of which grew by double digits - cur
emerging markets business grew by

11 5% and now accounts for 54% of
Unilever s turnover

In the developed world growth was more
subdued, at 0 8%, although even here we
saw some strong performances Our
biggest developed markets - the United
States, Germany, the UK and France -
which represent 61% of our developed
world business grew between 1% and 4%

The sharp rise in commodity prices
meant we had to absorb an additional
€2 4 billion of costs Despite this, our
operating profit was broadly i line with

2010 This 1s a good performance not
least given that we also continued to
invest for long-term success - adding
for example, an extra €150 million in
advertising and promotional spend

We maintained our record for efficiency
gains reducing overheads and delivering
€15 bilhon in savings We also re-affirmed
our reputation for financial discipline, with
strong free cash flow of €3 1 billion

Last year s performance should also be
seenin the context of geopolitical
disturbances and natural disasters The
uprisings in North Africa and the Middle
East, together with earthquakes in New
Zealand and Japan and floods in Thailand,
were among events that had a major
impact on cur operations Qur first
concern during these incidents s for the
welfare of our people and for their
families and thankfully we suffered no
loss of life or sericus injury

How a company responds to these events
says a lot about its values and we are
proud that Unilever employees - warking
alongside partners such as the World
Food Programme - were among the first
to offer assistance to those caught up In
these tragedies In Thailand for example,
Unilever tearns worked urelessly to

help get our customers - many of whose
stores and warehouses were flooded -
back in business

One of the most pleasing aspects of the
performance in 2011 was that we
delivered strong results while continuing
to make necessary long-term changes
Ourvision 1s to double the size of the
business while reducing our
environmental impact This requires us to
operate very differently At the heart of our
new business rmodel is the Unilever
Sustainable Living Plan ([USLF] which
touches all aspects of our business from
the way we source our materials, develop
our brands and make our products to the
way they are used and disposed of by our
consumers lis basic premise s that ina

resource constrained world 1t 1s possible
and necessary to decouple growth from
environmental impact

The USLP represents a long-term goal
but progress during the first year was
encouraging, not least our commitment to
source agricultural raw materials from
sustainable supplies By the end of 2017,
for example, almost two thirds of the
palm oil used in our products was being
purchased from certified sources

Our teadership in this area has caught the
imaginaiion of employees and customers
alike It has won Unilever widespread
external recognition Last year the
campany was named winner of the éth
Internationzl Green Awards - just one

of a number of high profile sustainability
awards recewed In 2011

Qur business model s designed to provide
long-term sustainable growth This relies
on delivering our corporaie strategy, and
in particular building our brands and
providing ligger and better innovations
Again, we are making progress The
propertion of turnover coming from
products launched in the past two years
continues to be above 30% Sales of Dove
exceeded €3 billien in 2011 driven by
innovations like Men+Care And the use of
advanced technology enabled our Knorr
Jelly platform to grow by 60% last year

Our strategy relies equally on rolling out
innovations faster and to more markets

The launch of Axe Excite to 100 markets
In Just over a year 1s typical of the speed

and breadth we are able to achieve

We are also introducing brands intc many
more markets Magnum for example has
enjoyed remarkable success since being
launched in North America and Indonesia
We have also Introduced Dove in China
and Clear shampoo in South Africa Qur
Comfort and Surf fabric conditioner
brands have performed strongly since
being introduced in Australasia South
Africa and the Philippines
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At the same time we are strengthening
our pertfolio Following the integration
of the Sara Lee personal care business
and Alberto Culver, we are now acquiring
the Russian personal care company,
Concern Kalina, increasing our ability to
compete In the personal care market
Alberte Culver was Unilever s higgest
acquisition in ten years and we have
moved quickly tc capitalise on these new
assets Within nine months, we had
intreduced TRESemme into Brazit Simple
1nto the United States and Motions into
South Africa - great brands and fantastic
examples of speed In action

We are also changing the organssation
Today we are more agile, more consumer
responstve and better able to leverage

UNILEVER LEADERSHIP EXECUTIVE (ULE)

1 Paul Polman®
Chief Executive Officer

2 Doug Baillie
Chief Human Resources Dfficer

6 Alan fope
MNorth Asia

10 Antoine de Saint-Affrique
Foods

¢ Board member
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3 Professor Genevieve Berger
Chief Research & Development Officer

7 Kees Kruythoff
Narth America

11 Pier Luigi Sigismondi
Chief Supply Chain Officer

globat scale We see the emergence of

a culture rooted in strong values but with
a sharper performance edge - vitat if we
are to succeed Iin today s markets

Te support the transformation, we also
continue to Invest heavily in our people
and their development Last year, for
example, we were proud to break ground
on a new state-of-the-art training facility
in Singapore This 5 6 hectare site will act
as a leading development centre for our
ermerging markets business

So we look back on a year of progress,
measured both by strong results and
changes to the business Unilever s
moving frorm a company fit to compete
to one that is fit to win Shareholders are

4 Kevin Havelock
Refreshment

8 Davelews
Personal Care

12 KeithWeed
Chief Marketing and

Communication Qfficer

For ULE biographies please goto page 35
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benefiting from the changes lastyear,
Unilever s share price rose 14% on the
AEX, making it the market s best
performing stock in 2011

2012 will be a tough year But we are wetl
prepared, and - thanks to the dedication
of our 171,000 wonderful employees - we
are cenfident that we can continue to
outperform our markets and deliver
sustainable grawth and long-term value
to all stakeholders

Paul Polman
Chief Executive Officer

5 Jean-MarcHuet®
Chief Financial Officer

9 Hansh Manwani
Chief Operating Officer

13 Jan Zijderveld
Europe
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OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

In 2011, we implemented our strategy with discipline, growing

ahead of our markets and gaining share overall despite a
tough economic environment

s Underlying sales growth ahead of our markets at 6 5% with price up 4 8%

and volume growth 1 6%

» Emerging markets delivered 11 5% underlying sales growth

= Turnover up 5% at €46 5 billion despite a negative currency impact of (2 5%

KEY FINANCIAL INDICATORS*

UNDERLYING SALES GROWTH

6.9

2010 41%

UNDERLYING YOLUME GROWTH

1.6..

2010 5 8%

KEY NON-FINANCIAL INDICATORS?

HEALTH AND HYGIENE
PEOPLE REACHED WITH LIFEBUOY
HANDWASHING PROGRAMMES

34. 5 miltion

2010 13 5 million

WASTE
TOTAL WASTE PER TONNE OF
PRODUCTION

4.1

2010 648kg

NUTRITION
PRODUCTS MEETING SALT LEVELS
EQUIVALENT TO 5G PER DAY

61

2010 60%

SUSTAINABLE SOURCING
PALM OIL PURCHASES FROM
SUSTAINABLE SOURCES

64,

2010 37%

UNDERLYING OPERATING MARGIN

14.9.

2010 15 0%

GREENHOUSE GASES
CO,FROM ENERGY PER TONNE
CF PRODUCTION

117.41,

2010 133 5%kg

BETTER LIVELIHOODS
NUMBER OF SHAKTI
ENTREPRENEURS

45,000

2010 45,000

FREE CASH FLOW

€ 3 .1 billion

2010 €3 4 billien

WATER
WATER PER TONNE OF
PRODUCTION

2.48

2010 2 68m?*

PEOPLE
TOTAL RECORDABLE
ACCIDENT FREQUENCY RATE

- hours worked

2010 1 63 per im hours worked

Basis of reparting our accounting policies are In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Unjon [EU] and
as 1ssued by the |aternational Accounting Standards Board {IASEB] as well as United Kingdom and Dutch law Certain measures used in pur reporting are not
defined under IFRS or other generally accepted accounting principles For further infermation about these measures andthe reasens why we believe they are
important for an undersianding of the performance of the business please refer to our commentary on non-GAAP measures on pages 26 and 27

* Further details of our key hinancialindicators can be found 1n our financial review starting on page 20

* These key nan-financial indicators form part of the Unilever Sustainable Living Plan 2011 datais preliminary It will be independently assured by the end of
June 2012 and reported In the online version of the Unitever Sustainabte Living Plan repart 2011 at www unilever com/sustainability

Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2011




PERSONAL CARE

HOME CARE

Underlying sales

growth 8 2%

Underlying volume
growth 4 2%

Turnover €15 5 bilhion
Value market shares up
overall with strong gains
in North America, where
hair care and deodorants
performed well, and In
China, where skin
cleansing and hair care
saw strong gains

Underlying sales

growth 8 1%

Underlying volume
growth 2 2%

Turnover €8 2 billion
Value market shares
higher, particularly in the
laundry business where
strong performance was
seen in China, India, South
Africa and Western Europe

REGIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

Asia, Africa and Central & Eastern Europe

¢ Underlying sales growth 10 5%
* Underlying volume growth 4 5%

s Turnover €18 9 billion

The Americas

¢ Underlying sales growth 6 3%
* Underlying volume growth 0 4%

» Turnover €15 3 billion

Western Europe

+ Underlying sales growth 0 7%

« Underlying volume growth (1 2]%

* Turnover €12 3 billion

Over

171,000

employees at the end of 2011
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REFRESHMENT

FOODS

Maore than

50 years’

experience in Brazil,
China, India and
Indonesia
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Underlying sales

growth 4 9%

Underlying volume
growth 1 4%

Turnover €8 8 bithon
Value market shares
stable overall lce cream
saw strong gains,
especially in Latin America
and South East Asia, but
tea shares were down
overall and particularly in
the US and Russia

Underlying sales
growth 4 9%
Underlying volume
growth (12]%
Turnover €14 0 billion
Value market share
performance was mixed,
with gains in bouillens
and seasonings, but

a decline in spreads
dressings and soups

Products sold
In over

190

countries worldwide

2 billion

consumers worldwide
use a Unilever product
on any given day

Consumers buy

170 billion

Unilever packs around
the world every year
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OUR BUSINESS MODEL
FOR SUSTAINABLE GROWTH

VISION

Qur vision I1s to double the size of Unilever
while reducing our environmental footprint

The two elements of this are interlinked
Our growth ambition 1s dependent

on operating sustainably These two
aspects of the vision shape and form
our business model

EXTERNAL CONTEXT

When we wrote in our previous report that 2011 would be
challenging, we could not have known how right that prediction
would be The world has been through a year of almost
unprecedentad turmot and uncertamty, and 1s facing some
serious challenges This in turn frames the way we must
manage our business and the 1ssues we face

Short-term economic pressures have dominated 2011 with
major instability in the Eurozone and a weak recovery by the
US economy Stubbornly high unemployment in many
developed markets has created a continued squeeze on
consumer spending Commodity prices have been volatile
and many have risen sharply And the operating environment
in emerging markets has seen increasing focus from
competitors whe all know that business success depends on
driving growth in these markets

2011 also saw a tragic series of natural disasters, from the
earthquake and tsunamiin Japan to the famine in the Harn
of Africa Each one required a response from us at a
hurmanitarian, employer and operational level

Furthermore the interdependent challenges of food security,
poverty reductton, sustainability of resources climate change
and social and economic development have never heen greater

We believe that many of these factors will continue for the
medium term and that this level of velatility and uncertainty
is the new normal Qur business model has been evolved as
a response to this operating envireonment as we address the
prospect of another 2 bilion people on the planet by 2050

THE UNILEVER
SUSTAINABLE
LIVING PLAN

In order to live within the natural imits of the planet there

1s no option but to decouple growth from sccial and
envirenmentalmpact The Unilever Sustainable Living Plan
(USLP]} sets out our path to achieving this It includes around 40
targets and embraces all aspects of our own operations going
beyond them to the entire lfecycle of our products Innovation
and technology will be key to achieving our goals Equally
important will be our ability to change consumer behaviour

The USLP will result in three big outcomes

We will help

1 billion

people improve their health and well-baing

We will

halve

the environmental footprint of our products

We will source

100..

of agnecultural raw materials sustainably

Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2011




BUSINESS MODEL

Our aim s to deliver growth But not growth at
any cost - rather a new sustainable and equitable
form of growth Strong business performance
ts driven by our brands, people, and sustainzbility
—-which 1s tncreasingly giving us a true
competitive advantage We willinvestin
strengthening our brands so that they drive
prefitable growth as part of a sustainable
business model the more we sell, the

more efficiently we can operate and

at the same time, by reducing the

cost of running our business we

can invest more In our brands,

innovations, and advertising

and promotions This, in turn,

enables us to sell more

GREAT PEOPLE
GREAT PLACE

Report of the Directors About Unilever

As a FMCG [fast-moving consumer goods] company, our
business model centres on building GREAT BRANDS
which consumers know, trust, like, and buy Iin
conscious preference to cornpetitors products Gur
brands command loyalty and atfinity and deliver
superior performance They help consumers to
perform simple but essential everyday tasks
BRANDS & Innovation 1s nourishment for our brands It
INNOVATION helps to deliver superiority, increases our
competitiveness and allows us to appeal
to the widest range of consumers
Increasingly, our innovations are

BUSINESS designed to enable sustainable Living

PERFORMANCE

SUSTAINABLE
LIVING

As a major employer, our business model 1s rooted in our A further element of our business model 1s SUSTAINABLE
peaple We have a distinctive set of values and they attract LIVING External factors will move 1t fram being the cheice

people who bring a sense of purpose to their wark We

of a concerned few to a new norm for billions in this decade

reward in line with performance and create a climate where Companies who move quickly to enable it can seize major

people are incentivised to excel We develop leadership

competitive advantage by doing so Our aim s to help

capabilities early and place priority on buillding temorrow s people move to a more sustainable way of using our

leaders today All this combines to build a business of

GREAT PEQOPLE

products and reduce the current rate of consumption of
scarce resources

Our business model s designed to deliver SUSTAINABLE GROWTH, where sustainable means four things

+ (tis consistent,

+ 1tis competitive,

s ti1s profitable and

* |t meets major sociat and environmental needs

BUSINESS
STRATEGY

Ourvision and other elements of our
business strategy are articulated in the
Compass, which was developed in 2009
and has remamed a constant guide and
touchstone for all our employees Key
elements of It are elaborated on in the
follewing pages

Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2011

OUR VISION IN ACTION
MEANS THAT, IN FUTURE,
EVERY TIME CONSUMERS

CHOOSE A UNILEVER
PRODUCT, IT IMPRCVES
THEIR LIFE, THEIR
COMMUNITY AND THE
WORLD WE ALL SHARE
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WINNING WITH
BRANDS AND INNOVATION

Unilever owns some of the world's best known and best loved brands
But ensuring they maintain their place in people’s lives requires
us to innovate, improve and expand our brands every day

Superior products, design,
branding and marketing

At heart our strategy with brands and
marketing 1s simple discover what
censumers want and give It to them
But consumer needs are complex,
and people are increasingly concerned
about sustainability as well as
functionality The improvements we
make to our products and the
developments in our portfolio must
be led by these needs If we are to beat
our competitors at the point of sale

For us the product is the hero, and we
focus on what s imporiant striving
towards sustainable products that
consumers prefer

We operate arigorous system of testing
our products against their main rivals

In every key market to ensure we deliver
the attributes that consumers want
Whether it s toothpaste in India, tea
bags in Russia, laundry iquids in Turkey
or boutllon in South Africa, we want to
find out what consumers desire from
our products, whether they prefer

them and why Is it the taste the
fragrance the cleaning properties or
the packaging?

Commitment to source
all agricultural raw
materials sustainably by

2020
vo.|

hair care supplier
in South Africa

10

We conduct a careful analysis of what it
1s about a preduct that consumers are
searching for

Bigger, better, faster innovation

Science 1s one of the key drivers of
Unilever s continuing success We invest
in research and development (R&D]
to make sure we are first with the
innovations that witl make our brands
bigger, better and more profitable
Central to innovation 1s our Genesis
programme an R&D process set up
in 2009 which fuels our longer-term
pipeline, applying breakthrough
technology across categories The
programme Is delivering results and
we are already seeing some of these
Inncvations In the market

For example, we ve discovered how to
extract and preserve the essence of
freshly picked tea leaves, a complicated
plece of science which 15 already being
used in our PG Tips and Lipton Yellow
Label ranges to give a unigue fresh taste
in PG Tips that innovation is coupled with
our unique pyramid-shapad bags to
make an even better cup of tea

Another example 1s Rexona for Women
with Motionsense technology Rexona
has long been one of the world s biggest
deodorant brands We know from our
consumer understanding that people
love Its performance and, most
importantly, its fragrance

However, as with all deodorants the
tragrance slowly faded over the course

of the day The conventional wisdom

was that there was nothing that could be
done about that, but we developed a new
technology to combat the problem We
introduced Motionsense technology in
2011 wath Rexona deodorant products Its
a new way of wrapping the fragrance up in
uny bundles that epen slowly throughout
the day when the body moves releasing

it when it s most needed Subsequent
testing showed that this gives Rexcna

a clear win over its key competitors

No matter how confident we are that our
products deliver on what we claim, we
need to give consumers and regulators
strong proof to underscore this This s
Just as important when trying to get a
government to back a handwashing
programme as 1t 1s when advertising
aface cream We have a cliricals
organisatien in place with leading-edge

MAGNUM HEADS EAST AND WEST
Following its highly successful launch
in Indonesia in 2010, the Magnum ice
cream range was rolled out in North
Americain 2011 Thanks to a great
product along with extremely effective
advertising and marketing, Magnum
achieved early success in these two
highly competitive markets delivering
mare than €80 million in turnover

Its US advertisement was one of the
most successful in Unilever food history

Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2011




expertise in clinical protocols, trials,
analysis and data management that
allows us to substantiate the claims
we make for our products

Getting the best ideas — wherever

they are

Ourworld-class R&D facilities are
constantly making breakthroughs that
keep Unilever at the forefront of praduct
development Integral to the way we work
are partnerships with universities,
scienbists large and small companies
and entrepreneurs This open innovation
approach allows us te source the best
ideas from across the world and
contributes towards more than half the
value of our innovation pipeline, allowing
us to grow together with our partners

in 2011 around 500 partners had one or
more of our projects under development

KNORR GROWS GREEN

Knorr1s one of our biggest brands and
uses Ingredients that are sourced from
all over the world We made the decision
to source all Knorr s ingredients
sustainably to reduce the impact on the
environment while enhancing the taste
of our preducts We aim to have all our
top 13 vegetables and herbs grown
sustainably by 2015 - one step In the
Unilever Sustainable Living Plan s
commitment to source all Unilever s
agricultural raw rmaterials sustamnably
by 2020

Unitever Annual Repart and Accounts 2011
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UNILEVER BUYS
AROUND 3% OF THE
WORLD'S TOMATOES
FOR PROCESSING.
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PNEUMONIA AND DIARRHOEA
ARE TWO OF THE BIGGEST
CAUSES OF DEATHS AMONG
CHILDREN UNDER FIVE YEARS
OLD, ACCOUNTING FOR ONE
THIRD OF CHILD DEATHS.?
HANDWASHING WITH SCAP 1S
ONE OF THE MOST EFFECTIVE
AND INEXPENSIVE WAYS TO
PREVENT THIS.

®Source UN

12

LIFEBUOY HELPS SAVE LIVES

To help achieve a core comrmitmant of
the Urilever Sustainable Living Plan,

the Lifebucy brand has launched a
pregramme to bring hygiene education

to a billion people It s called the Schoot
of Five and it s already been launched in
seven countries where we re working with
governments and NGOs to get across our
vital message of developing a habit of
washing hands on five occasions a day

In Vietnam it s even become part of the
school curriculum The results are
healthier children and 4 1% volume
growth for Lifebuoy in Vietnam

Unitever Annual Report and Accounts 2011




WINNING WITH BRANDS AND INNOVATION continued

In addition, we have been working with
our strategic suppliers tc develop
co-Innovation programenes and {o ensure
that they bring great 1deas to Unilever first

Applying knowledge across the business
One of our key strengths 1s how we
quickly leverage 1deas across our
gecgraphies, categories and brands
which allows us to focus investment and
rescurces more wisely and efficiently -
for example taking the fragrance
technology expertise we used to improve
Rexona and applying it to Skip detergent

Reaching more consumers

To grow, we need to reach more
consumers with our products and we
are well placed to do so For example,
we can take brands into markets that
many cempanies do not have the
resources and experience to develop

In 2011, consistent with our sirategy

of making bolt-cn acquisitions to
strengthen our portfolio in key countries
and catagories, Unilever acquired
Alberte Culver helping accelerate cur
transition to becoming cne of theworld s
leading personal care businesses

New markets, new opportunities
The Alberto Culver acquisition gave us
brands such as TRESemme, VO5 and

Simple TRESernmé already had a strong
presence as a premium shampoo in
North Armerica and Western Europe

but it was unknown in the world s second
biggest hair care market Brazil

Within days of completion, Unilever
began work on an ambitious plan to take
the TRESemme brand to Brazil As a
business we have wide experience of
rolling out brands into new markets
across the world and coupled with our
new agile structure, this ensured a swift,
successful launch TRESemme was
launched in Brazil less than six months
after the acquisition completed Were
already seeing considerable success

In that market

And the same I1s happening all over

the world With brands including
TRESemme, Dove and Suave, in 2011
we reinforced our position as a leading
hair care supplier in the US and
achieved similar success on the other
side of the Atlantic by taking the number
one position In South Africa

We re continuing with our acquisstion
strategy and bought a controlling stake

in Concern Kalina, cne of the leading
local personal care companies in Russia
Success here would establish Unilever as
a key player in a big emerging market, as
well as giving us invaluable knowledge of
local supply and distributian

CLEANING UP IN SOUTH EAST ASIA

Between 2009 and 2011 the bquids market for fabric cleaning
in Sauth East Asia atmost tripled in size and Unilever was on
the spot, ready to capitalise on that growth We got there first,
put our sales people on the ground talking to consumers,
learned the market, and today we re the market leaders in
Vietnam, Thailand the Philippines and Indonesia

Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2011
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Growing in developed markets

Qur aim i1s to grow In developed markets
too Forexample, we re-launched
Domestos 1n Western Europe In 2011 on
the back of new technolegy that allows
the product to cling to the tailet, for
longer lasting germ kill In Personal
Care we accelerated the launch of
Mentadent Tctal oral care range in Italy
to take on the fierce lacal market, ahead
of the global re-launch

Looking ahead

Our Dove brand is a great example

of Unilever s ability to get it right with
brands and innovation In 2011 Dove
became our first €3 billkon Personal
Care brand This success has been
made possible by focusing on three key
objectives better markeating - making
Dove a premium brand, better innovation
- for example, applying our leading-edge
expertise to Dove hair care, and
expansion into new markets, as with the
Dove Men+Care range

Already Unilever has new innovaticns,
new patents new brands and new
markets in the pipeline for 2012 And
every day we re working on ways

to make our brands the best, most
innovative and most agile in the world

Dove - our first

€ 3billi0n

Personal Care brand

Less than

6

months to launch
TRESemmé
in Brazil
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WINNING IN
THE MARKET PLACE

By 2020, the world's population 1s expected to reach 76 bitlion, and

we aim to reach a significant number of these consumers with our
brands. Our biggest opportunity lies in addressing all consumer needs
across all markets - and we're already finding new ways to do so.

Driving growth through
market development

Growth through market development
means reaching more users, creating
more usage and delivering more
benefits tec consumers everywhere

Already. 2 billion consumers worldwide

use our preducts on any given day We

want to increase this substantially by

2020 and we will do this by

« reaching up (offering premium
brands to more affluent consumers),

» reaching down [making our products
more affordable and accessible for
consumers on lower incomes), and

« reaching wide (taking our brands to
new geographies like Central Africa,
to new consumer segments like male
grocrming and to new channets like
e-commerce)

This approach Is reaping rewards

In 2011 we continued rolling out our
rarket development model to ensure
a consistent approach across our
markets We proved this approach first
in Asiz and then in Latin America, now
we are using It elsewhere te grow our
markets by changing pecple s habits

3 million

shops signed up to
our Perfect Store
programme

9.3

growth in laundry
liguids in South
East Asia

4

and helping them find new ways te use
our products

For example in 2011 we grew the Magnum
Mini range by 8 B% in the UK by offering
consumers anice cream in a smaller
version of a standard Magnum more
suitable for eating at home And in South
EastAsia laundry biquids grew by 3%

as consumers traded up from powder

In 2012, we will cantinue to target new
consumers in new ways Reaching up,
we will compete for share in the
fast-growing beauty segment by rolling
out premium offerings such as Ton

& Guy Axe Hair, Dove Men+Care and
Pond s Anti Aging premium range io
mare markets

We will reach down in developed markets
to financially pressured shoppers In
2011, our highly successful launch of new
pack sizes across many brands in the UK
allowed retailers to sell our products at
£1 In emerging markets, we will continue
to offer small affordable product sizes

of our brands

We will reach wide through our
expansion in Africa, leading the market

development of savoury, laundry and
skin cleansing with great brands such as
Knorr, Sunlight detergent and Lifebuoy

Growing sustainably
with customers

All over the world we are helping our
retall partners to grow sustamably,
combining scale with local knowledge

In Mexico for example, in 2011 we worked
alongside Walmart to improve the supply
chain for their Superama retail chain

We also worked closely with drug store
customers resulting in our highest
recorded underlying sales growth of

9 2% 1n 2011 1n this channel

Working with global retailers 1s essential
for growth, but some markets require a
different approach - India for example,
where reaching consumers is still about
the local small shop Through the

Shaktr programme we have expanded

a direct distribution netwark of micro-
entrepreneurs who sell our products,
doubling thewr household income in the
process [see picture story on page 15

PREMIUM ACROSS POND'S

We have installed new premium counters for Pond s skin care,
making the product more appealing and upmarket In a
competitive envirenment Innevations included LLED counter
lighting to reduce environmental impact and a handheld skin
diagnosis IPhone tocl for beauty advisers These initiatives
have resulted in significantly improved custamer sales
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Focusing on shoppers

We are now focusing much more closely
on marketing to shoppers in the store
We continue to concentrate on sales
fundamentals - standards which
measure our n-store perfermance

in an increasing number of markets

Meanwhile, our Perfect Store
programme i1s creating optimal
merchandising layouts for retailers,
regardless of geography or space

By the end of 2011 more than 3 million
shops had already signed up to our
Perfect Store programme We

know the strategy 1s working —n the
Phiippines, for example, our audit of
3,800 stores showed that the Perfect
Store format s growing faster than
those outside the pregramme And

In Germany, the Perfect Store
programme boosted the entire savoury
category with sales of Knorr preducts
significantly outpacing category and
competitor growth

GROWING BUSINESS,

GROWING LIVELIHOODS

Project Shakti - meaning strength 1n
Sanskrit — s our distribution programme
in India, creating opportumties for
micro-entrepreneurs to sell our products
in rural areas, enabling them to bring 1n
extra money to suppert their families and
earn respect within scciety We employ
around 45,000 female entrepreneaurs,
helping cur brands reach over 100,000
villages In additicn, more than 30 000
male members of Shakt families are now
invelved, cycling to surrcunding villages
to sell Unilever products Aswell as
supporting the Unilever Sustainahle
Living Plan s goal to enhance livelihoods,
local distribution programmies such as
this have addad around €80 milion in
incremental turnover

Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2011
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OUR DOOR-TO-DOOR
SELLING OPERATION IN
INDIA PROVIDES
OPPORTUNITIES FOR
BETTER LIVELIHOODS,
HELPING COMMUNITIES
AND OUR BUSINESS.
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WINNING THROUGH
CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT

Small actions can make a big difference. Our focus on operational
excellence - doing everything better, every day —1s bringing consumers
better quality and service, while substantial savings and better
environmental performance are ensuring that growth is truly sustainable

Lean, responsive, consumer-led

Consumer needs are changing and
developing rapidly Te continue to meet
themn, we must take things we already
do well - Like high quality products
and excellent service - and do them
even better faster and more efficiently

Better quality

Almost a century ago, Lever Brothers
offered consumers a £1000 reward ff
they could show that their soap was
anything less than perfectly pure,
genuine and unadulterated Consumer-
perceived quality driving sustainable
growth remains at the heart of Unitever
today We are systematically improving
the gquality of our products In 2011,
consumer complaints per million units
fell by 19% and product quality incidents
more than halved

For example we listened to feedback
from consumers about Lifebuoy soap
and improved its fragrance and bar
structure resulting in a 0 8% market
share growth In the global skin
cleansing market in 2011

Better choice

Through our on-shelf availlability [0SA]
programme we work with retailers to
improve our service to them, and their
service to the shopper - making our
products available more of the time

€6-1 billion

spent on advertising
and promotion in 2011

vo.|

in customner satisfaction
survey in Thailand
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In 2011, steres in our OSA programme
reduced empty shelves by 27% We are
expanding thus programme to other
customer channels and geographtes

Better service

Our supply chain comhbines the
advantages of globat scale with local
agllity Our reach, particularly in
emerging markets, 1s a ssgnificant
competitive advantage, and we are
constantly seeking ways to differentiate
our supply chain In 2011 for example, in
Indonesia we created a dedicated supply
chain for a selection of beauty products
that more than doubled our sales for
these products

And when floods hit Thailand, our teams
moved quickly to protect our people,
factories and stocks - carrying our
products directly to customers shops
Unilever Thailand was ranked number
one in the Advantage 2011 Customer
Satisfaction Survey

Agile and cost-competitive

We are making cur operatians more
responsive to changes in demand,
enabling us to optimise our capital
investrment, launch products more
guickly and win market share In 2011
for example, we delivered on our

objective to increase the speed of factory
buillding, saving up to 25% of build time
on large factories (see picture story on
page 17] Meanwhile, we never lose sight
of the importance of reducing costs and
conserving cash

Better margins

We look for improvements at every link
in the value chain Wherever we find
savings we aim to replicate them

This philosophy helped us to deliver
record savings of €1 3 billion in 2011

Managing cash

We continued to have negative working
capital In 2011 and aim to bring stocks
down further in the future through
continuous improvement of our business
planning processes

Partnerships with suppliers

We spent well over £30 billion on goods
and services in 2011, and our suppliers
are vital partners in our sustainable
growth ambitions We work with them to
create better, faster innovations - and our
suppliers are investing up to €1 3 bithion to
guarantee capacity for our future growth

In line with our commutments in the
Unulever Sustainable Living Plan, we
increased the amount of agricultural
raw materals obtained from sustainable
sources

DRIVING DOWN C05TS, IMPROVING MARGINS
Qur market-leading washing powder, Wheel, has
seen margins improve in India through our low cast
business model (LCBM) approach which optimises
margins at every link in the value chain For Whesl
LCBM inctuded improvernents in trade terms and
advertising budgets as well as in the manufacturing
and distribution network - upgrading the range of
our existing factories
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Driving return on brand support

We spent €6 1 billion on advertising and
promotion in 2011 with every brand, in
every category, in every market focusing
on the best possible returns

Global scale, local agility

By evaluating the effectiveness of our
marketing better and rapidly adopting
new cost-effective models that make us
more competitive we have been able to
drive down advertising production and
fees globally, reducing our overall
spending In this area by mere than

€128 million And we see equal potential
for savings in local markets

In Russta, Ukraine and Belarus

alone, we released €19 million for
invesiment through an operational
excellence drive that included
improving custormer management,
using handheld computers to track
in-store performance and order s1zes
and improving the tracking of our
point-of-sale materials

GROWING FAST, AND SUSTAINABLY
The Indonsa factory in Durban, South
Africa, which opened in December,
turned a flat-level site into an
cperaticnal plant producing savoury
brands Like Knorr within 12 months
Aninvestrment of around €70 million,
Indonsa aims to produce half the
greenhouse gas emissions of the
previous site and achieve zero waste
to landfill Critical in water-stressed
Durban, it 1s water neutral as it uses
rainwater harvesting and recycling
technigues to avoid taking water from
the local community
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THROUGH THE UNILEVER
SUSTAINABLE LIVING PLAN

WE HAVE SET NEW STANDARDS
FOR SUSTAINABILITY IN THE
DESIGN AND BUILD OF OUR
NEW FACTORIES.

17




Report of the Directors About Unilever

WINNING WITH

PEOPLE

Our growth ambitions demand that our organisation has a structure
and culture that make us fit to win in a fast-changing environment
Above all, they require us to find and develop the world’'s best talent
and leaders - a challenge we are striving to meet

Leverage our operating
framework for competitive
advantage

Success in the future will depend on being
lean, agile and competitive In a resource-
challenged world In three years, we have
transformed our structure to enable us to
move faster, Innovate better and take full
advantage of our global scale

More focused categories

During 2011 we started to move from

11 product categories to four Foods
Refreshment Home Care, and Perscnal
Care This streamlining makes our
decision-making faster, lets us share
best practice more effectively, and
creates greater scale for innovation

and sustainability initiatives

Getting closer to the consumer

We are also moving from 22
geographical clusters to eight The
clusters - six of them primarily in
ermerging markets - allow us to focus
more closely on the consumer, help us
spot wider opportunities, and create
regional economies of scale

Our global function netwerk, including
IT, Finance, R&D, Supply Chain and HR,
further drives the benefits of scale and
shared best practice

86.,

of managers proud
to work for Unilever

Most preferred
graduate FMCG
employer in

14

countries
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Organisation and diverse talent
pipeline ready to match our
growth ambitions

Attracting developing and retaining
talent 1s essential if we are to meet our
ambitions We censtantly audit the skills
and leadership that will be needed
across every cluster and in our key
global functions to achteve cur ambition
of doubling the size of the business while
reducing our envirenmental impact

Seeking tatent globally

The talent we need will came from all
over the world We ve introduced global
standards for graduate recruitment, so
that people have the same experience
wherever they start We have targeted
universities particularly in emerging
markets, with our campus recruitment
pregramme In 2011, we were
recognised as the most preferred
graduate FMCG [fast-moving censumer
goods) employer in 14 countries

Developing leaders

We are expanding our Unilever
Leadership Development Programme
to deliver high quality training to more
managers All our senior leaders have
been through the programme and are
now mentoring ocur next genaration of
leaders In 2011, we began building our

Four Acres leadership facility in
Singapoere [see picture story below)
- reinforcing our presence In
emerging markets

Furthering diversity

Our consumers come from every
background, nationality and secial
group andwe want our people to
reflect that diversity Over the past

few years we have focused on
Improving the representation of women
in the workplace Today, 30% of our
Non-Executive Directors are women,
and the proportion of women in senior
positions rose from 23% in 2007 to
28%1n 2011 In our annual Global People
Pulse Survey gauging managers

views of the company, approval of our
diversity and inclusion measures rose
by four parcentage points in 2011 to
reach 83% well above the external
benchmark of 74%

Performance culture which
respects our values

We are bulding a winning culture in
which every employee is encouraged

to grow to hus or her full potential We
have developed a new performance-
based reward structure that recognises

INVESTING IN LEADERSHIP:

FOUR ACRES, SINGAPORE

In 2011, we broke ground on a new
leadership development centre in
Singapore The new faciity willbringtoa

vital emerging market the excellent traiming

we have given managers at our existing
Four Acres centre near Londen for 57
years Bothlearning centres will continue
to look beyond Unilever for inspiration and
best practice, forming partnerships with
unversities and business schools

Artist s impression
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SAFETY IS ESSENTIAL

The health safety and well-being of everyone working for
or on behalf of Unilever are of the utmost importance to us
A key measure of progress, set out tin the Unilever
Sustainable Living Plan 1s our total recordable accident
frequency rate, which counts all employee workplace
accidents except those requiring only simple first aid
treatment There was a 22 7% reduction in our total
recordable accident frequency rate in 2011

2011 data 1s preliminary It will be independently assured
by the end of June 2012 and reported in the online version
of the Unilever Sustainable Living Plan report 2011 at
www unilever com/sustanability

people whe not only have detivered
results, but also have the right values
for our business

Clear goal-setting

We have changed the way we set geals
for our employees to ensure clear
direction on priorities and
responsibilities Closer measurement
of performance has allowed us to
introduce more differentiation into

the way we reward people - further
encouraging excellence

Encouraging learning

In 2011 the Unilever Learning Academy,
established in December 2010 had more
than 128 D00 employees registered for
its e-learning and classroom courses,
glving access to over 7 600 training
meodules

Listening to our people

Our 2011 Global People Pulse Survey also
confirmed that we are making pregress
in developing a performance culture 86%
of our managers are proud to say they
worked for Unilever and our overall
performance culture index rose by 4%

CHANGE IN CUR HANDS. TANZANIA

Unilever uses trucks to sell shop-to-shop to retailers
in Tanzanta s capital, Dar es Salaam When company
driver Issa John Mgumba saw that the sales vehicles
didn t look the part, he identified the opportunity to
smarten them up transforming them into a fleet that
he and his colleagues would be proud to drive
Improvements included enlivening the vehicles with
vinyl stickers - costing just €300 n total - that grab
people s attention and promote Unilever s brands
Small actions like Issa s all add up to making a big
difference, helping to grow our business wherever we
are He feels that he really owns the business with a
real stake in the long-term success of the company
sald country Customer Devetopment Manager
Martin Kariki
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CONSTANTLY LOOKING
FOR EFFECTIVE WAYS TO
HELP GROW SALES AND
INCREASE PRIDE IN THE
BUSINESS IS KEY

TO SUCCESS.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 2011

The virtuous circle of growth 1s starting to work for us
We have successfully accelerated our growth and at the
same time have continued the steady and sustainable
expansion of operating profit

Delivering against our priorities

Underlying sales growth ahead of our markets, with volumes broadly in line

Markets continued to grow 1n value in 2011, with double digit growth in emerging markets and mid
single digit growth overall Market volume growth has slowed however, reflecting the impact of
rising prices and weak consumer confidence especially in Western Europe and North America

Against this background underiying sales growth of 4 5% was a strong performance It was growth
ahead of our markets and was driven by outstanding performance in emerging markets and in the
Home Care and Personal Care categories In Foods and Refreshment, whilst price increases have
impacted volumes, growth was in line with relevant markets and several key businesses gamned
share Volume growth cverall was 1 6%, a step down from 200 but broadly in Line with cur markets
Price growth of 4 8% was ahead of our markets as we increased prices more than others in a
number of categaries

Performance was particularly strong in emerging markets, which defivered underlying sales growth
of 11 5% a significant proportion of this from volume Double digit growth was achieved in a wide
range of countries including China, india, Turkey, South Africa and Mexico

Growth continued to be driven by innovation, with good pregress in the year in rolling out bigger
innavations more quickly across more markets The launch of new brands into new markets was
also accelerated and acquisitions played an important role with Alberto Culver performing
particularly strongly

Underlying operating margins protected in a difficult environment

Underlying operating margin for the year was 14 9%, down slightly on the 15 0% achieved in 2010

In the context of substantial cost inflation and depressed consumer demand in the developed world
we have built market shares and held margins to within 9 1% of the prior year, reflecting the strength
of our business

Gross margin was down by 1 8% at constant currency reflecting unusually high levels of cost inflation
Strong pricing and excellent savings detivery were achieved in the year, but these wera insufficient to
fully compensate for the level of cost inflation suffered

The lower gross margin was largely mitigated by overheads, where outstanding progress in savings
pregrammes reduced the impact on margin by 1 0% for the year at constant currency Althcugh part
of this reduction was one-off, the various continuous improvement initiatives across the business
have been a major success, resutting in accelerated savings in a wide range of areas

Advertising and prometions expenditure increased by €150 million butwas 0 7% lower as a
percentage of turnover at constant currency

Healthy cash delivery

Cash generation was healthy with free cash flow of €31 billion This was below the 2010 figure of
€3 4 billson, the difference largely reflecting a significant step up 1n net capiial expenditure to £2 0
billion, due to capacity expansion in the fast-growing emerging markets

The net working capital movemnent was a small cash outflow in 2011 This related to a series of
financial items with no significant movernent (i trade working capital, which has now been negative

overall for nine consecutive quarters

Key posttive drivers of cash flow in 2011 were improved operating profit, which contributed around
€01 bitlion, and income tax payments, €01 billicn lower
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Financial overview 2011

Consolidated iIncome statement
[highlights] for the year ended 31 December

Report of the Directors About Unilever

Key performance indicators*

2011 2010 % change 201 2010 2009
Turnaver [€ mitlion] 48,487 44262 5%  Underlying sales growth (%] §5 41 35
Operating profit (€ millicn 6,433 6339 1%  Underlying volume growth (%] 16 58 23
Profit before tax (€ millien) 6,245 6132 2%  Underlymg operating margin (%) 149 150 14 8
Net profit (€ million) 4,623 4,598 1%  Free cash flow 1€ rmillion] 3,075 3,365 4,072
Diluted earnings per share (€) 146 146 0%

Turncver at €46 5 billion increased 5 0%, despite a negative
impact of 2 5% due to currency Underlying sales growth
increased to 6 5% driven by emerging markets Underlying
volume growth was 1 6% and the price effect was 4 8%

Operating profit was €56 4 billion, compared with €6 3 billion in
2010 with mgher credits for one-off items, lower profits arising
from the disposal of group companies and higher acquisition and
integratien costs Underlying operating profit increased by 4 2% to
€6 9 bithion, with underiying operating margin decreasing by 01%
to 14 9%

The cost of financing net barrowings was €448 million

€34 milion higher than last year The average level of net debt
increased, in part due to the acquisition of Alberto Culver The
average Interest rate was 3 7% on borrowings and 2 3% cn cash
deposits The net pensions financing credit was €71 million
compared with €20 million 1n 2010

The effective tax rate was 26 5% compared with 25 5% n 2010,
reflecting the geographic mix of pre-tax profits and the impact of
the ltalian frozen foods disposal in the 2010 rate

Net profit from joint ventures and associates together with other
income frem non-current investments, centributed €189 million
compared to €187 million in the prior year

Fully diluted earnings per share were flat at €1 46 Higher
underlying operating profit and lower pension costs were partially
oftset by lower profits from business disposals in addition
restructuring charges lincluding acquisitions] were higher, the
impact of foreign exchange was negative and finance costs and
the tax charge increased

We have presented some parts of the financial review
within other sections of this Annual Report and
Accounts, Including the financial staterments section
We believe this integrated approach provides a better
flow of infermation and avoids duplication

Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2011

We report our performance against four key financial (ndicaters
e underlying sales growth,

s underlying volume growth

* underlying operating margin, and

» free cash flow

The performance of the KPls is described on page 20, on this page
and within the segmental commentaries on pages 22 to 23 The
KPls are described on pages 26 to 27 The nen-financial KPls are
described on pages é and 19

Acquisitions and disposals

Luring 2011 Unilever continued to shape its portfolio through
M&A activities The most significant was the acquisition of Alberto
Culver Inc coempleted on 10 May 2011, and the full year impact of
the acquired Sara Lee s personal care business, which completed
on 6 December 2010

Alberto Culver, Inc was acquired for €2 7 billion 1n cash and the
provisional estimate of goedwill arising on acquisition recognised
in our 2011 balance sheet 15 €1 3 billion The acquisition
accounting will be finalised during 2012

During the year the Group has updated the provisional acquisition
acceunting recorded at 31 December 2010 for the Sara Lee
acquisition Certain adjustments to the 31 December 201C balance
sheet have been recorded, including the update of the valuation of
assets held for sale in relation to the Sanex business which was
disposed during 2011

Further details of these and other acquisitions and disposals
during 2009, 2010 and 2011 can be found in nete 23 on pages
104 to 106

*Certain measures used 10 our reporting are not
defined under IFRS For further information about
these measures, please refer to the commentary
on non-GAAP measures on pages 26 to 27
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 2011 continued

Asia Africa CEE

€mitlion € million %

201 2010 Change

Turnover 18,547 17,685 71
Operating profit 2,216 2,253 (1 &1
Underlying aperating margin (%} 127 134 [07]
Underlying sales growth (%) 105 77
Underlying volume growth (%] 45 1072
Effect of price changes {%l] 58 22

Key developments

* Market grewlh remained strong throughout the region, with
high single digit increases particularly in buoyant markets
across East and South Asia Conditions in Russia and CEE,
however, were more subdued

+ Underlying sales growth of 10 5% was ahead of our markets
and well balanced hetween volume and price China and India
both contributed double digit velume growth, South Africa
Turkey and Indonesia alse performed strongly

* Value market shares were up for the region as a whale, driven
by strong growth in Home Care, while Foods value shares
were slightly down Share gains were seen across many key
markets including China Indonesia, the Philippines and Seuth
Africa Volume shares were flat

¢ Underlying operating margin was down Q 7%, primarily
reflecting the iImpact of higher commodity costs

* Other key developments included further progress on the
roll-cut of the regional IT system and the acquisition of the
Concern Kalina business in Russia

The Americas

Underlying sales growth of 4 3% was slightly ahead of the
market Volume growth reflected the pricing action taken to
recover commodity cost inflation, especially in the North
American Foods business

Value market shares were up for the year in Foods and
Personal Care with particularly strong performance in
Mexico, Argentina and the US Personal Care business
Underlying oparating margin was down by 0 4% with savings
only partially offsetting the pressure from higher input prices
0N groess margin

Other key developments included the roll-out of the regionat IT
system to the US, the rapid integration of Alberto Culver the
acquisition of the Celombian laundry business from Colgate-
Palmolive and the disposat of the Brazilian tornato business

Western Europe

€million € mitlion %

2Mm 2010 Change

Turnover 15,251 14562 47

Operating profit 2,250 2169 37

Underlying aperating margin (%l 15.4 160 a4
Underlying sales growth %] £3 40
Underlying valume growth [%] 0.4 48
Eifect of price changes (%l 59 67

Key developments

¢ Market growth in Latin America continued at a healthy pace of
around 10% North America was more challenging as
consumer demand remained sluggish Overall market growth
for the region was in mid stngle digits
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€rmillien € million %
20M 2010 Change
Turnover 12,259 12,015 21
Operating profit 1,987 1917 26
Underlying eperating margin (%] 17,2 161 1M
Underlying sales growth (%] 0.7 [0 4)
Underlying volume growth (%] (1.2) 14
Effect of price changes (%) 2.0 (18
Key developments

-

Market conditions in Western Europe were difficult as
austerity measures and continued uncertainty in the Eurczone
continued to depress consumer demand Market growth was
marg:nally positive, due to price increases as volumes fell
slightly

Underlying sales growth of 0 7% reflects stronger
performance in the UK and France, partially offset by negative
growth in markets such as Spain and Greece Volumes overall
were down by 1 2%, with 2 0% growth ceming from price
Value market shares overall were stable, with gains in the UK
and France offset by declings in other markets Volume shares
were stable in Home Care and Personal Care, but declined
slightly in Foods, reflecting the impact of price increases
Underlying operating margin improved by 1 1%, boosted by
significant progress in reducing overheads

Other key developments included the integration of the Sara
Lee Personal Care brands and the Alberto Culver business,
and the acquisition of ice cream businesses in Greece and
Denmark
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Personal Care Refreshment
€mitbon € million % €mulion € million %
20 2010 Change 2011 2010 Change
Turnover 15,471 13,767 12 4 Turnover 8,804 8409 23
Operating profit 2,538 2,296 105 QOperating profit 723 724 01
Underlying operating margin {%] 18.0 180 - Underlying operating margin (%) 100 100 -
Underlying sales growth (%l 82 b4 Underlying sales growth (%] L9 b1
Underlying velume growth [%] 42 79 Underlying velume growth [%] 14 59
Effect of price changes (%) 38 (14] Effect of price changes (%) 34 01

Key developments

Personal Care grew strongly in 2011 to become Unilever s
largest category, with underlying sales growth of 8 2% The
acquistiions of Alberto Culver and the Sara Lee brands started
to contribute positively

Growth was well balanced between volume and price, and
reflected strong performance across the portfolio particularly
in deodorants hair care and skin cleansing

Value market shares were up overall, with strong gains in
North America where hair care and deodorants performed
well and in China where skin cleansing and hair care saw
strong gains

Underlying operating margin was stable at 18 0%

Key developments

Refreshment saw mixed performance resulting in underlying
sales growth of 4 9% lce cream progressed well driven by
innovation and new market launches, particularly with the
Magnum brand

Price growth was strong at 3 4% Volume growth of 1 4% was
driven by ice cream

Value market shares were stable overall Ice cream saw
strong gains especially inLatin America and South East Asia
buttea shares were down overall and particularly in the US
and Russia

Underlying operating margin was stable at 10 0%, with lower
gross margin offset by overhead savings

Home Care Foods
€milien  E€milion % €rmilien € million Y%
201 2010 Change 2011 2010 Change
Turnaver 8,206 7726 62 Turnover 13,986 14164 (13]
Operating profit 481 473 17 Operating profit 2,693 2846 (5 4]
Underlying operating margin (%] &9 84 (17 Underlying eperating margin (%] 191 185 0é
Underlying sales growth (%] 81 30 Underlying sales growth (%] 49 Y
Underlying volume growth (%) 22 82 Underlying volume growth (%] (1.2) 25
Effect of price changes (%] 58 (48] Effect of price changes (%) 62 (10

Key developments

Home Care delivered underlying sales growth of 8 1% in the
year, despite the pressure of high commaodity cost inflation and
Intanse competition

Underlying price growth of 5 8% reftected increases taken in
most major markets as Input costs were higher Volume
growth slowed as a result, but was ahead of the relevant
market at 2 2%

Value market shares were higher, particularly in the laundry
business where strong performance was seen in China India
South Africa and Western Europe

Underlying operating margqin was down by 17% as higher
Input costs were not fully mitigated by pricing and savings
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Key developments

Underlying sales growth in Foods was 4 9% Turnover fell
slightly as a result of the disposal of the Brazilian tomato
business

With commodity cost inflation at high levels, particularly in
edible oils underlying price growth was very strong at é 2%
Volumes were down 1 2%, mainly in spreads where pricing was
highest

Value market share performance was mixed with gains in
bouillons, meats and side dishes but decline in soups and
spreads

Underlying operating margin improved by 0 6% to reach 19 1%
hetped by strong cverhead savings
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FINANCIAL REVIEW 2011 continued

Balance sheet

€million € million

201 2010

Goodwill and intangible assets 21,913 18233
Other non-currant assets 11,308 10 405
Current assets 14,291 12 534
Total assets 47,512 41172
Current babilities 17929 13,608
Non-current liabilities 14,662 12 486
Total Labilities 32,571 26 094
Shareholders equity 14,293 14,485
Non-controlling interest 528 593
Total equity 14,921 158,078
Total Llabilities and equity 47,512 41,172

Goodwill and intangibles at 31 December 2011 were €3 7 billion
higher than in 2010, mainly as a result of acquisitions, including
Alberto Culver and Concern Kalina after disposals The increase
In other non-current assets 1s mainly due to an increase In
property plant and equipment to €8 8 billion compared to

€79 bilben in 2010

Inventories were higher by €0 3 billien and trade and ather
receivables were higher by €0 4 billon Cash and cash
equivalents were €11 billion hugher at €3 5 biltion

Current labibities were €4 3 bitlion higher at €179 billion mainly
due to an increase In short term and maturing financial Uabilities
and currency movements Provisions remaned at €0 4 billion

The overall net lability for all pension arrangements was

€3 2 billion at the end of 2011, up from €2 1 billion at the end of
2010 Funded schemes showed an aggregate deficit of €1 3 billion
and unfunded arrangements a liabilty of €1 2 billion The Increase
in the overall balance sheet Liability was mainly due to the
decrease in discount rates over the year Cash expenditure on
penstons was €553 million

Sharehotders equity fell by €0 2 billron 1n the year Net profit
added €4 3 billon with currency and other movements negatively
impacting by €2 0 billion Dvidends paid in the year totalled

€2 5 bilion

Contractual obligations at 31 December 2011

€miluon €mitlon  €milion € milion € million
Due Duewn
within Duen Due n over
Total 1year 1-3years 3-Syears Syears
Long-term debt 9193 1,526 2,452 2,446 2,769
Intereston
financial
liabilities 3,007 387 602 594 1,424
Cperating lease
obligations 1,628 38 499 337 411
Purchase
obligauons!® 515 459 32 8 16
Finance leases 346 28 52 73 220
Other long-term
commitments 1,749 628 781 257 83
Total 14,438 3,409 4,418 3,688 4,923

W Eor raw and packaging material and finished goods

(A

Contractual obligations

Unilever s contractual gbtigations at the end of 2011 included
capital expenditure commitments berrowings, lease
commitments and other commutments A summary of certain
contractual obligations at 31 December 2011 1s provided in the
preceding table Further details are set out in the following notes
to the consolidated financial statements note 10 on pages 86 o
87, note 15 on pages 90 to 92 and note 20 on pages 102 to 103

Off-balance sheet arrangements

SIC interpretation 12 Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities
[SIC 12) requires that entities which we do not control are
considered for consolidation in the financial statements based on
risks and rewards We have reviewed our contractual
arrangements and concluded that there are no significant
relationships not already appropriately reflected in the
consolidated financial statements Information concerning
guarantees given by the Group 1s stated 1n note 168 on page 96

Finance and iquidity

The Group s financial strategy provides the financial flexibility to

meet strategic and day-to-day needs Our current long-term

credit rating 1s A+/A1 and our current short-term credit rating 1s

A1/P1 We aim to maintain a competitive balance sheet which we

consider to be the equivalent of a credit rating of A+/A1 in the long

term This provides us with

e appropriate access to equity and debt markets,

= sufficient flexibility for acquisitions

* sufficient resilience against economic and financial uncertainty
ensuring ample liquidity and

+ optimal weighted average cost of capital, given the
constraints above

Unilever aims to concentrate cash in the parent and central
finance companies in order to ensure maximum flexibility in
meeting changing business needs Operating subsidiaries are
financed through the mixture of retained earnings third-party
borrowings and loans from parentand central finance companies
Urulever maintains access to global debt markets through an
infrastructure of short-term debt programmes [principatly US
domestic and eura commercial paper programmes) and long-
term debt programmes [principally a US Shelf Registration
programme and a European markets Debt Issuance Programme)
Debtin the international markets 1s 1n general 1ssued in the
name of NV, PLC Unilever Finance International BV or Unilever
Capitai Corporation NV, PLC and Unilever United States Inc will
normally guarantee such debt where they are not the Issuer

In this uncertain environment, we have continued to closely
monitor all our exposures and counterparty imits We were
comfortable with a higher cash balance I1n 2011

Unilever has committed credit facilities in place for general
corporate purposes The undrawn committed credit facilities
in place on 31 December 2011 were US $6,150 million Bilateral
commitied credit facilities totalled US $5 950 million Bulaterat
money market commitments totalled US $200 million

Further details are given in note 16B on page 95
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On 10 February 2011 we issued two series of senior notes

(a)l US $500 mullien at 2 75% maturing in 2016 and

{b) US $1 0 billion at 4 25% maturing in 2021 On 31 March 2011
we Issued CNY 308 rullion notes at 1 15% maturing in 2014

On 2 Decernber 2011 we redeemed our Swiss francs

400 mellion notes

The man source of iquidily continues to be cash generated from
operations Unilever is satisfied that its financing arrangements
are adequate to meet its working capital needs for the
foreseeable future

Treasury

Unilever Treasury s role Is to ensure that appropriate financing is
available for all value-creating investments Additionally Treasury
delivers financial services to allow operating companigs o
manage their financial transactians and exposures in an efficient
timely and low-cost manner

Urilever Treasury operates as a service centre and is governed by
plans approved by the Boards In addition to guidelines and
exposure limits, a system of authorities and extensive
independent reporting covers all major areas of activity
Performance 1s monitored closely Reviews are undertaken
periodically by the corporate internal audit function

The key financial instruments used by Unilever are short-term
and long-term borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, and
certain straightforward derwvative mnstruments principally
comprising interest rate swaps and foreign exchange contracts
The accounting for derivative Instruments 1s discussed in note

16 on page 93 and on page 98 The use of leveraged instruments s
not permitted

Unilever Treasury manages a variety of market risks, including
the effects of changes in foreign exchange rates interest rates
and Liquidity Further details of the management of these risks are
given in note 16 on pages %4 to 97 which are incorporated and
repeated here by reference

Cash flow
€million  €milllon € mitien
2014 2010 2009
Net cash flow from
operating activities 5,452 5490 5774
Net cash ilow from/lused in|
nvesting activities 15,4670 [1164) (1,243
Net cash flow frem/[used in)
financing activities 4 [4,609] (4301
Net increase/[decrease] in cash
and cash equivalents 1,396 (283) 210
Cash and cash equivalents
at i January 1,986 2397 2,360
Effect of foreign exchange
rate changes 3841 148) [173)
Cash and cash equivalents
3t 31 December 2978 1966 2,397
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Cash and cash equivalents increased by €1 4 billion when
translated at average 2011 exchange rates After recognising the
changes tn exchange rates cash and cash equivalents in the
balance sheet at 31 Decernber 2011 were €1 0 billton higher at
€3 0 bitlion

Net cash flow from operating activities of €5 5 bilion was i lne
with 2010 Net capital expenditure was €0 3 billion higher than
2010 There was a net cash outflow of €1 7 billion far acquisition
and disposal activeties, primarily the acquisition of Alberto Culver
and the disposal of the Sanex business The movement in
financing activities 1s explained by an inflow from third-party
borrowings

At 31 December 2011, the net debt position was €8 8 bitlien an
increase of £2 1 billlion compared to 2010 The outflow from
dividends acquisitions tax net capital expenditure and interest
plus the negative iImpact of foreign exchange rates together
exceeded the cash inflow from operating activities and business
dispasals

Market capitalisation and dividends

Unilever s combined market capitalisation rose from €464 8 llion
at the end of 2010 toc €73 9 billion at 31 December 2011
Information on dividends Is sei out In noie 8 on page 83

Basis of reporting and critical accounting policies

The accounting pelicies that are most significant In connection
with our financial reporting are set out In note 1 on pages 48 to 6%

25




Report of the Directors About Unilever

FINANCIAL REVIEW 2011 continued

Non-GAAP measures

Certain discussions and analyses set out in this Annual Report
and Accounts include measures which are not defined by
generally accepted accounting principles [GAAP] such as IFRS
We believe this information, along with comparable GAAP
measuraments, I1s useful to investors because it provides a
basis for measuring our operating performance ability to retire
debt and invest In new business opportunities Qur management
uses these financial measures, along with the most directly
comparable GAAP financial measures 1n evaluating our cperating
performance and value creation Non-GAAP financial measures
should not be considered in 1solation from or as a substitute for,
financial infermation presented in compliance with GAAP
Non-GAAP financial measures as reported by us may not be
comparable with simitarly titled amounts reported by other
companies

In the following sections we set out our definitions of the following
non-GAAP measures and provide reconciliations to relevant
GAAP measures
+ underlying sales growth,
s underlying volume growth
+ underlying operating margin [including explanation
of restructuring, business disposals and other ona-off
items [RDIs)
» free cash flow and
+ netdebt

Underlying sales growth (USG)

USG reflects the change in revenue from continuing operations

at constant rates of exchange excluding the effects of acquisitions
and disposals Itis a measure that provides valuable additional
infermation on the underlying performance of the business In
particular, it presents the organic growth of our business year on
year and 1s used internally as a core measure of sales
performance

The reconciliation of USG to changes in the GAAP measure
turnover is as follows

Total Group
201 2010
vs 2010 vs 2009

Underlying sales growth (%] 65 41
Effect of acquisitions (%! 27 c3
Effect of disposals (%) (16] (08l
Effect of exchange rates (%] (29) 73
Turnaver growth (%) 50 11

Asia, Africa CEE

201 2010
vs 2010 vs 2009
Underlying sales growth (%] 10.5 77
Effect of acquisitions (%} 0.7 02
Effect of disposals (%) 00 01)
Effect of exchange rates (%] (37 101
Turnover growth (%) A 187
25

The Americas

201 2010

v5 2010 vs 2009

Underlying sales growth (%] &3 40
Effect of acquisitions (%] 38 C3
Effect of disposals (%] {15) [0 4)
Effect of exchange rates (%] (3 4) g0
Turnover growth (%) 47 133

Western Europe

201 2010

vs2010  vs 2009

Underlying sales growth (%l 07 [0 4]
Effect of acquisitions (%] 48 0h
Effect of disposals (%] (3 &) (20l
Effect of exchange rates (%) D4 14
Turnover growth (%) 2.1 {05]

Underlying volume growth (UVG)

Underlying volume growth 1s underlying sales growth after
eliminating the impact of price changes The relationship
between the two measures I1s set out below

201 2010

vs 2010 vs 2009

Underlying volume growth (%) 1.6 58
Effect of price changes (%] 48 (1 8]
Underlying sales growth (%] &5 41

The UVG and price effect for each region and category are shown
withtn the tables on pages 22 to 23

Underlying operating margin

In our commentary on results cf cperatians for the Group and
each region, we discuss trends inunderlying operating margins
This means operating margin before the impact of restructuring
costs, business disposals, impairments and other one-off items,
which we refer to collectively as RDIs We believe that gqiving this
information allows readers of cur financial statements to have a
better understanding of underlying trends There 1s no recognised
GAAP measure that corresponds to this measure

The reconciliation of underlying operating profit to operating profit
I1s as follows

€milton € million

2m 2010
Operating profit 6,433 6339
Restructuring cosis 612 589
Business disposals (221) {£68)
Acquisition and integration costs and other
cne-off items 77 160
Underlying operating profit 6,901 6,620
Turnover 46,467 44262
Operating margin 13 8% 14 3%
Underly:ng operating margin 14 9% 15 0%

Further details of RDIs can be found in note 3 on page 72
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Free cash flow [FCF]

Free cash flow represents the cash generated from the operation
and financing of the business The movement in FCF measures
our progress against the commitment to deliver strong cash flows

FCF 1s not used as a liquidity measure within Unilever FCF includes
the cash flow from Group cperating activities, less income tax paid,

net capital expenditure, net interest and preference dividends paid

The recenciliation of FCF to net profitis as follows

€milion € million
2011 2010
Net profit 4,623 4,598
Taxation 1,622 1534
Share of nat profit of joint ventures/associates
and other incorne frorm non-current investments 189} 187
Net finance costs 377 394
Depreciation amartisation and impairment 1,029 993
Changes in working capital (177 169
Pensions and simular provisions {ess payments (553) 1472]
Provisions less payments ¢ 72
Elimination of [profits)/losses on disposals 1215) 474)
Non-cash charge for share-based compensation 105 144
Other adjustments 8 49
Cash flow from operating activities 6,639 4818
Income tax pad 11,1870  [1328]
Net capital expenditure 1,974)  (1701)
Netinterest and preference dividends paid (403} [424)
Free cash flow 3,075 3,345
Net debt

Net debt is defined as the excess of total financial labilities
excluding trade and other payables, over cash cash equivalents

and current financial assets, excluding trade and other

recelvables 1tis a measure that provides valuable additicnal
infarmation on the summary presentation of the Group s net
financial labilities and (s a measure In common use elsewhere

The reconciliation of net debt to the GAAP measure total financial

Liabitities 1s as follows

€milbon € million

201 2010

Total financial babilities (13,718)  (5.534)
Current financial liabilities 5,840 [2 276}
Non-current financial Uabilities (7,878) (7,258}
Cash and cash equivalents as per balance sheet 3,484 2316

Cash and cash equivalents as per

cash flow statement 2978 1966
Add bank overdrafts deducted therein 506 350
Current financial assets 1,453 550
Net debt (8,781  [5,668]
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Core operating margin

From 2012 the Group will refer to core operating margin as a
non-GAAP measure This means operating margin before the
impact of business disposals, impairments aguisition and
integration costs and other one-off items There s no recognised
GAAP measure that correspends to this measure
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RISKS

Qutlook and risks 2012

The following discussion of the risk outlook and our principal risk management activities includes forward-looking statements that
reflect Unilever s view of the operating nisk environment The actual results could differ rnatenally from those projected See the

Cautionary statement on the inside back cover

Qutlook

Market conditians for our business were challenging in 2011 and we do not anticipate thus changing sigruficantly in 2012

Economic pressures are expected to continue We expect consumer markets to reman flat to slightly down in developed markets In
emerging markets consumer demand remains robust but there 1s nonetheless the risk of modest slowdown in key markets such as
China, India and Brazil Currency markets remain volatile and uncerta:n Although we have seen rather more stable conditions in key
cornmodity markets in recent months we remain watchful for further periods of velatiity in 2012 A worsening econamic scenario could
be triggered by a major Eurozone crisis prompted by countries leaving the euro or by a break-up of the euro leading to significant
contraction in financial markets, followed by a severe recession in Europe and knock-on effects glabally Terrorist activity and political
unrest may also result in business interruptions and a decreased demand for our products

The competitive enviranment for our business is lkely to remain intense in 2012 Our competitors, both global and local will continue to
shift resources into emerging markets We expect continued high levels of competitive challenge to our many category leadership
positions Some of this may be price based but we also expect strong innovation based competition With the improverments we have
been making to our business we are well prepared for these challenges

In a period of significant uncertainty and downside risk we believe Unilever s operational and financial flexibility and speed of response
to & fast changing environment are vitat assets We will continue to focus on our long term strategic priority of driving velume growth
ahead of our markets whilst praviding a steady improvement in core operating margin and strong cash flow We are well placed in
emerging markets and we expect these markets to continue to drive growth Our recent strategy review sharpened the portfolio role of
our categories and our 2012 outlook fully reflects the choices made This gives us confidence that Unilever (s fit to compete, whatever

the circumstances

Principalrisk factors

Cur business Is subject to risks and uncertainties The risks that we regard as the maost relevant to our business are identified below We have
also commented on certain mitigating actions that we believe help us to manage these risks However we may not be successfulin deploying
soma or all of these mitigating actions If the circumstances in these risks ocecur or are not successfully mitigated, our cashflow cperating
results, inancial position, business and reputation could be matenially adversely affected In addition misks and uncertainties could cause
actual results to vary from those described herein in the descriptions below, which may include forward-looking staterments or could impact
on our ability to meet our targets or be detrimental to our profitability or reputation

Oescription of risk

Consumer Preference

As a branded goods business, Unilever 5 success depends on the
value and relevance o} cur brands and products to consumers
across the warld and on our ability to innovate

Consumer tastes preferences and behaviours are constantly
changing and Unilever s ability to respond to these changes and to
continue 1o differentiate our brands and products s vital to our
business

We are dependent on creating innovative products that continue to
meet the needs of our consumers

What we are doing to manage the nisk

We continuously monitor external market trends and collate
consumer, customer and shopper insight in order to develop category
and brand strategies

Our Research and Development functien actively searches for ways in
which to translate the trends in consumer preference and taste into
new echnologies for incorporation inte future products

Our innovation management process deploys the necessary tools
technologies and resources to convert category strategies into
projects and categary plans develop products and relevant brand
communication and successfully rall eut new products to our
CONSUMErs
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Description of risk

Competition

The activities of our competitors may adversely Impact cur
business

Unilever operates globally in competitive markets where other local,
regional and global companies are targeting the same consumer
base

Our retail customers frequently compete with us through private
label offerings

Industry consolidation amongst our direct competitors and in the
retall trade can bring about significant shrfts in the competitive
landscape

Report of the Directors About Unilever

What we are doing to manage the risk

Our strategy focuses on investing In markets and segments which we
identify as attractive because we have already built, or are confident
that we can build, competitive advantage

We continue to monitor developments in our markets across the
world and to direct our resources accordingly to respend to
competitive threats and opportunities

Portfolio Management

Unilever s strategic investment choices will determine the long-
term growth and profits of our business

Unilever s growth and profitability are determined by our portfolio of
categories geographies and channels and how these evolve over
fime

Our Compass strategy and our business plans are designed to ensure
that resources are prioritised towards those categories and markets
having the greatest long term potential for Unilever

Our acguisition activity 1s driven by aur portfolio strategy with a clear
defined evaluation process

Sustainability

The success of our business depends on finding sustainable
solutions te support long-term growth

Unilever s vision to double the size of cur business while reducing
our environmental impact will require more sustainable ways of
doing business This means increasing the posttive social benefits of
Unilever s activities while reducing cur environmental impact

The Unilever Sustaimable Living Plan sets clear long-term
commitments for health and well-being environmental impact and
enhancing ivellhoods These are underpinned by specific targets in
areas such as sustainable sourcing, water avallability and usage,
waste and greenhouse gases

The Unilever Sustainable Development Greup comprising five
externat specialists In corporate responsibility and sustainability
ranitors the execution of this strategy

Progress towards the Unilever Sustaimable Living Plan 1s menitored
by the Unilever Leadership Executive and the Boards

Customer Relationships

Successful customer relationships are vital to our business and
continued growth

Maintaining strong relatronships with our customers 1s necessary
for our brands to be well presented to our consumers and available
for purchase at all imes

The strength of our customer relationships also affects our ability to
obtan pricing and secure favourable trade terms

We build and maintain trading relationships across a broad spectrum
of channels ranging from centrally managed multinational customers
through to smalltraders accessed via distributors 1n many developing
countries

We develop Joint business plans with all our key customers that
include detailed investment plans and customer service objectives
and we regularly monitor progress

We have developed capabilities for customar sales and outlet design
which enable us to find new ways to improve customer performance
and enhance our customer relatienships

People

A skilled workforce 1s essential for the continued success of our
business

Our ability to attract, develop and retain the right number of
appropriately qualifizd people 1s critical i we are to effectively
compete and grow

This i1s especially true in cur key emerging markets where there can
be a hugh level of competition for a limited talent pool

Resource committees have been established and implemented
throughout our business These committees have responsibility for
dentifying future skills and capability needs, developing career paths
and dentfying the key talent and leaders of the future

We have an integrated management development process which
includes regular performance reviews underpinned by a common set
of leadership behaviours, skills and competencies

We have targeted programmes to attract and retain tep talent and we
actively monitor our performance in retaining talent within Unilever
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RISKS continued

Description of nisk

Supply Chain

Our business depends on securing high quality materials efficient
manufacturing and the timely distribution of products to our
customers

Our supply chain network is exposed to potentially adverse events
such as physicat disruptions enviranmentat and industrial accidents
or bankruptcy of a key supplier which could impact our ability to
deliver orders to our customers

The quabty and safety of our products are of pararmount impartance
for our brands and our reputation

The cost of cur products can be significantly affected by the cost of
the underlying commodities and materiais from which they are
made Fluctuations inthese costs cannot always be passed on to the
consumer through pricing

What we are doing to manage the nisk

We have contingency plans designed to enable us to secure
alternative key matenal supplies at short notice to transfer or share
production between manufacturing sites and to use substitute
matenials i our product formulations and recipes

These cantingency plans also extend to an ability to intervene directly
te support a key supplier should 1t fer any reason #ind itself in difficulty
or be at risk of negatively affecting a Unilever product

We have policies and procedures designed to ensure the health and
safety of our employees and the products in our facilities and to deal
with major incidents or crises including business continuity and
disaster recovery

Our preduct quality controls are extensive and are regularly tested to
ensure that they are effective All of our key suppliers zre periodically
reviewed to ensure they meet the ngercus quality standards that our
preducts demand

Commodity price risk is actively managed through forward-buying

of traded commeodities and other hedging mecharnisms Trends are
monitored and modelled regularly and integrated into our forecasting
process

Systems and Information

Unilever s operations are increasingly dependent ¢n IT systems and
the management of information

We interact electronically with customers suppliers and consumers
in ways which place ever greater emphasis on the need for secure
and reliable IT systems and infrastructure and careful managemant
of the information that 1s 1n our possession

This also increases the threat from unauthanised access and
misuse of sensitive information

Hardware that runs and manages core operating data s fully backed
up with separate contingency systems to provide real ime backup
operations should they ever be required

We maintain a system of control at all imes for access to our
important information

Cur policies on data access privacy and protection of infarmation are
regularly reviewed and our employees are trained to understand the
requirements

Business Transformation

Successful execution of business transformation projects s key to
delivering their intended business benefits and avoiding disruption
to other business activities

Urulever 1s continually engaged in major change projects including
acquisitions and disposals te drive continuous improverneat in our
business and to strengthen our porifolic and capabilities

In 2011, this included several significant acquisitions (Alberto Culver
Concern Katinal, IT system implementations the roll-out of
Enterprise Suppart and changes to our management organisation

All acquisitions, disposals and global restructuring projects are
sponsored by a Unilever Leadership Executive member Regular
progress updates are provided to the Unilever Leadership Executive

Sound project disciplines are usedin all merger acquisitions and
restructuring projects and these projects are resourced by dedicated
and appropriately qualified personnel

Unilever also monitors the volume of change programmes underway
in an effort to stagger the impact on current operations and to ensure
rminimal disruption
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Description of risk

External economic and political risks, and natural disasters

Unilever operates across the globe and 1s exposed to a range of
external economic and political risks and natural disasters that may
affect the execution of our strategy or the runming of our operations

Adverse economic condiiions may result in reduced consumer
demand far cur producis and may affect one or more countries
within a region or may extend globally

Government actions such as fiscal simulus changes to taxation and
price controls can impact on the growth and profitability of our local
operations

Social and political upheavals and natural disasters can disrupt
sales and operations

In 2011 more than half of Unilever s turnover carme from emerging
markets including Brazil India Indonesia Turkey South Africa
China, Mexico and Russia These markets offer greater growth
apportunities but also expose Urulever to economuic, poliical and
social volaiility in these markets

Eurozone risk

Issues arising out of the sovereign debt crisis in Europe could have a
material adverse effect on Unilever s business in a number of ways

Uncertainty, lack of confidence and any further deterioration in the
situation could lead to lower growth and even recession in Europe
and elsewhere

Our operations would be affected If Eurozone countries were to

leave the euro In particular

e our European supply chain would face economic and operatienal
challenges,

* our customers and supplers may be adversely aifected leading
to heightened counterparty creditrisk and

* ourinvestment in the country concerned could be impaired and
may be subject to exchange contrels and transtation risks going
forward

The likely contraction in the avalability of credit frem financial
institutions and the impact this will have on Unilever s Liguidity risk
are described under Financial below

Report of the Directors About Unilever

What we are doing to manage the risk

The breadth of Unilever s portfolio and our geographic reach helpto
mitigate our exposure to any particular localised risk to an extent Our
flexible business model allows us to adapt our portfolio and respond
quickly to develop new offerings that suit consumers and customers
changing needs during economic downturns

We regularly update cur forecast of business results and cash flows
and where necessary, rebalance investment priorities

We have continuity planning designed to deal with crisis management
in the event of political and social events and natural disasters

We believe that many years of exposure to emerging markets has
given us experience operating and developing our business
successfully during periods of economic political or social change

Unilever 1s committed to maintaining s operations in all European
countries

We have conducted scenario planning in respect of a Eurozone
break-up or of countries leaving the Eurozone and this has been
reviewed by the Boards

We are taking measures designed to minimise the impact of the

potential scenarios whilst continuing to trade as normal, including

¢ developing contingency plans in respect of our supply chain
operations,

* exercising additional caution with our counterparty exposures,

* 1taking prudent balance sheet measures in relation to high risk
countries, and

+ strengthemng our short term Uguidity positions

Umilever Annual Report and Accounts 2011
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RISKS continued

Description of risk

Financial

Unilever Is exposed to a variety of external financial risks

Changes to the relative value of currencies can fluctuate widely
and could have a significant impact on business results Further
because Unilever consolidates its financial statements in evros it
15 subject to exchange risks associated with the translation of the
underlying net assets and earnings of its foreign subsidiaries

We are also subject to the imposition of exchange controls by
individual countries which could limit our ability to import materials
paid in foreign currency or to remit dividends to the parent company

Currency rates, along with demand cycles, can also result in
significant swings in the prices of the raw materials needed to
produce our goods

Unilever may face Liquidity risk 1 e difficulty in meeting its
obligations, associated with its financial Labilities A material and
sustained shortfallin our cash flow could undermine Untlever s
credit rating, impair investor confidence and also restrict Unilever s
ability to raise funds

We are exposed to market interest rate fluctuations on our floating rate
debt Increases in benchmark interest rates could Increase the interest
cost of our floating rate debt and increase the cost of future borrowings

In times of financial market volatility, we are also petentially exposed
to counter party risks with banks, suppliers and customers

Certain businesses have defined benefit pension plans most now
closed to new employees which are exposed to movements in
Interest rates fluctuating vatues of underlying investments and
increased life expectancy Changes inany or all of these inputs could
potentially Increase the cost to Unilever of funding the schemes and
therefore have an adverse impact en profitability and cash flow

What we are doing to manage the risk

Currency exposures are managed within prescribed imits and by
the use of forward foreign exchange contracts Further, operating
companies borrow in local currency except where inhibited by local
regulations lack of local Liquidity ar local market conditions We also
hedge some of our exposures through the use of fereign currency
borrowing or forward exchange contracts

Qur interest rate management approach aims te achieve an optimal :
balance between fixed and floating rate interest exposures on
expected net debt

We seek to manage our liquidity requirements by maintaining
access to global debt markets throegh short-term and long-term
debt programmes Inaddition we have high committed credit
facilities for general corporate purposes

Group Treasury regularly monitors exposure to our banks, tightening
counter party Umits where appropriate Unilever actively manages its
banking exposures on a daily basis

We regularly assess and monitor counterparty risk In our customers
and take appropriate action to manage our exposures

Our pension Invesiment standards require us to Invest across a range
of equities, bonds property, alternative assets and cash such that the
falure of any single investment will not have a material impact on the
overall value of assets

The majority of our assets, including those held in our pooled

investment vehicle Univest, are managed by external fund managers

and are regularly monitored by pension trustees and central pensions |
and investment teams

Further information on financiat instruments and capital and treasury
risk management s included in note 14 on pages 94 to 100

Ethical

Acting in an ethical manner consistent with the expectations of
custorners consumers and other stakeholders is essential for the
protection of the reputation of Unilever and its brands

Unilever s brand and reputatien are valuable assets and the way in
which we operate contribute to society and engage with the world
around us Is always under scrutiny both internally and externally

Qur Code of Business Principles and our Code Policies govern the
behaviour of our employees, suppliers distributors and other third
parties who work with us

Qur processes for identifying and resolving cases of unethical
practice are clearly defined and regularly communicated throughout
Unilever Data relating to instances of unethical practice 1s reviewed
by the Unilever Leadership Executive and by relevant Board
committees and helps to determine the allocation of resources for
future policy development, training and awareness initiatives

Legal, Regulatory and Other

Compliance with laws and regutations 1s an essential part of
Unilever s business eperations

Unitever 13 subject to local, regional and global laws and regulations
In such diverse areas as preduct safety product claims,
trademarks, copyright patents, competition, employee health and
safety, the environment corporate governance, listing and
disclosure, employment and taxes

Failure to comply with laws and regulations could expose Unilever to
cwvil andfor cniminal actions leading te damages fines and criminal
sanctions against us and/for our employees with possible
consequences for our corperate reputation

Changes to laws and regulations could have a matenalimpact on
the cost of daing business

Unilever 1s also exposed tovarying degrees of nisk and uncertainty
related to other factors including environmental political, socialand
fiscal risks All these risks could materially affect Unilever s
business There may be other risks which are unknown to Untiever
or which are currently believed to be immaterial

The Code of Business Principles sets cut our commitment to
complying with the laws and regulaticns of the countries inwhich we
operate In specialist areas the relevant teams at glebal regionalor
local level are respensitle for setting detailed standards and ensuring
that all employees are aware of and comply with regulations and laws
specific and relevant to therr roles

Our legal specialists are heavily involved (n manitoring and reviewing
our practices to provide reasenable assurance that we remain aware
of ang in Line with all relevant laws and legal abligations

Various mitigating processes existwithin Unilever operating systems
designed to help to mitigate other areas of risk including terrorism,
fiscal and other forms of regulatory change or econormnic instability
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Qur Risk Appetite and Approach to Risk Management

Risk management s integral to Unilever s strategy and to the
achievemnent of Unilever s long-term goals Oursuccess as an
organisation depends on our abibity to identify and exploit the
opportunities generated by our bustness and the markets we are in
In doing this we take an embedded approach to risk management
which puts risk and epportunity assessment at the core of the
leadership team agenda which 1s where we believe it should be

Unilever adapts a risk profile that 1s aligned to our vision to double
the size of our business while reducing our environmental iImpact
Our available capital and other resources are applied to underpin
our priorities We aim te maintain a strong single A credit rating
on a lang term basis, reflecting the strength of our balance sheet
and cash flows

QOur approach to risk management 1s designed to provide
reascnable, but not absolute, assurance that our assets are
safeguarded, the risks facing the business are being assessed
and mitigated and all information that may be required to be
disclosed 1s reported to Unilever s senior management including,
where appropriate, the Chief Executive Qfficer and Chuef Financial
Officer

Organisation

The Unilever Boards assume overall accountability for the
management of sk and for reviewing the effectiveness of
Unilever s sk management and internal control systems

The Boards have established a clear organisational structure
with well defined accountabilities for the principal risks that
Unilever faces in the short, medium and longer term This
organtsational structure and distribution of accountabilities and
responsibilities ensures that every country in which we operate
has specific resources and processes for risk review and risk
mitigation Thisis supported by the Unilever Leadership Executive,
which takes an active responsibility for focusing on the principal
areas of risk to Unilever The Boards regularly review these risk
areas and retam responstbiiity for determining the nature and
extent of the significant risks that Unilever 1s prepared to take to
achieve Its strategic objectives

Foundation and Prinaiples

Unilever s approach to doing business is framed by our Corporate
Mission Our Code of Business Principles sets out the standards
of behaviour that we expect all employees to adhere to Day-to-
day responsibility for ensuring these principles are applied
throughout Unilever rests with senior management across
categories, geographies and functions A network of Code
Officers and Commuttees supports the activities necessary to
communicate the Code, deliver training, maintain processes and
procedures [including hotlines) to report and respond to alleged
breaches, and to capture and communicate learnings

We have a framework of Code Polictes that underpin the Code and
selt out the non-negotizble standards of behaviour expected from
all our employees

Unilever s functional standards define mandatory requirements

across a range of specialist areas such as health and safety
accounting and reperting and financial risk management
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Processes

Unilever operates a wide range of processes and activities across
all its operations covering strategy planning, execution and
performance management Risk managernent 1s integrated into
every stage of this business cycle These procedures are
formalised and documented and are increasingly being
centralised and automated into transactional and other
information technology systems

Assurance and Re-Assurance

Assurance on compliance with the Code of Business Principles
and all of our Code Policies 15 obtained annually from Unilever
management via a formal Code declaration In addition, there are
speciabist compliance programmes which run during the year and
vary depending on the business priorities These specialist
compliance programmes supplement the Code declaration Our
Corporate Audit function plays a vital role in providing to both
management and the Boards an objective and independent review
of the effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems throughout Unilever

Boards' assessment of compliance with the Risk Management
frameworks

The Beards, through the Committees where appropriate,
regularly review the significant risks and decisions that could
have a material impact on Unilever These reviews consider the
boundaries to the risks that Unilever 1s prepared to take in pursuit
of the business strategy and the effectiveness of the management
controls in place to mitigate the risk exposure

The Beards, through the Audit Committee have reviewed the
assessment of nsks internal controls and disclosure controls
and procedures in operation within Unilever They have also
considered the effectiveness of any remedial actions taken for the
year covered by this document and up to the date of its approval by
the Boards

Details of the activities of the Audit Committee in relation o this
can be found in the Report of the Audit Committee on pages 47
and 48

Further staterments on compliance with the specific risk
management and control requirements in the Dutch Corporate
Governance Code, the UK Corporate Governance Code, the US
Securities Exchange Act [1934] and the Sarbanes-Oxley [2002] Act
can be found on pages 44 to 46
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BIOGRAPHIES

Board of Directors

Chairman

Michael Treschow

Nationhality Swedish Aged 48
Appointed Chairman May 2007
Non-Executive Director ABB Group
Board member Knut and Alice
Wallenberg Foundation Member

of the Evropean Advisory EliLilly
and Company Chairman
Telefonaktiebolaget L M Ericsson
2002-2011 Chairman AB Electrolux
2004-2007 and Confederation of
Swedish Enterprise 2004-2007

Non-Executive Directors

Louise Fresco

Nationality Dutch Aged &0
Appointed May 2009

Professor of International
Development and Sustainability
at the Universsty of Amsterdam
Supervisory Director RABO Bank
Member Social and Economic
Council of the Netherlands [SER]

Sunil B Mittal

Nationalsty Indian Aged 54
Appointed May 2011

Founder Chairman and Greup CEQ
BhartiEnterprises Awarded Global
Economy Prize by the Kiel Institute in
Germany and Global Vision Award by
the US-Indsa Business Council
President Cenfederation of Indian
Industry Co-charrman World
Econemic Forum at Daves and
member of its International Business
Council
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Vice-Chairman & Senior
Independent Director

Kees J Storm

Nationality Dutch Aged é9
Appointed May 20046

Chairman Superviscry Board

and member of the Audit Committee
KLM Royal Dutch Airlines NV
Member Supervisory Board AEGON
NV Vice-Chairman and Chairman

of Audit Commuttee Anheuser-Busch
InBav S A Board member and Audit
Committee member Baxter
International In¢ Vice-Chairman
Supervisory Board, Pon Holdings BV

Ann Fudge

Nationality American Aged 40
Appointed May 2009
Non-Executive Director Infosys
Novartis AG General Electric Co
and Buzzient Inc Chairman US
Programs Advisery Panel of Gates
Foundation Henorary director of
Catalyst Member Foreign Affairs
Policy Board U S State Department
Member Finance Committee of
Harvard University

Hixoma Nyasulu

Nationality $South African Aged 57
Apponted May 2007

Chairtman Sasol Ltd Non-Executive
Director Barlaworld Ltd Member
Advisory Board of JP Morgan § A
Beneficiary Seguel Property
Investments

Executive Directors

Paul Polman

Chief Executive Dfficer

Nationality Dutch Aged55
Appainted Chief Executive Officer
January 2009

Appointed Directer October 2008
Non-Executive Directer The Dow
Chemical Company President
Kilimanjaroc Blind Trust Procter

& Gamble Co 1979-2001 Group
President Europe and Qfficer Procter
& Gamble Co 2001-2006 Chief
Financial Qfficer Nestlé S A 2004-
2008 Executive Vice President and
2one Director for the Americas 2008

Charles E Golden

Nationality American Aged 55
Appointed May 2006
Non-Exacutive Director Indiana
University Health Hill-Rom Holdings
Eaten Corporation and the Lilly
Endowment Member of Finance
Commuttee Indianapolis Museum
of Art Executive Vice-President
Chief Financial Officer and Director
Eti Lilly and Company 1996-2006

Sir Malcolm Riftkind

Nationality British Aged 65,
Appointed May 2010

A Queen s Counsel Served in
Cabinets of Margaret Thatcher

znd John Major last position

being that of Foreign Secretary
Non-Executive Director Adam Srth
Internatienal and Continental
Farmers Group ple

Jean-Marc Huet

Chief Financial Officer

Natienality Dutch Aged42.
Appointed Director May 2010
Appainted Chief Financial Officer
February 2010

Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer Bristol-Myers
Squibb Company 2008-200%
Nen-Executive Director Mead
Johnsan Nutrittan 2009 Chuef
Fanciat Qfficer Royal Nuemico NV
2003-2007 |Investment Banking
Goldman Sachs International 1993-
2083 Clement Trading 1991-1993

Byron E Grote

Nationality American/British
Aged 43

Appainted May 2006

Executive Vice President Corporate
Business Actvities BP plc Member
UK Business - Government Forum
on Tax and Globalisation 2008-2010
Vice-Chawrman UK Government s
Public Services Productivity Panel
1998-2000

Paul Walsh

Nationality British Aged 56
Appointed May 2009

Chief Executive Officer and Director
Dageo PLC Non-Executive Director
FedEx Corperation Inc and Avant
Communications Group PLC
Member Business Advisory Group
Advisor to the Department of
Energy and Cimate Change
Member International Business
Leaders Forum
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Unilever Leadership Executive (ULE)
For Paul Polman and Jean-Marc Huet see page 34

Doug Baillie

Chief HR Officer

Nationality British Aged 56
Appeinted Chref HR Officer in
February 2011 Appointed to ULE as
President of Western Eurape in May
2008 Joined Unilever 1978 Previous
Unilever posts include CEO
Hindustan Unilever Limited Group-
Vice President South Asia 2004
Group Vice-President - Africa Middle
East & Turkey 2005 President Africa
Regional Group 2004 National
Manager Unitever Scuth Africa 2000

Kees Kruythoff

North America

Nationality Dutch Aged 43
Appointed to ULE November 2011
Joined Unilever 1993 Previous
Unilever posts include Executive Vice
President Brazil 2008 Chairman of
Unilever Foods South Africa 2004

and a member of the bhoard of
Unilever Bestfoods Asia 2002

Pier Luigs Sigismondi

Chief Supply Chawin Otficer
Nationality Italian Aged 46
Appointed to ULE Septermber 2009
Prior te joining Unilever he joined
Nestle S A in 2002 Moved to Nestle
Mexico 1in 2005 as Vice President of
Operations and R&D Prior to Nastlé
S A hewasVice President of
Operations for AT Kearney

Professor Geneviéve Berger
Chief Research & Development
Otficer

Natienality French Aged57
Appointed to ULE July 2008

Previous posts include Chairman

of the Health Advisory Board for

the European Commission Professor
at the University of Paris and La Pitie-
Salpétriere Teaching Hospital and
Director General of the French
Centre National de la Recherche
Scientifique Appeointed Non-
Executive Director of Srmith

& Nephew in March 2010

Dave Lews

PersonalCare

Nationality British Aged 46
Appointed te ULE May 2010

Joined Unilever 1987 Previous posts
include President Americas
Chairman Unilever UK and Ireland
Managing Director UK home and
persgnal care business SenicrVice
President for Home and Perscnal
Care Centraland Eastern Europe
Managing Director Indonesia
Marketing Director South America

Keith Weed

Chief Marketing and
Commaunication Officer
Nationality British Aged 50
Appointed te ULE April 2010
Joned Unilever 1983 Previcus
Unilever posts include Executive
Vice President for Global Home Care
& Hygiene Chairman of Lever
Faberge SVP Hair and Oral Care
Non-Executive Directer of Sun
Products Corporation
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Kevin Havelock

Refreshment

Natioanality British Aged 54
Appointed to ULE November 2011
Joined Unilever 1985 Previous
Unilever posts include Chairman in
Arabia and President Unilever USA
Previous external posts include Vice
President UK Advertising Association
and Executive Committee of
American Persenal Care Council

Harish Manwant

Chief Operating Officer

Nationality Indian Aged 58
Appeinted Chief Operating Officer

in November 2011

Appointed to ULE April 2005 as
President Asia Africa Jeined Unilever
1976 Non-Exscutive Chairman
Hindustan Unilever Previous Unilever
posts include President Asia Africa
Centrat & Eastern Europe 2008 and
Group President Home and Personal
Care Morth America 2004

Jan Zyderveld

Europe

Nauonality Dutch Aged 47
Appointed to ULE February 2011
Joned Unilever in 1988 Previous
Unilever posts include Executive
Vice President South East Asia and
Australasia Chairman of Unilever
Midéle East North Africa Chairman
of Nordic ice cream business
Marketing Director ltaly European
Qlive Ol Category Director and
General Manager - Sauces and
Dressings Eurcpe

Alan Jope

North Asia

Nationality British Aged 47
Appainied to ULE November 2011
Joined Unilever 1985 Previous
Unilever postsinclude Chairman
of Unilever Greater China Global
Category Leadar for SCC and
Dressings Chief Operating Officar
and subseguently President of
Unilever s combined Home and
Personal Care business in North
America and Vice President
Personzl Care Thalland

Antoine de Saint-Affrique
Foods

Nationality French Aged 47
Appointed to ULE Navember 2011
First joined Unilever 1989 until 1997
re-joined Unilever 2000 Previous
Unilever posts include Executive
Vice President SKin category

and Executive Vice President
Unilever Central & Eastern Europe
Vice President Marketing for Liebig
Maille Amora Danone Group/PAl
1997-2000 Non-Executive Director
and member of the Audit Committee
at Essilor International
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Introduction

Since 1930 when the Unilever Group was farmed NV and PLC
together with their group companies, have operated as nearly as
practicable as a single economic entity This 1s achieved by a
series of agreements between NV and PLC [the Foundation
Agreements, further described on page 42], together with special
provisions in the Articles of Association of NVand PLC

However, NV and PLC remain separate legal entities with different
shareholder constituencies and separate stock exchange listings
Shareholders cannot convert or exchange the shares of one for
the shares of the other

NV and PLC have the same Directors, adopt the same accounting
principles and pay dividends to their respective sharehalders on
an equalised basis NV and PLC and their group companies
constitute a single reporting entity for the purposes of presenting
conseclidated accounts Accordingly, the accounts of the Unilever
Group are presentad by both NV and PLC as their respective
consclidated accounts

Unilever 15 subject to various corporate governance requirements
and best practice codes the most relevant being those in the
Netherlands, the United Kingdom and the United States As stated
in our Cede of Business Principles, Unilever will conduct its
operations in accordance with internationally accepted principles
of good corporate governance It s therefore Unilever s

practice to comply where practicable with the best practice
represented by the aggregate of these best practice codes

NV and PLC are holding and service companies and the business
activity of Unilever 1s carried out by their subsidiaries around the
world Sharesin group companies may ultimately be held wholly
by either NV or PLC or by the two companies invarying
proportions

The Boards

Ithas always been a requirement of Unilever that the same paople
ba on the Boards of the two parent companies This guarantees
that all matters are considered by the Boards as a single intellect,
reaching the same conclusions on the sarme set of facts save
where specific local factors apply 1t 1s essential that in reaching
the same decisions the NV and PLC Boards identify and resolve
any potential conflicts of interest between NV and PLC

The Boards are one-tier boards, compnising Executive Directors
and namajority Nen-Execttive Directors The Boards have
ultimate respansibility for the management, general affairs
direction and performance and long-term success of our
business as awhole The responsibility of the Directors s
collective, taking inte account their respective roles as Executive
Directors and Non-Executive Directors

The Boards are responsible for the gverall conduct of the Group
including the management, direction and perfermance of NV and
PLC The Boards have, with the exception of certain matters
which are reserved for them, delegated the operationai running of
the Group to the Chief Executive Officer The Chief Executive
Officer1s responsible to the Boards and is able to sub-delegate
any of his powers and discretions Matters reserved for the
Boards include structural and constitutional matters, corporate
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governance, approval of dwidends, approval of overall strategy for
the Group and approval of significant transactions or
arrangermnents (n relation to mergers, acquisitions, joint ventures
and disposals, capital expenditure, contracts, Litigation, financing
and pensions

The Boards have also established committees whose actions are
regularly reported to and morutored by the Boards and these are
described on page 39 Further details of how our Boards
effectively operate as one board. govern themselves and delegate
their authorities, are set outin the document entitled The
Governance of Unilever which can be found at

www unilever com/investorrelations/corp_governance

Board meetings

A minimum of five meetings are held throughout the calendar
year These are comprised of guarterly meetings, to consider the
results statements of the Group, and a meeting to approve the
Annual Report and Accounts There are additional Board
meetings to discuss matters thatarise as well as Group
strategic 1ssues

In addition to the abave during theyear our Boards will consider

important corpcrate events and actions, such as

+ oversight of the performance ot the business,

+ review aof risks and centrols,

* authorisation of major transactions,

« declaration of dividends,

* convening of shareholders meetings,

* nominations for Board appointments

+ approval of Board remuneration policy,

* review of the functioning of the Boards and their Commuttees,
and

s Corporate Social Responsibility

Our risk management approach and associated systems of
internal contrel are of utmost iImportance to the Boards and are
described further on pages 28 t0 33

Meetings of the Boards may be held either in Lendon or
Rotterdam or such other locations as the Boards think fit with
one or two off-site Board meetings a year In 2011, Board
meetings were held at the offices of Unilever in both Jakarta,
Indonesia and Rome, ltaly In both locations the Boards learnt
more about the supply chain in these regions, and included
customer visits to local retail outlets, togather with visits to local
consumers Visits such as these allow the Non-Executive
Directors to meet senior managers around Unilever s global
business and in turn allow them to gain a deeper understanding of
the business

Board induction, training and support

Upon election, Directors recelve acomprehensive Directors
information Pack and are briefed thoroughly an therr
responsibilities and the business Ongoing training is provided for
Directors by way of site visits, presentations circulated updates
and teach-ins at Board or Beard Committee meetings on, among
other things, Unilever s business, envirenmental, social and
corporate governance, regulatory developments and investor
relations matters

A procedure is in place to enable Directors, if they so wish 1o seek
independent advice at Unilever s expense
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Board evaluation

The Chairman, in conjunction with the Vice-Chairman & Senior
Independent Director, leads the process whereby the Boards
formally assess their own performance, with the aim of helping to
improve the effectiveness of the Boards and their Committees
The evaluation process consists of an Internal exercise performed
annually with an independent third-party evatuation carried out at
least once every three years

The internal evaluation process includes an extensive bespoke
and confidential questionnatre for all Directars to complete The
detalled questionnaire invites comments on a number of areas
including beard respensibility, performance, operations,
effectiveness training and knowledge In addition each year the
Chairman conducts a process of evaluating the performance and
contribution of each Director, including an interview with each
The evaluation of the performance of the Chairman 1s led by the
Vice-Chairman & Sentor Independent Director and the Chairman
leads the evaluation of the Chief Executive Officer, both by means
of confidential bespoke questionnaires Committees of the
Boards evaluate thermselves annually under supervision of their
respective chairmen taking into account the views of respective
Committee members and the Boards

As aresult of the recommendations from the 2010 evaluation,
Board meetings were organised 1o ensure there was sufficient
time to allow for greater contributions from the Non-Executive
Directors

Action taken in 2011

Following the commitment made in 2010, the Board conducted an
external board evaluation process using an independent external
third-party consultant and further information 1s previded within
the Chairman s Statement on page 2

Appointment of Directors

Directors are appainted by shareholders at the AGMs All existing
Directors unless they are retiring subrmit themselves for re-
election every year, and shareholders vote to re-appoint them by a
simple majority vote A list of our current Directors and the periods
during which they have served as such Is set out on page 34

In order to seek to ensure that NV and PLC have the same
Directors, the Articles of Association of NV and PLC centain
provisians which are designed to ensure that both NV and PLC
shareholders are presented with the same candidates for election
as Directors This s achieved through a nomination procedure
operated by the Boards of NV and PLC through Unilever s
Normunation Commiitee
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Based on the evaluation of the Boards, its Committees and its
individual members, the Nomination Committee recommends to
each Board a Lst of candidates for nomination at the AGMs of both
NVand PLC In addition, shareholders are able to nominate
Directors To do so they must put a resolution to both AGMs in line
with local requirements However, In order to ensure that the
Boards remain identical, anyone being elected as a Director of NV
must also be electad as a Director of PLC and vice versa
Therefare, If an individual fails to be elected to both companies
then he or she will be unable to take thewr place on either Board

The provisiens in the Articles of Association for appeinting
Dhrecters cannot be changed without the permussion, in the case
of NV, of the holders of the special ordinary shares numbered 1 to
Z 400 inclusive and, in the case of PLC, of the holders of PLC s
deferred stock The NV special ordinary shares may only be
transferred to one or more other holders of such shares The joint
holders of both the NV special ordinary shares and the PLC
deferred stock are NV Elma and Umited Holdings Limited which
are joint subsidiaries of NV and PLC The Boards of NV Elma and
Umited Holdings Limited comprise the members of the
Nornination Cornmittee, which comprise Non-Executive Directors
of Unilever only

Group Secretary

The Group Secretary s available to advise all Directors on
rnatters relating to the governance of the Group and ensures that
Board procedures are complied with The current Group
Secretaryis Tona Lovell

Board changes

The current Directors, with their biographies, are shown on page
34

Atthe 2011 AGMs, Jeroen van der Veer retired as a Non-Executive
Director and Sunil B Mittal was appointed as a Non-Executive
Director At the same AGMs, Paut Polman and Jean-Marc Huet
were re-elected as Executive Directors and Louise Fresco Ann
Fudge, Charles Golden, Byron Grote, Hixonia Nyasulu, Sir
Malcolm Rifkind, Kees Storm, Michae! Treschow and Paul Walsh
were re-elected as Non-Executive Directors

At the 2012 AGMs all current Executive and Non-Executive
Directors will be nominated for re-election

The 2012 AGM Notices are avallable on our website at
www unilever com/agm from 28 March 2012
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE continued

Our Directors
Non-Executive Directors

Chairman

Unilever has an independent Non-Executive Chairman and a Chief
Executive Officer There s a clear division of respansibilities
between their roles

The Chairman s primarily responsible for leadership of the
Boards and ensuring their effectiveness The Chairman sets the
Boards agenda ensures the Directors receive accurate, timely
and clearinformation promotes effective relationships and open
communication between the Executive and Non-Executive
Directors and maintains effective communication with major
shareholders With the Group Secretary, the Chairman will take
the lead in providing a praperly constructed induction programme
for new Directors that 1s comprehensive, formal and tailored

Semor Independent Director

Following the retirement of Jeroen van der Veer at the 2011 AGMs
the Boards have appointed Kees Storm as Vice-Chairman & Senier
Independent Director He acts as thewr spokesman and serves as an
intermediary for the other Directors when necessary Heisalsoa
point of contact for shareholders «f they have concerns which cannot
be resclved through the Chairman or Chief Executive Officer

Non=-Executive Directors

The Non-Executive Directors share responsibility tegether with
the Executive Directors, for the execution of the Boards duties
The role of Non-Executive Directors is essentially supervisory As
they make up the Committees of the Boards 1t 1simportant that
they can be considered te be independent

Role and Responsibilities

The key elernents of the role and responsibilities of the Non-

Executive Directors are

+ supervision of and advice to the Chief Executive Officer,

+ developing strategy with the Chief Executive Officer,

+ scrutiny of performance of the business and Chief Executive
Otficer

« oversight of nisks and cantrols

« reporting of performance,

+ remuneration of and succession planning for Executive
Directors and

¢ governance and compliance

The Non-Executive Directors are chosen individually for their
broad and relevant experience and international outlook as well
as for their ndependence and details of their various
appointments can he found in their biographies on page 34 In
consultation with the Nomination Commuttee, the Boards review
both the adequacy of succession plann:ng processes and
succession planming itself at both Board and Unilever Leadership
Executive [ULE) level The profile set by the Boards for the
Non-Executive Directors provides guiding principles for the
composition of the Boards in ine with the recommendations of
applicable governance regulations and best practice and takes
intoe account the balance of skills diversity knowledge and
experience on the Boards The profile sel by the Boards for the
Non-Executive Directors and the schedule used for orderly
succession planning can be found on our website at

www unilever com/investorrelations/corp_governance
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Meetings

The Non-Executive Directors meet as a group, without the
Executive Directors present under the leadership of the
Chairman to consider specific agenda items and wide-ranging
business matters of relevance to the Group In 2011 they met five
times

Independence

Following the conclusion of a thorough review of all relevant
relationships of the Non-Executive Directors, and their related or
connected persons our Boards consider all of cur Mon-Executive
Directors to be iIndependent of Unilever by reference to the criteria
setoutin The Governance of Unilever and derived from the
relevant best practice guidelines in the Netherlands, United
Kingdom and United States

None of our Non-Executive Directors are elected or appointed
under any arrangement or understandsng with any major
shareholder customer supplier or otherwise

Remuneration

The remuneration of the Non-Executive Directors i1s determined
by the Boards within the overall bmit set by the shareholders at
the AGMs in 2007, and 1s reparted on page 59 We do not grant our
Non-Executive Directors any persenal loans or guarantees nor
are they entitled to any severance payments Details of the terms
of appointment of our Non-Executive Directors can be seen on the
Unilever website at

www unilever com/investorrelations/corp_governance

Tenure

Qur Non-Executive Directors submit themselves for re-election
each year at the AGMs Although the Dutch Corporate Governance
Code sets the suggested length of tenure at a maximum of 12
years for Non-Executve Directors they normally serve fora
maximum of nine years in accordance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code Their nommation for re-election is subject to
continued good performance which 1s evaluated by the Boards,
based on the recommendations of the Nomination Committee

Executive Directors

Chief Executive Officer

The Chuef Executive Officer has the authority to determine which
duties regarding the operational management of the companies
and their business enterprises will be carred out under his
responsibility, by one or more Executive Directors or by cne or
more other persons This provides a basis for the ULE thatis
chaired by and reports to the Chief Executive Officer For ULE
members biographies see page 35

Executive Directors

During 2011 Unilever had two Executive Directors the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, who were also
members of the ULE and are fuil-time employees of Unilever

The Executive Directors submit themselves for re-election at the
AGMs each year, and the Nomination Committee carefully
considers each normination for re-appomniment Executive
Directors stop holding executive office on ceasing to be Directors

We do not grant our Executive Directors any personal loans or
guarantees
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There are no family relationships between any of our Executive
Directars, members of the ULE or Non-Executive Directors, and
nong of our Executive Directors or other key management
personnel are elected or appointed under any arrangement or
understanding with any major shareholder, customer supplier or
ctherwise

Outside appointments

Unilever recogrises the benefit to the individual and to the Group
of involvement by Unilever senior executives acting as directors of
other companies outside the Unilever Group broadening their
experience and knowledge For our Executive Directors, the
number of outside directorships of listed companies 1s generally
Limited to one per individual and in the case of publicly listed
cornpanies approval is required from the Chairman Outside
directorships must not involve an excessive commiitment or
conflict of interest Fees paid in connection with an outside
directorship may be retained by the individual, reflecting that any
outside directorship 1s the responsibility of the individual and that
Unilever takes ne responsibility in this regard

Director matters

Conflicts of interest

We attach special importance to avaiding conflicts of interest
between NV and PLC and their Directors The Boards are
responsible for ensuring that there are rules in place to avoid
conflicts of interest by Board members Conflicts of interest are
understood not to include transactions and other activities
between companies in the Unilever Group

Authorisation of situational conflicts 1s given by the Boards to the
relevant Director in accordance with the Articles of Association of
PLC The authorisation includes conditions relating to keeping
Unitever information confidential and to the ex¢lusion from
receiving and discussing relevant information at Board meetings
Situational conflicts are reviewed annuzlly by the Boards as part
of the determination of Director independence In between thase
reviews Directors have a duty to inform the Boards of any relevant
changes to the situation A Director may not vote on or be counted
In a quorum in relation to any resolution of the Boards in respect
of any contract in which he or she has a matenialinterest The
procedures that Urnilever have put in place to deal with conflicts of
interest have operated effectively

Yarious formal matters

The borrowsng powers of NV Directors on behalf of NV are not
limited by the Articles of Association of NV PLC Directors have
the power to borrow on behalf of PLC up to three times the PLC
proportion of the adjusted capital and reserves of the Unilever
Group, as defined in PLC s Articles of Association without the
approval of shareholders [any exceptions requiring an ordinary
resolution)

Indemmification

Directars indemnification including the terms thereof 15
provided for in NV s Articles of Association The power to
indemnify Directors 1s provided for in PLC s Articles of
Association and deeds of indemnity have beenissued to all PLC
Directors Appropriate qualifying third-party Directors and
Officers Liability insurance was in place for all Unilever Directors
throughout 2011 and 1s currently in force
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In addition, PLC prowides indemnities (including, where
applicable a qualifying pension scherme ndemmity provision] to
the directors from time to time of two subsidiaries that act as
trustee respectively of two of Unitever s UK pension schemes
Appropriate trustee bability insurance 1s also in place

Qur Committees

Board Committees

The Boards have established four Board Committees the Audit
Commuttee, the Corporate Responsibility and Reputation
Committee the Nomination Cornimittee and the Remuneration
Committee, all formally set up by Board resolutions with defined
remits They are made up solely of Non-Executive Directors and
report regularly to the Boards

All Committees are prowded with sufficient resources to
undertake their duties and the terms of reference for each
Commuttee are contained within The Governance of Unilever
which 1s avatlable at

www unilever com/investorrelations/corp_governance

The reports of each Committee can be found on pages 46 to 59
Management Committee

Disclosure Committee

The Boards have set up, through the Chief Executive Officer, a
Disclosure Committee which is responsible for helping the
Boards ensure that financial and other information required to be
disclosed publicly s disclosed in a timely manner and that the
information that s disclosed 1s complete and accurate in all
material aspects

The Committee comprises the Group Controller [Chairman], the

Group Secretary and Chief Legal Dfficer, the Group Treasurer and
the NV and PLC Deputy Secretaries
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE contnued

Attendance

The following table shows the attendance of Directors at Board and Commuittee meetings for the yearended 31 December 2011
If Directors are unable to attend a Board or Committee meeting they have the opportunity beforehand to discuss any agenda iterns with

the chairman of the meeting

Attendance 15 expressed as the number of meetings attended out of the number eligible to attend

Corporate
Responstbility

Main Audit and Reputation Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Commuittee Commitiee
Michael Treschow 8/g's 33 5/5
Jeroenvan der Veer® 4f4 2/2 2/2
Kees Storm 8/8 5/5'a FAIAL 3/3Y
Paul Polman' 8/8
Jean-Marc Huat® 7/8
Louise Fresco 8/8 414
Ann Fudge 8/8 3/4 4/5
Charles Golden 7/8 5/5
Byron Grote 78 45
Sunil B Mittal 2/4
Hixorva Nyasulu 8/8 4f4
Sir Maleolm Rifkond 8/8 IyAL
Paul Walsh® a/8 &/40 §/5¢!

B Chairman

" Jeroen van der Veer retired from the Boards and stepped down as Chairman of both the Nomination and Remuneration Commuttees on 12 May 2011

o Executive Director
WSunil B Mittal was apponted to the Boards on 12 May 2011

¥ Paul Walsh was appeinted Chairman of the Normination 2nd Remuneration Committees on 12 May 2013

¥ Appointed to the Committee on 12 May 2011

Our Shareholders
Shareholder matters

Relations wath shareholders and other investors

We believe 1t 1s important both to explamn our business
developments and financial results to investors and to understand
their objectives

The Cheef Financial Officer has lead responsibility for investor
relations with the active involvement of the Chief Executive
Otficer They are supported by our Investor Relations department
which organises presentations for analysts and investors and
such presentations are generally made available on our website
Briefings on quarterly results are given via teleconference and are
accessible by telephone or via our website For further information
visit our website at www unilever com/investorrelations

The Boards are briefed on reactions to quarterly results
announcements They, or the relevant Board Commuttee are
briefed on any 1ssues raised by shareholders that are relevant to
their responstbilities Our shareholders can raise 1ssues directly
with the Chairman and, if appropriate, the Vice-Chairman &
Senior Independent Director

Both NV and PLC cormmunicate with their respective
shareholders at the AGMs as well as responding to their questions
and engquiries during the course of the year We take the views of
our shareholders into account and, in accordance with all
applicable legislation and regulations, may consult them in an
appropriate way before putting proposals to our AGMs
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General Meetings of shareholders

Atthe AGMs, a review Is given of the progress of the business over
the last year and there 1s a discussicn of current Issues
Shareholders are encouraged to attend the meetings and ask
guestions, and the question and answer sessions form an important
part of the meetings The business generally conducted includes
approval/adoption of the Annual Report and Accounts appointment
of directors appointment of external auditors and authorisation for
the Boards to allot and repurchase shares

General Meetings of shareholders of NV and PLC are held at
tirmes and places decided by our Boards NV meetings are
normally held in Rotterdam and PLC meetings are normally held
in London These AGMs have historically been held on consecutive
days but advances in technology mean that Unitevers able to
begin to explore new approaches to the way it holds company
meetings, with the aim of bringing the NV and PL.C shareholders
closer together Therefore in 2012 we will be holding the NV and
PLC meetings on the same day with the NV meeting being held in
the morning 1n Rotterdam and the PLC meeting being held in the
afternoan in London Ateach AGM half the Board witl attend in
person, and the other half of the Board will attend the meeting via
satellite ink 1t s our intention that both the Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer will attend both meetings in person

The external auditors are welcomed to the AGMs and they are
entitled to address the meetings
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Voting rights

Shareholders that hald NV shares on the record date are entitled to
attend and vote at NV General Meetings Dutch taw reguires that
the record date Is set at a date 28 days before the meeting, and
shares are not blocked between the record date and the date of the
meeting NV shareholders can cast one vote for each €0 16 norminal
capital that they hold This means that they can cast one vote for
each NV ordinary share or NV New York Registry Share
Shareholders can vote in person or by proxy Similar arrangements
apply to holders of depositary receipts issued for NV shares and the
holders of NV preference shares PLC shareholders can cast one
vote for each 3'4p nominal capital that they hold This means
shareholders can cast one vote for each PLC ordinary share, or
PLC American Depositary Receipt of shares Proxy appointments
need to be with our Registrars 48 hours befare the meeting and the
shareholding at this ime will determine both the right to vote and
the ability to attend the meeting

More information on the exercise of voting rights can be found in
NV s and PLC s Articles of Association and in the respective
Notices of Meetings which can be found on our website at

www unilever com/agm

Holders of NV New York Registry Shares or PLC American
Depositary Recepts of shares will receive a proxy form enabling
them to authorise and instruct a notary public or Citibank N A
respectively {o vote on their behalf at the General Meeting of NV
orPLC

Shares held in treasury will not be voted upon

Voting on each of the resolutions contained in the Notice of AGMs
15 conducted by poll The final vote I1s published at the meetings
and the outcome of the votes including the proxy votes, 1s put on
Unilever s website

Shareholder proposed resolutions

Shareholders of NV may propose resolutiens if they individually or
together hold 1% of NV s 1ssued capitalin the form of shares or
depositary receipts for shares, or if they individually or together
hold shares or depositary receipts worth €50 million
Shareholders who together represent at least 10% of the 1ssued
capital of NV can also requisition Extraordinary General Meetings
to deal with specific resolutions

Shareholders of PLC who together hold shares representing at
least 5% of the total voting rights of PLC or 100 shareholders who
hold on average £100 each in nominalt value of PLC share capital,
canrequire PLC to propose a resolution at a General Meeting

PLC shareholders holding in aggregate 5% of theissued PLC
ordinary shares are able to convene a General Meeting of PLC

Required majorities

Resolutions are usually adopted at NV and PLC shareholder
meetings by an absolute majority of votes cast, unless there are
other requirements under the applicable laws or NVsor PLC s
Articles of Association For example, there are special
requirements for resolutions relating to the alteration of the
Articles of Association, the liguidation of NV or PLC and the
alteration of the Equalisation Agreement
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A proposal to alter the Articles of Association of NV can only be
made by the Board of NV A proposal to alter the Articles of
Association of PLC can be made either by the Board of PLC or by
shareholders in the manner permitted under the UK Compames
Act 2006 Unless expressly specified to the contrary in the Articles
of Association of PLC, PLC s Articles of Assaciation may be
amended by a specizgl reselution Proposals to alter the provisions
In the Articles of Association of NV and PLC respectively relating
to the unity of management require the prior approval of meetings
of the holders of the NV special shares and the PLC deferred
stock The Articles of Assaciation of both NV and PLC can be
found on our website at

www unilever com/investorrelations/corp_governance

Right to hold shares

Unilever s constitutional documents place no imitations on the
right to hold NV and PLC shares There are no limitations on the
right to hold ar exercise voting rights on the erdinary shares of NV
and PLC imposed by foreign law

Electronic communication

Shareholders of NV and PLC can electronically appetnt a proxy to
vote on their behalf at the respective AGM Shareholders of PLC
can also choose to receve electronic notification that the Annual
Report and Acceunts and Notice of AGMs have been published on
our website instead of recerving printed copies

Share capital matters

Margarine Union [1930) Limited Conversion Rights

The first Viscount Leverhulme was the founder of the company
which became PLC When hedied in 1925 he left in tus will a large
number of PLC shares n varicus trusts

When the will trusts were varied in 1983 the interests of the
beneficiaries of his will were alsc preserved Four classes of
special shares were created in Margarine Union (1930] Limited, a
subsidiary of PL.C One of these classes can be converted at the
end of the year 2038 into 70 875,000 PLC ordinary shares of 30
each This currently represents 5 4% of PLC s 1ssued ordinary
capital These convertible shares replicata the rights which the
descendants of the first Viscount would have had under his will
This class of the special shares only has a right to dividends in
specified circumstances and no dividends have yet been paid

Foundation Unilever NV Trust Difice

The Foundation Unilever NV Trust Dffice (Stichting
Admimistratiekantoor Unilever NV ] is a trust office with a board
independent of Unilever As part of its corporate objects, the
Foundation issues depesitary receipts in exchange for the
ordinary and 7% preference shares it holds in NV These
depositary receipts are listed on Euronext Amsterdam, as are the
NV ordinary and 7% preference shares themselves

41




Report of the Directors Governance

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE continued

Holders of depositary receipts can under all circumstances
exchange their depositary receipts for the underlying shares (and
vice versa), and are entitled to dvidends and all econormic benefits
on the underlying shares held by the Foundation They can attend
all General Meetings of NV, either personally or by proxy, and also
have the nght to speak They can under all circumstances and
without imitation exercise thewr voting rights The Foundation only
votes shares that are not represented at a General Meeting The
Foundation vates in such a way as it deems ta be in the interests of
the holders of the depositary receipts This voting policy 1s laid
downn the Conditions of Adrmmistration that apply to the
depositary receipts

The Foundation s shareholding fluctuates daily Its holdings on
28 February 2012 were 1,252,279,716 NV ordinary shares (73 03%)
and 9,776 NV 7% cumulative preference shares (33 71%)

The members of the board at the Foundation are Mr J H Schraven
[chairman] Mr P P de Koning, Prof Emeritus Dr I Kogprnans and
Mr A ADljslager The Foundation reports periodically on its
activities Further information on the Foundation, including its
Articles of Association and Conditions of Administration, can be
found on its website at www administratiekantaor-unilever nl

Unilever considers the arrangaments of the Foundation
appropriate and «n the interest of NV and its shareholders given
the size of the voting rights attached to the financing preference
shares and the relatively low attendance of holders of ordinary
shares at the General Meetings of NV

Further information on the share capital of NV and PLC 1s given on
pages 123 and 124
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Our Foundation Agreements

Foundation Agreements

The Unilever Group s created and maintained by a series of
agreements between the parent compantes, NV and PLC,
together with special provisions in their respective Articles of
Associatton, which are together known as the Foundation
Agreements These agreements enable Unilever to achieve unity
of management, operations, shareholders rights, purpose and
rmissicn and further information on these agreements 1s provided
below and in the document entitled The Governance of Unilever
which Is available on our website at

www unitever com/investorrelations/corp_governance

NV s Articles of Associatien contain, among other things, the
objects clause which sets out the scope of activities that NV 1s
authorised to undertake They are drafted to give a wide scope
and provide that the primary objectives are te carry on business
as a holding company, to manage any companies in which it has
an interest and to operate and carry into effect the Equalisation
Agreement At the 2010 PLC AGM the shareholders agreed that
the abjects clause be removed from PLC s Articles of Association
so that there are no restrictions on its objects

NV's and PLC s Articles of Association together with the
additional three Foundation Agreements detailed below, can be
found on our website at

www unilever com/investorrelations/corp_governance

Equalisation Agreement

The Equalisaticn Agreement makes the economic position of the
shareholders of NV and PLC, as far as possible, the same as if
they held shares in a single company The Equalisation Agreement
regulates the mutual rights of the shareholders of NV and PLC
Under the Equatisation Agreement, NV and PLC must adopt the
same hinancial periods and accounting policies

Each NV ordinary share represents the same underlying economic
Interestin the Unilever Group as each PLC ordinary share

The Deed of Mutual Covenants

The Deed of Mutual Covenants provides that NV and PLC and their
respective subsidiary companies shall co-operate in every way for
the purpose of maintaining a common aperating policy They shall
exchange all relevant information about their respective
businesses - the intention being to create and maintain a common
operating platform for the Unilever Group threughout the world
The Deed also contains provisions for the allocation of assets
between NV and PLC

The Agreement for Mutual Guarantees of Borrowing

Under the Agreement for Mutual Guarantees of Borrowing
between NV and PLC, each company will if asked by the other,
guarantee the borrowings of the other The two companies also
jointly guarantee the borrowings of their subsidiaries These
arrangements are used as & matter of financial policy for certain
significant public borrowings They enable lenders to rely on our
combined financial strength
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Our requirements and compliance

Requirements and compliance - general

Unilever 15 subject to corporate governance requirements in the
Netherlands, the UK and as a foreign private issuer in the US in
this section we report on our compliance with the corporate
governance regulations and best practice codes applicable in the
Netherlands and the UK and we also describe compliance with
corporate governance standards in the US

Under the European Takeover Directive as implemented in the
MNetherlands and the UK, the UK Compames Act 2006 and rules of
the US Securities and Exchange Comrmission, Unilever 1s required
to provide information on contracts and other arrangements
essential or material to the business of the Group We believe we
do not have any such contracts or arrangerments

Cur governance arrangements are designed and structured to
promote and further the interests of our companies and their
shareholders The Boards however reserve the night, in cases
where they decide such to be In the interests of the companies ar
our shareholders to depart from that which 15 set out In the
present and previous sections in relation tc our corporate
governance Any such changes will be reported in future Annual
Reports and Accounts and, when necessary through changes to
the relevant docurnents published on our website As appropriate,
proposals for change will be put to our shareholders for approval

Our principal nisks and our approach to risk management and
systerns of internal control are described on pages 28 to 33

Furtherinformation can be found on our website and 1n the
document entitled The Governance of Unilever which is available
on our website at

www unilever com/Investorrelations/corp_gavernance

Requirements - Eurocpean Umen

Following implementation of the European Takeover Directive

certain information 1s required to be disclosed in relation to

control and share structures and interests of NV and PLC Such
disclosures, which are not covered elsewhere n this Annual

Report and Acceunts, include the following

* there are no requirements to obtain the approval of NV or PLC,
or of other holders of securitias in NV ar PLC for a transfer of
such securities The NV special ordinary shares may only be
transferred to one or more holders of such shares,

» there are no arrangements by which with NV s or PLC s
co-operation, financial rights carried by securities are held by
a person other than the holder of such securities,

* NVand PLC are not aware of any agreements between holders
of securities which may result In restrictiens on the transfer of
such securities or on voting rights,

= neither NV nor PLC are parties o any significant agreements
which include provisions that take effect, alter or terminate such
agreement upon a change of control following a takeover bid,

* NVand PLC do not have any agreements with any Director or
employee that would provide compensation for loss of office or
employment resulting from a takeover except that most of
Unilever s share schemes cantain previsiens which operate in
the event of a takeover of Unilever, which provisions may for
Instance cause options or awards granted to employees under
such schemes tovest after a takeover or be exchanged into
new awards for shares in another entity, and
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= the Trustees of the PLC employee share trusts may vote or
absta:n 1n any way they think fit and in doing so may take into
acccunt both financial and non-financial interests of the
beneficiaries of the employee share trusts or their dependants
Historically the Trustees tend not to exercise thrs right

The Netherlands

NV is required to state In its Annual Report and Accounts whether
it complies or witl comply with the Principles and best practice
provisions [ bpp ) of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code (the
Cutch Code) and, if it does not comply, to explain the reasons for
this NV complies with almost all of the principles and best
practice provisions of the Dutch Code, a copy of which 1s available
atwww commissiecorporategovernance nl The text that follows
sels put certain statements that the Dutch Code invites us to
make to our shareholders that are notincluded elsewhere in this
Annual Report and Accounts as well as areas of non-compliance

Unilever places a great deal of importance on corporate
responsibility and sustainability as 1s evidenced by our vision to
double the size of the company while reducing ocur environmental
impact With respect to our perfermance measures Unileveris
keen tc ensure focus on key financial perfermance measures
which we believe to be the drivers of sharehalder vatue creation
and relative total shareholder return Unilever therefore believes
that the interests of the business and shareholders are best
served by linking the long-term share plans to the measures as
described in the Directors Remuneration Report and has not
included & non-financial performance ndicator [Principle It 2 and
bpp 1l 2 3)

Risk management and control

As a result of the review of the Audit Committee {as described in
Its report on pages 46 and 47 the Boards belisve that as regards
financial reporting risks the risk management and control
systems provide reasonable assurance that the financial
staternents do not contain any errors of matenal imnportance and
the risk management and control systems have worked properly
in 2011 [bpp LL1 5}

The aforesaid statements are not statements in accordance with
the requirements of Section 404 of the US Sarbanes-0xley Act
of 2002

Retention period of shares

The Dutch Code recommends that shares granted to Executive
Directors must be retained for a period of at least five years (bpp

1 2 5] Ourshareholder-approved remuneration policy requires
Executive Directors to build and retain a personal shareholding in
Unilever The Boards believe that this 1s in ine with the spinit of the
Dutch Code

Severance pay

It1s our policy to set the level of severance payments for Directors
at no more than one year s salary, unless the Boards, at the
proposal of the Remuneration Committee, find this manifestly
unreasonable given circumstances or unless otherwise dictated
by applicable law lbpp | 2 8)

Conflicts of interest

In the event of a potential conflict of iInterest, the provisions of the
Duteh Code [Principles 1t 3 and 111 6) are applied Conflicts of
interest are not understood to include transactions and other
activities between companies in the Unilever Group
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee may not be chaired by a Board
member whao 1s @ member of the management board of another
listed company [bpp 11 5 11) Paul Walsh is Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and has been CEO of Diageo Plc since
2000 Paut has profound knowledge and understanding of
remuneration matters at companies operating globatly and
understands how remuneraiion policies support the growth
objective His experience and insight of remuneration matters 1s
very valuable to Unilever The Boards believe that Mr Walsh is
idealty placed for the position of Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee

Financing preference shares

NV issued 6% and 7% cumulative preference shares between
1927 and 1964 Thesr voting rights are based on their nominal
value as prescribed by Dutch law The Dutch Code recommends
that the voting rights on such shares should, in any event when
they are newly 1ssued, be based on their economic value rather
than on their nominal value (bpp IV1 2) NV agrees wath this
principle but cannot unilaterally reduce voting rights of its
outstanding preference shares

Anti-takeover constructions and control over the company

NV confirms that it has no anti-takeover constructions in the
sense of constructions that are intended solely, or primarily to
btock future hostite public offers for its shares [bpp V3 11) Nor
does NV have any constructions whose specific purpose 1s to
prevent a bidder after acquiring 75% of the capital from
appointing or dismissing members of the Board and subsequently
altering the Articles of Association The acquisition through a
public offer of a majarity of the shares in a company does not
under Duteh law preclude in all circumstances the continued night
of the board of the company to exercise its powers

Meetings of analysts and presentations to investors

We have extensive procedures for handling relations with and
communicating with shareholders, investors analysts and the
meda {also see page 40] The important presentations and
meetings are conducted as far as practicable n accerdance with
the Dutch Cade (bpp IV 3 1] Due to their large number and overlap
ininformation, however, some of the less important ones are not
announced in advance, made accessible to everyone or put on our
website

Corporate Governance Statement

NV s required to make a statement concerning corporate

governance as referred to In article 2a of the decree on additional

requirements for annual reports [Vaststellingsbesluit nadere

voorschriften inhoud jaarverslag) with effect from 1 January 2010

{the Decree] The information required to be included in this

corporate governance statement as described in articles 3, 3a and

3b of the Decree can be found in the following sections of this

Report and Accounts

+ theinformation concerning compliance with the Dutch
Corperate Governance Code, as required by article 3 of the
Decree, can be found under Corporate Governance within the
section Requirements - the Netherlands,

+ thenformation concerning Unilever s risk management and
control frameworks relating to the financial reporting process,
as required by article 3ala) of the Decree, can be found under

Cutlook and risks on pages 28 to 33 and within the relevant
sections under Corporate Governance
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* the information regarding the functioning of NV s General
Meeting of shareholders and the authority and rights of NV s
shareholders, as required by article 3alb) of the Decree can be
found within the relevant sectiens under Corporate
Governance

¢ the information regarding the composition and functioning of
NV s Board and its Commuittees, as required by article 3alc) of
the Decree, can be found within the relevant sections under
Corporate Governance and

* theinformation concerning the incluston of the information
required by the decree Article 10 European Takeover Direciive,
as required by article 3b of the Decree, can be found within the
relevant sections under Corporate Governance and within the
section Shareholder infermation, Analysis of sharehotding

The United Kingdom

PLC s required as a company that Is incorporated in the UK and
Listed on the London Stock Exchange, to state how it has applied
the main principles and how far it has complied with the
provisions set out in the 2010 UK Corporate Governance Code a
copy of which i1s available at www {rc org uk

In the preceding pages we have described how we have applied
the main principles and the provisions in the UK Code In 2011
PLC complied with alt UK Code provisions, with the exception of
provision E 2 3 of the Code [which provides that the chairmen of
the audit, remuneration and nominatiocn committtees be available
to answer questions at the AGM and that all directors attend the
AGM) as Kees Storm, who 1s Chairman of the Audit Commuttee,
was unable to attend the AGM in May because he was required to
attend a scheduled board meeting of another public company on
the same day

Risk management and control

Qur approach to risk management and systems of internal control
1s in ine with the recommendations in the report on Internal
Control - Revised Guidance for Directors on the UK Combined
Code [ The Turnbull guidance )

It 1s Unilever s practice to bring acquired companies within the
Group s governance procedures as socn as Is practicable and in
any event by the end of the first full year of operation

The Umted States

Both NV and PLLC are listed on the New York Stock Exchange and
must therefore comply with such of the requirements of US
legislation, such as the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, regulations
enacted under US securities laws and the Listing Standards of the
New York Stock Exchange INYSE] as are applicable to foreign
private 1ssuers, coples of which are available at www sec gov and
www nyse com |n some cases the requirements are mandatory
and in other cases the obligation1s to comply or explain

We have complied in all material respects with the requirements
concerning corporate governance that were in force during 2011
Attention s drawn in particular {o the Report of the Audit
Committee on pages 46 and 47
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Actions already taken to ensure compliance n all matenal

respects that are not specifically disclosed elsewhere or

otherwise clear from reading this report include

+ the Code of Business Principles and Code Policies declaration
undertaken by all senior financial officers,

« thassuance of Instructions restricting the employment of
former employees of the audit firm, and

* the establishment of a policy on reporting requirements under
SEC rules relating to standards of professional conduct for US
attorneys

In each of these cases, existing practices were revised and/or
documented tn such a way as to conform to the new requirements

All senior executives and sentor financial officers have declared
their understanding of and compliance with Unilever s Code of
Business Principles and the related Code Policies No wawver
from any provision of the Code of Business Principles or Code
Policies was granted to any of the persons falling within the scope
of the SEC requirements in 2011 The Code Policies include
mandatory requirements covering [but not Limited to the
following areas accurate records reporting & accounting,
anti-bribery, avoiding conflicts of interest gifts & entertanment,
preventing insider trading political activities & political donations
contact with government, regulators & non-governmental
organisations, respect, digmity & fair treatment external
communications - the media, investors & analysts Our Code of
Business Principles is available on our website at

www unilever com/investorrelations/corp_governance

We are required by US securities laws and the Listing Standards
af the NYSE to have an Audit Commuttee that satisfies Rule 10A-3
under the Exchange Act and the Listing Standards of the NYSE
We are compliant with these reguirements We are also required
to disclose any significant ways in which our corparate
governance practices differ from those typically followed by US
companies listed on the NYSE

In addition to the information we have given to you in this report
about our corporate governance arrangemenis further details
are provided in the document entitled The Governance of
Unilever , which 1s en our website at

www unilever com/investorrelations/corp_governance
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We are compliant with the Listing Standards of the NYSE
applicable to foreign private 1ssuers Qur corporate governance
practices do not significantly differ from these required of US
companies listed on the NYSE

We also canfirm that cur shareholders have the cpportunuty to
vote on certain equity compensation plans

Risk management and control

Based on an evaluation by the Boards, the Chief Executive Officer
and the Chief Financial Officer concluded that the design and
operation of the Group s disclosure controls and procedures,
including those defined in United States Securities Exchange Act
of 1934 - Rule 13a - 15{e] asat 31 December 2011 were effective
and that subsequently until the date of the approval of the Annual
Reportand Accounts by the Boards there have been no significant
changes in the Group s Internal controls, or in other factors that
could significantly affect those controls

Unilever is required by Section 404 of the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002 to report on the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting This requirement will be reparted on
separately and will form part of Unilever s Annual Report on
Form 20-F
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The role and terms of reference of the Audit Committee Is to
assist the Boards in fulfilling their oversight responsibilities
regarding the integrity of Unilever s financtal statements, risk
managernent and internal control, compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements the external auditors performance
gualifications and independence and the performance of the
internal audit function

The Audit Commuttee 1s comprised only of independent Non-
Executive Directors with a minimum requirement of three such
mermbers During 2011 the Committee comprtsed Kees Storm
(Charrmanl, Charles Golden and Byron Grote The Cammittee met
five timesin 2011 All Commuttee members attended all the
meetings except Byran Grote who attended four out of the five
rmeatings The Boards have satisfied thernselves that the current
members of the Audit Committee are competent in financiat
matters and have recent and relevant experience For the
purposes of the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, Kees Stormwas
the Audit Committee s financial expert up to 28 February 2012
Byron Grote will take over the Chairmanship of the Committee on
29 February 2012 and will become the Audit Commuttee s financial
expert on this date

During the year, principal activities were as follows

Financial statements

The Committee considered reports from the Chief Financial
Officer on the quarterty and annual financial statements, including
other financial statements and disclosures priorto their
publication and 1ssues reviewed by the Disclosure Commitiee
They also reviewed the Annual Report and Accounts and Annual
Report on Ferm 20-F, the quarterly performance and
accompanying press releases prior to publication These reviews
wmcorporated the accounting policies and key judgements and
estimates underpimning the financial statements as disclosed
within Note 1 on pages 68 and 69, including

* goodwill and intangible assets,

* provisions,

* business comhinations

* financial instruments,

* pensions

* taxatien and

* going concern assessment

The Committee was satisfied with the accounting treatments
adopted

Risk management and internal control arrangements

The Commuttee reviewed Unilever s overall approach to risk

management and control and its processes, outcomes and

disclosure It reviewed

¢ the Contreller s Quarterly Risk and Control Status Report
[which includes matters arising from the Global Code and
Policy Committee}, including Code cases relating to frauds and
financial crimes and stgnificant complaints received through
the global Ethics Hotline,

« Corporate Risks, including regular reviews of the 2011 risks
and the 2012 Focus Risks identified by the Unilever Leadership
Executive,

* Management s work to implement a simplified policy
framework that directly underpins the Code of Business
Principles

* progress on management s Effective Financial Control &
Reporting project,
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* the application of information and communication technology,

+ tax planning, Insurance arrangements and related risk
management,

* treasury policies including debtissuance and hedging

¢ commodity risk management, governance and derivatives
hedging and

» litigation and regulatory tnvestigations

The Committee reviewed the application of the reguirements
under Section 404 of the US Sarbanes-0Oxley Act of 2002 with
respact to internal controls over financial reporting

In addition, the Committee reviewed the annual financial plan ard
Unilever s dividend policy and dividend proposals

In fulfilling 1ts oversight responsibilities in relation to risk
management, internal control and the financial statements the
Committee met regularly with sentor members of management
and are fully satisfied with the key judgements taken

Internal audit function

The Committee reviewed Corporate Audit s audit plan for the year
and agreed its budget and resource requirements It reviewed
interim and year-end summary reports and management s
response The Committee carried out a formal evaluation of the
performance of the internal audit functiocn and was satisfied with
the effectiveness of the function The Committee met
independently with the Chief Auditor during the year and
discussed the results of the audits performed during the year

Audit of the Annual Accounts

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Unilever s external auditors and
independent registered public accounting firm, reported in depth
to the Commutize on the scope and outcome of the annual audit,
including their audit of internal controls over financial reporting as
required by Section 404 of the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Their reports included accounting matters, governance and
control, and accouniing developments

The Committee held independent meetings with the external
auditors during the year and discussed and challenged their audit
plan, including their assessment of the financial reporting nsk
profile of the Group The Committee discussed the views and
conclusions of PricewaterhouseCoapers regarding

management s treatment of significant transactions and areas of
Jjudgement during the year and PricewaterhouseCoopers
confirmed they were satisfied that these had been treated
appropriately in the financial statements

External auditors

The Audit Committee conducted aformal evaluation of the
effectiveness of the external audit process The Committee has
considered the tenure, quality and fees of the auditors and
deterrrined that a tender for the audit work 15 not necessary Asa
result, the Committee has approved the extension of the current
external audit contract by one year, and recommended to the
Boards the re-appaintment of external auditors On the
recommendation of the Audit Commuttee, the Directors will be
proposing the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers at the
AGMs in May 20i2 (see pages 116 and 122)
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Both Unilever and the auditors have for many years had
safeguards in place to avoud the possibility that the auditors
abjectivity and independence could be compromised The
Committee reviewed the report from PricewaterhouseCoopers on
the actions they take to comply with the prefessional and
regulatory requirements and best practice designed to ensure
their independence from Unilever

The Commuttee also reviewed the statutory audit,

audit related and non-audit related services provided by

PricewaterhouseCoopers and compliance with Unilever s

documented approach, which prescribes in detail the types

of engagements, listed below for which the external auditors

can be used

¢ statutory audit services including audit of subsidiaries,

s audit related engagements - services that invelve attestation
assurance or certification of factual information that may be
required by external parties,

* non-audit related services - work that our auditors are best
placed to undertake, which may include
- tax services - all significant tax work I1s put to tender,

- acquisition and disposal services, including related due
diligence audits and accountants reports and
- Internal control reviews

Several types of engagements are prohibited, including

* bookkeeping or similar services

» systems design and implementation related to financial
information or risk management,

+ valuation services

* actuarial services,

* nternal audit, and

s staff secondments to a management function

All audit related engagements over €250,000 and non-audit
related engagements over €100,000 require specific advance
approval of the Audit Committee Chairman The Committee
further approves all engagements below these levels which have
been authorised by the Group Controller These autharities are
reviewed regularly and, where necessary, updated in the light of
internal developments, external developments and best practice
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Audit Committee terms of reference

The Audit Committee s terms of reference are reviewed annually
by the Commuittee taking into account relevant legislation and
recommended good practice The terms of reference are
contained within The Governance of Unilever which s available
on our website at

www unilever com/investorreletions/corp_governance

Board Assessment of the Audit Commuttee

The Board evaluated the performance of the Committee and the
Commuttee carried out a self-assessment of its performance, and
concluded it was performing elfectively

Kees Storm

Chairman of the Audit Commuttee
Charles Golden

Byron Grote
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REPORT OF THE CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY AND REPUTATION COMMITTEE

Terms of Reference

The Corporate Responsibility and Reputation Committee
oversees Unilever s conduct as a respansible multinational
business The Committee 1s also charged with ensuring that
Unilever s reputation s protected and enhanced Akey element of
the rcle 1s the need to identify any external developments which
are likely to have an influence upon Unilever s standing in society
and to bring these to the attention of the Boards

The Committee comprises three independent Non-Executive
Directors Sir Malcolm Rifkind, Hixonia Nyasulu and Louise
Fresco Sir Malcolm Rifkind chairs the Committee Keith Weed
Chief Marketing and Communication Officer and a member of the
Umilever Leadership Executive attends the Committees
meelings

The Committee s discussions are informed by the perspectives of
Unilever s two sustainability leadership groups The first is the
Unilever Sustainable Development Group [USDG) - five experts
from cutside Unilever who advise our senior leadership on

the development of its sustainability strategy The second is the
Unilever Sustainable Living Plan [USLP] Steering Team the group
of senior executives who are accountable for the delivery of the
USLP The insights from these groups help to keep the Boards
infermed of current and emerging trends and any potential risks
arising from sustainability 1ssues

The Committee s terms of reference and details of the Unilever
Sustainable Development Group are available on our website at
www unilever com/investorrelations/corp_governance

Meetings

Meaetings are held quarterly and ad hoc as required The
Committee Chairman reports the conclusions to the Boards Four
meetings were held in 201

The Commmittee s agenda comprises a number of standing items
These include the Code of Business Principles, litigation and the
USLP In 2011, Committee members requested that product and
occupational safety be added to these standing items

In addition, the Committee reviews a number of strateqic topics
For example, in 2011 these included a review of the system
Unilever uses to manage ssues and reputational nisks and a
discussion of animal testing

Code of Business Principles and hitigation review

The Committee 1s responsible for the oversight of the Unilever
Code of Business Principles and associated Code Policies, which
set out the standards of conduct we expect of our employees

The Committee ensures that the Code of Business Principles and
Code Policies remain fit for purpose and are appropriately

applied In this regard it complements the role of the Audit
Committee which considers the Code as part of s remit to review
risk management
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During the year, members of the Committee endorsed the

refinement of the system for collating statistics relating to cases

under the Code of Business Principles and Code Policies The w
improved visibility of this data means that management s able to |
monitor infringements more closely and identify trends

Pursuant to the remit of the Commuttee, the Chief Legal Officer
reports to the Comrmittee on litigation matters which have a
reputaticnal impact including environmental 1ssues, labour
relations and competition law compliance These matters are
then also considered by the full Boards For further information
on Legal proceedings please see note 20 on page 103

Unitever Sustainable Living Plan

The Committee menitors progress on the USLP The USLP s at
the heart of Unilever s aim to double the size of its business while
reducing its environmental impacts and 1s available on our
website at www unilever com/sustainability

The Committee reviews any potential risks that could damage the
credibility of the USLP, and each of its meetings addresses a
different element of the USLP In 2011 the governance
mechanisms of the USLP were discussed as well as Issues such
as sustainable agricultural sourcing, water and safety

The Committee visited Unilever s research laboratory at Colworth
inthe UK to learn more about the role of R&D and the science of
behaviour change Both are crucialto achieving the USLP s
targets Unilever s work in develeping alternative approaches to
animal testing was also reviewed

During the Boards visitto Indonesia the Committee received a
briefing from the World Resources Institute s local expert on
deforestation Sustainable sourcing of palm ol 1s a major targetin
the USLP The briefing gave the Commuttee a detailed update on
deforestation issues in Indanesia as well as a broad overview of
Unilever s actions in this area and how 1t 1s working cellaboratively
with growers, suppliers customers, governments and NGGs to
promote sustainable palm oil

Evaluation of the Committee

The Committee carried out a self-assessment of its performance,
led by the Committee Chairman The Beard also evaluated the
performance of the Committee and concluded 1t was performing
effectively

Sir Malcolm Rifkind

Chairman of the Corporate Responsibility
and Reputation Committee

Louise Fresco

Hixorma Nyasulu
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REPORT OF THE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Terms of Reference

The Normination Committee comprises three Independent
Non-Executive Directors and the Chairman It was chaired by
Jeroen van der Veer until his retirement at the 2011 AGMs Paut
Walsh has chaired the Committee since 12 May 2011 The other
members are Ann Fudge Kees Storm [both of whom were
appointed following the 2011 AGMs| and Michael Treschow The
Group Secretary acts as secretary to the Committee

The Committee 1s responsible for drawing up selection criteria,
succession planning and appointment procedures Under
Unilever s corporate governance arrangements Executive and
Non-Executive Directors offer themselves for election each year
atthe Annual General Meetings The Nomination Commuttee is
responsible for recommending candidates for nomination as
Executive Directors (including the Chief Executive Officer] and
MNon-Executive Directors each year based on the process of
evaluations referred to below After Directors have been
appointed by shareholders the Committee recommends te the
Boards candidates for election as Chairman and the Vice-
Chairman & Senior Independent Directar The Committee also
has responsibility for supervising the policy of the Chief Executive
Officer on the selection critenia and appaintment procedures for
senior management and 1t keeps oversight of all matters relating
to corporate governance, bringing anyssues to the attention of
the Boards The Commiitee s Terms of Reference are contained
within The Governance of Unilever and are also available on our
website at www unilever com/investorrelations/corp_governance

Process for the appointment of Directors

Unitever has formal procedures for the evaluation of the Boards,
the Board Commuttees and the individual Directars The
Chairman, in conjunction with the Vice-Chairman & Senior
Independent Director, leads the process whereby the Boards
assess their own performance and the results of the evaluations
are provided to the Committee when it discusses the nommations
for re-election of Directors

Where a vacancy arises on the Boards, the Commuittee may seek
the services of specialist recruitment firms and other external
experts to assist in finding individuals with the appropniate skills
and expertise The Committee reviews candidates presented by
the recruitment firm, or by Directors and members of the Unilever
Leadership Executive, and all members of the Commuttee are
involved In the interview process before making thewr
recommendations to the full Boards for approval

In nominating Directors, the Commuttee foliows the agreed Board
profile of potential Non-Executive Directors, which takes into
account the roles of Non-Executive Directors set out in the Dutich
Corporate Governance Code and the UK Corporate Governance
Code Under the terms of The Governance of Unilever the Boards
should comprise a majority of Non-Executive Directars To
represent Unilever s areas of interest, the profile also indicates
there should be a strong representation from Developing and
Emerging markets as well as from Europe and North America
Non-Executive Directors should be independent of Unilever and
free from any conflicts of interest With respect to diversity in the
composition of the Boards the ohjective pursued by the Boards is
ta have a variation of age, gender, expertise, social background
and nationality and, wherever possible, the Boards should reflect
Unilever s consumer base The Boards are pleased that we
already have 25% fernale representation on the Boards We will
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continue to aspire to increase that level However, Unilever feels
that gender s only ane part of diversity, and Unilever directors will
continue to be selected on the basis of the wide-ranging
experience backgrounds, skills knowledge and insight of its
members

It 1s recognised that Executive Directors may be invited to become
a Non-Executive Directer of another company and that such an
appointment subject to the approval of the Chairman and where
relevant the Chief Executive Officer, may broaden the knowledge
and exparience to the benefit of the Group [see page 34 for details
in the biographies]

Activities of the Committee during the year

The Committee met six trimes in 2011 All Committee members
attended the meetings they werz eligible to attend except Ann
Fudge who attended three out of four meetings she was eligible to
attend Qther attendees at Commuttee meetings [or part thereof)
were the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief HR Officer and the
Group Secretary

The Commitiee proposed the nomination of all Directors offering
themselves for re-election at the 2011 AGMs in May 201t During
2011, the Commuttee also proposed the nomination of Sunil B
Mittal as a Non-Executive Director at the 2011 AGMs in May Mr
Mittal was chosen because with his business building experience
in developing markets ranging from the entrepreneunal to
large-scale corporate activities, he would be a valuable addition to
the Boards In making this appointment the Nomination
Committee was supported by an iIndependent executive search
firm chosen by the Commuittee which had been engaged to identify
suitable candidates for the role required Following his
appaintment at the 2011 AGMs the Commuttee approved an
extensive inductron programme for Mr Mittal

As part of its corporate governance responsibilities during the
year the Committee considered the new UK Corporate
Governance Code, which applied to Unilever from 1 January 2011,
and will continue to ensure that Unilever complies with the new
provisions, where appropriate for our future reporting years

This year, Unilever decided to perform an external evaluation,
undertaken by an independent third-party consultant Further
information on this evaluation can be found on page 2 the results
of which were discussed at the December 2011 Board Meetings

The Commuttee also carried out an assessment of its own
performance and concluded it was performing effectively

Paul Walsh

Chairman of the Nomination Committee
Ann Fudge

Kees Storm

Michael Treschow
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT

Remuneration review

As we communicated in last year s Report, the Committee has
now taken a close look at the competitive posstion of our Executive
Directors salaries Following consultation with shareholders, the
Committee intends to increasa the CEQ s salary by 6% ta £975 200
during the course of 2012 The CFQ s salary will alsc be increased
by 5% to £714 000 It 1s the Committee s intention that these
increases will not be iImplemented immediately but rather will be
implernented [with no backdating} at a time when the Commuttee
deterrmines appropriate for the business These salary increases
are n line with the salary increases that have been awarded to
other high performing UK/Eurapean employees at Unilever The
Committee also made some changes to the structure of pension
and benefits in arder to increase transparency for the indmidual
and for shareholders

Further details on the proposed changes are provided in the
section entitled Proposed changes from 2012 onwards

2011 reward outcomes

2011 was another year of growth for Unilever despite difficult
markets and the external challenges facing the business We
delivered a good set of financial results growing sales and
earnings, particutarly \n emerging markets We have also made
significant progress in the implernentation of our strategy

We set challenging bonus targets for 2011 reflecting our ambitious
growth objectives The Committee considered performance
against these stretching targets as well as the quality of
performance delivered and the Executive Directors contribution
to the sustainability of the business Taking these factors into
account the Committee determined that the CEQ shoutd be
awarded a bonus of 135% of base salary with the CFO being
awarded a bonus of ?0% of base salary

Global Share Incentive Plan awards granted in 2009 are due to
vestin March 2012 based on performance to 31 Decernber 2011
The Committee assessed financial performance against the
relevant metrics TSR performance against peers and the
underlying quality of performance and determined that 87% of
the initial award (out of a maximum vesting of 200%] would vest
The Committee considered that this level of vesting Is appropriate
given the sustained delivery of perfoermance against key strategic
metrics and our performance against peers in the challenging
economic climate
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Further details on performance and vesting levels are provided
below

Long-term perfarmance conditions

During 2012, the Commuttee intends to review performance
conditions to ensure they remain appropriate for the business and
are abigned with our strategy and the long-term creation of
shareholder value and in particular our desire to build a long-
term sustainable business To the extent that the review results in
proposed changes to performance measures for long term
incentive plans, the Commitiee will consult with shareholders in
advance

Paul Walsh

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
Ann Fudge

Kees Storm

Michael Treschow

Remuneration Committee

The role of the Remuneration Committee 1s to make proposals to

the Boards for decisions on

¢ the remuneration and benefits of Directors,

» the remuneration policy for the ULE and the Chief Auditor
Group Controller, Chief Legal Officer and Group Secretary, and

¢ the design and terms of all share-based incentive plans

The Committee s key responsibilities in respect of Executive

Durectors include making proposals to the Boards on

¢ the remuneration pelicy,

+ individual salary levels, banuses, long-term incentive awards
and ather benefits

* performance frameworks targets setting and performance
review and

¢ determining coniractual terms

The Committee s Terms of Reference are contained within

The Governance of Unilever , which can be found at

www unilever com/investorrelatiens/corp_governance Details of
Cornmitiee reeting attendance are contained in the section on
Corporate Governance on page 40

During 2011 the Committee compnised Paul Walsh who became
Committee Chairman in May 2011 on the retirement of Jeroen van
der Veer Michael Treschow, Ann Fudge and from May 2011 Kees
Sterm

While 1t is the Commuttee s responsibility to exercise independent
judgement, the Committee does request adwvice from
management and professional advisers as appropriate, to ensure
that its decisiens are fully informed given the internal and external
environment The Commitiee appointed Deleitte LLP to provide
independent advice on various matters it considered in 2011
During the year Deloitte atso provided specihic tax, technology
consultancy and corporate finance services to Unilever The
Committee reviewed the potential for conflicts of interest and
judged that there were appropriate safeguards against such
conflicts
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During the year the Committee also sought input from the Chief
Executive Officer the Chief Human Resources Gificer and the SVP
Global Head of Reward on various subjects including the
rermuneration of senior management No individual was present
when their own remuneration was being discussed The
Comrmittee also received legal and governance advice from the
Chief Legal Officer and Group Secretary

The Committee also carried out an assessment of its own
perfermance and concluded it was performung effectively

Executive Directors

Qur aims and guiding principles

The overriding aim of the Cammittee 1s to ensure that the
remuneration arrangements for Executive Directors support the
longer-term ohjectives of Unilever and, In turn the longer-term
interests of shareholders

This means that we must ensure that

» the fixed elements of the remuneration package offered to
Executve Directors are sufficiently competitive to attract and
retain highly experienced and talented individuals while
remaining appropriate in the context of market practice and
the remuneration structures operated throughout the Group,

* the performance-related elements are structured so that
target levels are competitive but Executive Directors can only
earn higher rewards If they exceed the ongoing standards of
performance that Unilever requires, and

* performance measures selected support Unilever s business
strategy and the ongoing creation of sustained shareholder
value

The Committee s guiding principles are therefore that the

remuneraticn arrangements for Executive Directors should

= support Unilever s business strategy aiming to double the size
of the business while reducing our environmentalimpact
through a focus on markets customers innovation and people,

¢ sharpen Unilever s performance culture through more
exacting standards,

¢ ncrease the difference i reward between modest target and
outstanding performance achievermnents,

» support share ownership and strong shareholder alignment,
and

= be simple and transparent

Below we have summarised the key remuneration policies for
Executive Directors that flow from and support the Committee s
ams

The supporting policies

Our emphasis on performance-related pay

Itis Unilever s policy that the total remuneration package for
Executive Directors should be competitive with other global
companes and that a significant proportion should be
performance-related When assessing the competitiveness of the
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package, the Commuttee considers Unilever s positioning against
other UK and European companies that are of a similar size and
complexity and have similar glebal reach to Unilever Over two-
thirds of the target remuneration for the Executive Directors i1s
linked to performance with the majority of thas linked to
shareholder-aligned longer-term performance

The Committee typically reviews, at teast on an annual basis the
impact of different performance scenarios on the potential reward
opportunity and pay-outs to be received by Executive Directors
and the alignment of this with the returns that right be recewed
by shareholders The Committee believes that the level of
remuneration that can be delivered In the various scenaros Is
appropriate for the level of performance delivered and the value
that would be created for shareholders

The remuneration structure 1s generally consistent for Executive
Directors and senior management of Unilever Executive

Directors benefits are alse established in line with those for other
employees on the basis of local market practices The Committee
periodically monitors pay and employment conditions of other
employees within Unilever to ensure alignment and consistency
with remuneration of senior management and Unilever s
remuneration objectives

The Committee believes that Unilever s nsk management
processes provide the necessary controls 1o prevent
inappropriate risk taking Forexample when the Committee
reviews the structure and levels of performance-related pay for
Executive Directors and othermembers of the ULE, 1t considers
whether these might encourage behaviours incompatible with the
long-~term interests of Unilever and its shareholders or that may
raise any environmental socizl or governance risks The
Commuittee believes that the significant shareholding
requirements placed on Executive Directors and other senior
managers guard against these risks

Shareholding guidelines

The Articles of Association of NV and PLC do not require Directors
of NV ar Directors of PLC to hold shares in NV or PLC However,
the remuneration arrangements applicable to our Executive
Directors require them io build and retain a personal
shareholding in Unilever 400% of salary for the Chief Executive
Qfficer, 300% for other Executive Directors and the members of
the ULE and 150% for the top 100 management layer below The
current progress toward reaching the shareholding targets
[based on closing share prices on 30 December 2011} 1s Paut
Polman 744% and Jean-Marc Huet 255% Bonuses invested in
shares under the Share Matching Plan and the Management
Co-Investment Plan, including accrued dividends count towards
the guideline Unvested GSIP awards and matching shares under
the Share Matching Plan and the Management Co-Investment
Plan that are subject to performance conditions do not count
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued

Our Lnkage between business objectives and
performance-related pay

It1s Unitever s policy for the perfermance-related pay of Executive
Directars to be linked to key Group measures that are aligned with
strategy, business objectives and shareholder value

Unilever s main business objective I1s to generate a sustainable
improvement in business performance through increasing
volume and underlying sales growth while steadily improving
operating margins and cash flow There are a number of strateqic
priorities which suppoert this objective [tis this combination of
top-line revenue growth and botiom-line profits growth that
Unilever believes will build shareholder value over the longer
term Itis Unilever s objective to be among the best performersin
Its peer group

In ine with these objectives

the annual bonus measures for the Executive Directors for 2012
are

s underlying volurme growth,

* care operating margin improvement, and

+ underlying sales growth

The Commuttee also considers the quality of perforrmance bothin
terms of business results and leadership, including corporate
social responsibility, when determining bonus payouts

The GSIP and the MCIP measures from 2012 cnwards are three
year

« underlying sales growth,

» core operating margin improvement

» operating cash flow and

= relative total shareholder return

Core operating margin improvement has replaced underlying
operating margin improvement for 2012, reflecting the way In
which we measure and assess success agamnst this metric
throughout the business Core operating margin is calculated
after business restructuring costs, so that these costs will be
treated like any other business costs Core operating profit will
continue to exclude profits on business proposals, M&A-related
costs impawrments and cther one-off items

Sustainability of our business performance and our tmpact on the
wider soclety 1s very impartant to Unilever and therefore the
Committee also considers performance in this area when
determining vesting

Further details are in the Annual Benus, Share Matching Plan,
GSIP and MCIP sections later in this Directors Remuneration
Report

Claw back

The Committee 1s authorised to reclaim or claw back
performance-related pay components paid to Executive Directors
In the event of a significant downward revision of the financial
results of the Group This includes the annual bonus and awards
that have been made and/or vested shares that have been issued
or transferred under the Share Matching Plan, the GSIP and the
MCIP

52

Executive Directors’ contracts

Executive Directors are required to submit themselves for
re-election at the AGMs each year and the Nomination Committee
carefully considers each nomination for reappointment I
Executive Directors cease to be Directors this shall be deemed

a notice by Unilever of termination of employment The Committee
takes the view that the entitlernent of Executive Directors to the
security of twelve months notice of terrmination of employment 1s
in Line with both the practice of many comparable companies and
the entitlement of other senior exacutives in Unilever Itis our
policy to set the level of severance payments for Executive
Directors at no more than one years salary unless the Boards, at
the proposal of the Committee find this manifestly unreasonable
given the circumstances or unless dictated by applicable law Any
such payment would typically include amounts in respect of the
Director s benefits in kind and pensien entitlements Annual
bonus (as estimated by the Committee] and other share-based
awards would be made pro rata to the date of termination No
such compensation Is payable in the case of summary
termination The date of contract for Paul Polman was 7 Octeber
2008 and for Jean-Marc Huet 19 March 2010 Executive Directors
contracts end by notice of either party or, in the case of summary
termination without notice

Our remuneration practices

Base salary

Base salaries for Executive Directors are reviewed annually
taking into account our competitive market position individual
performance, Unitever s overall performance and levels of
increase In the rest of the crganisation

2011 outcomes

Base salaries for Executive Directors were not increased during |
2011 This means that the CEQ s salary has not been increased for |
the three years since his appointment and the CFO s salary has

not been increased for the two years since his appointment

See below under the section headed Proposed changes from
2012 onwards for the policy for 2012

Pension and other benefits

The policy 1s that Executive Directors are members of the
all-employee pension arrangement in their home country lor an
alternative of similar value] and make personal contributions at
the same rate as other amployees in that arrangement The
Chief Executwe Cfficer 1s a member of a defined contrnbutien
arrangement whilst the Chief Financial Officer withdrew from
his defined contribution arrangement during the year and elected
to receve an equivalent cash allowance instead

Executive Directors enjoy simtlar benefits to those enjoyed by
many other senior management employees of Unilever

See below under the section headed Proposed changes from
2012 onwards for the policy for 2012

Annual bonus

For 2011 the target bonus for the Chief Executive Officer was 120%
of salary and the maximum would have been 200% of salary The
target bonus opportunity for the Chief Financial Officer was 100%
of salary and the maximum would have been 150% of salary
Stretching targets for financial results mean that max:mum bonus
levels are only payable for exceptional performance
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The Executive Director s annual bonus opportunity 1s based on
Unitever s results referenced against financial targets set at the
beginning of the year For 2011 targets were set by the Commuittee
for underlying volume growth, underlying operating margin
imprevement and underlying sales growth over the previous year
With these results in view, the Committee then assessed the
quality of performance, both in terms of business results and
leadership including corparate social responsibility, to determine
the actual bonus award for Executive Directors

See below under the section headed Proposed changes from
2012 onwards for the policy for 2012

2011 outcomes

2011 was another year of growth despite difficult markets and the
external challenges facing the business We delivered a strong set
of financial results and made significant progress in the
implementation of our strategy

We set challenging bonus targets for 2011 reflecting our ambitious
growth cbjectives Qveralk the level of performance achieved was
as follows underlying sales growth above the target level
underlying volume growth slightly below the target level and
underlying operating margin slightly below the threshold level
The Commuttee considered performance against these stretching
targets as well as the quality of performance delivered and the
contribution of the Executive Directors to the sustainability of the
business and determined that the CEO should be awarded a
bonus of 135% of base salary in respect of 201 with the CFO
being awarded a bonus of 90% of base salary

Share Matching Plan

The 2011 grant relating to the annual bonus earned for 2010 was
the last grant under the Share Matching Plan Under the Share
Matching Plan Executive Directors are required to invest 25% of
their bonus into shares and hold them for a minimum period of
three years The Executive Directors receive a matching award of
25% of their annual bonus in the form of NV and PLC shares The
matching shares normally vest after three years provided that the
underlying shares have been retained during this period and the
Executive Director has not resigned or been dismissed

From 2012 the Executive Directors like all other senior managers
of Unilever will participate in the Management Co-Investment
Plan in respect of the 2011 bonuses

Management Co-Investment Plan [MCIP)

This plan aims to support Unilever s drive for profitable growth by
encouraging Unilever s managers to take a greater financial
interest in the performance of the Group and the value of Unilever
shares over the long term

Under the MCIP Executive Directors, the ULE and our top 100
managers are required to invest at least 25% and may invest up to
60% of their annual bonus in Unilever s shares They receve a
corresponding award of perfermance-related shares, which will
vest after three years depending on Unilever s performance,
continued employment and maintenance of the underlying
investment shares The performance conditions are (dentical to
the performance conditions of the GSIP [see below] to ensure
atignment with the drive for profitable growth As under the GSIP
vesting levels will be between 0% and 200% However the
Committee has decided to lirmit the maximum vesting level for the
Executive Directors to 150%
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For managers the first operation of the MCIP was in 2011 in
respect of annual bonuses relating to the 2010 financial year

On 17 February 2012 Paul Polman and Jean-Marc Huet first
participated in MCIP In respect of their annual bonus over 2013
Paul Polman invested 60% of his bonus which resulted in
17,772 NV and 17,772 PLC investment shares Jean-Marc Huet
Invested 25% of hus bonus which resulted 1in 3,649 NV and
3,649 PLC investment shares They each receved a
corresponding award of performance related NV and PLC
shares under the terms of the MCIP

Further information on the methods used to calculate expected
values for the Dhrectors share based pay can be found in Note 4C
on page 79

Global Share Incentive Plan [GSIP)

Executive Directors receive annual awards of NV and PLC shares
under the GSIP The number of shares that vest afier three

years depends on the satisfaction of performance conditions

The current maximum grant levels were agreed by shareholders
in 2008 and are 200% of salary for the Chief Executive Officer and
178% for other Executive Directors The vesting range 1s between
0% and 200% of grant level

Since 2010 the performance cenditions have been the following
* underlying sales growth,

* underlying cperating margin improvernent

* operating cash flow and

s relative total shareholder return

As from 2012 core operating margin improvement will replace
underlying operating margin improvement, reflecting the way in
which we measure and assess success against this metric
thraughout the bustness

For Executive Directors and the ULE the four measures are
equally weighted (25% each)

For the three internal business-focused cenditions there will be no
vesting If performance 1s below the minimurm of the range, 25%
vesting for achieving threshold performance and 200% vesting only
for performance at or above the top end of the range In addition
the performance conditions for underlying sales growth and core
operating margin improverment must reach the threshold of the
performance range for both performance conditions before any
shares subject to either performance condition can vest At the end
of the three-year performance peried the Committee will also
assess Unilever s performance against the three internal
conditions relative to the performance of peer group companies to
ensure that vesting levels are appropriate

For the relative tetal shareholder return (TSR] performance
condition, Unilever s TSR 1s measured relative to a group of 20
other companies TSR measures the returnreceived by a
shareholder, capturing both the increase in share price and the
value of dividend income [assuming dividends are reinvested] The
TSR results are compared on a single reference currency basis
No shares sn the portion of the award subject to TSR vest (f
Unilever i1s ranked below position 11 1n the peer group at the end of
the three-year period, 50% vest if Unileveris ranked 1ith, 100% if
Unilever s ranked 7th and 200% if Unilever 1s ranked 3rd or above
Straight-line vesting occurs between these points

53




Report of the Directors Governance

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION REPORT continued

As per 2011 the current TSR peer groups

Avon Heinz Nestle

Belersdorf Henkel PepsiCo
Campbell Kao Procter & Gamble
Caca-Cela Kellogg Reckitt Benckiser
Colgate Kimberly-Clark Sara Lee

Danone Kraft Shiseido

General Mills LOreal

See below under the section headed Proposed changes from
2012 onwards for the policy for 2012

To allow shareholders mere transparency [rear view mirror)
around the performance conditions related te cur long-term
incentives the Committee committed to disclose after the vesting,
where each performance condition ended up on a range from
threshold to maximum The GSIP vesting outcemes for 2011 and
2012 are set out below

2011 outcomes

In 2008, Paul Potman was granted a conditional award of

performance shares under the GSIP His target award [as a %

of base salaryl was 189% The performance period ran frem 1

January 2008 to 31 December 2010 The award was based on

¢ USG [underlying sales growth] 30% of the award

* UFCF [ungeared free cash flow performance] 30% of the
award and

* TSR 40% of the award

The vesting range 1s between 0% and 200% of grant level

In assessing Unilever s performance the Commuttee noted that

s USG was just below target at 5% with a vesting of 97%,

* UFCFwas just below target at €12 4 billbion with a vesting
of 7%, and

s Unilever was ranked 8th amongst its peer group in terms of
TSR with a vesting of 88%

The total overall vesting was 93%

2012 outcomes

In 2009, Paul Polman was granted & conditional target award of

190% under the GSIP The performance period ran from 1 January

2009 to 31 December 2011 The award was based on the same

performance conditions as set out above for the GSIP 2008 award

These were changed by the Commuttee with effect from 2010 as

follows

* USG 25% of the award

s OCF [operating cash flow] 25% of the award,

* UOMI underlying operating marqin improvement] 25% of the
award and

* TSR 25% of the award whereas in 2009 the weighting % was
40%)

In addition, the conditions USG and UOMI must reach the
threshold of the performance range for both performance
conditions before any shares subject to either performance
condition can vest The vesting range 1s between 0% and 200% of
grant level
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Due to the change of the performance targets effective in 2010,

the GSIP maturing at the end of 2011 comprised two parts the

first for 2009, the results for which had already been reviewed and

approved by the Commiitee in 2010 as follows

+ USG was Just below target at 3 5% with a vesting of 76%, and

* UFCF significantly exceeded the maximum performance level
at €5 2 billion, with a vesting of 200%

The secend part for the period 2010 through 2011 the Committee

determined that

* USG was just above target at 5 3% with a vesting of 118%

¢ OCFwas just below target at €7 billion with a vesting of 85%,

+ UOMI was Just above threshold at 4bps with a vesting of 40%
and

* interms of TSR which was measured over the full
perfermance period [2009-2011) Unilever was ranked 10th
amongst its peer group with avesting of 63%

In combination with the results for the 2009 period these
outcomes resulted in a overall vesting of 87% This grant will vest
on 19 March 2012

The Committee reviewed the above vesting outcomes for the GSIP
2008 and 2009 awards and considered that both were appropriate
and in Line with the underlying performance of the business and
agamnst key peers

Ultimate remedy

Grants under the MCIP and GSIP are subject to ultimate remedy
Upon vesting of an award the Committee shall have the
discretionary power to adjust thevalue of the award If the award,
in the Committee s opinion taking all circumstances into account
produces anunfair result In exercising this discretion the
Committee may take into account Unilever s perfoermance against
non-financial measures The Committee will only adjust the value
of a vesting award upwards after obtaining shareholder consent

Dividend reinvestment

Both MCIP and GSIP provide that dividends will also be
re-invested in respect of the shares under award but will only be
paid out to the extent that the underlying shares vest

Serving as non-executive on the board of another company
Executive Directors serving as a non-executive director on a
board of anather company are permitted to retain all
remuneration and fees earned from outside directorships subject
to a maximum of one outside listed directorship (see Other
appointments on page 34 for further detaits) Paul Polman s a
non-executive director of The Dow Chemical Company and
received an annual fee of €82 408 [based on the average exchange
rate over the year €1 =US%13955) In addition he received a
restricted award of 2,850 ordinary shares with a nominal value of
US $2 50 per share in the capital of The Dow Chernical Company
The shares include the rights ta vote and to receive dividend
thereon The shares cannot be sold or transferred until Paul
Polman leaves the board of directors of The Dow Chemicat
Company but not earlier than 7 March 2013
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2011 Summary Remuneration [unaudited)
The table below summarises total remuneration paid to Executive
Directors for 2011

Remuneration paid in 2011

Element " cEo cFo

(£ 000) € 000)
Base Salary 920 680
Allowances and benefits' 156 269
Annual Bonus? 1,242 612
GSIP performance shares? 2,303 -
GSIP restricted shares* 951 812
Pension® 3% 124
Total Remuneration paid 5,888 2,497

For the CEQ this includes an allowance in Lieu of company car an
entertaining allowance medical insurance private use of chauffeur-driven
car tax return preparation and payment to protect him against the
difference between the employee social security obligations in his country
cf residence versus the UK

For the CFO thisincludes an allowance in lieu of company car an
entertaining allowance an arnual housing allewance medical insurance
tax return preparation private use of chauffeur-driven car and an annual
educatien allowance he is entitled to per child of scheeol age

Benus paid in 2012 based on performance in the year ended 31 December
201

GSIP awards vesting in the year based on performance in the three-year
period to 31 December 2010

Restricted awards vesting in the year These were one-off awards made to
Executive Directors under the GSIP on appointment

® Including the cost of death in service benefits and the cost of pension
admimstration

~

w

IS

Amounts have been translated into euros using the average
exchange rate over the year £1=£0 8692

Proposed changes from 2012 enwards

Base salary

In last year s Directers Remuneration Report we communicated
that during the course of 2011 the Committee would be taking a
closer look at the competitive positioning of our Executive
Directors salaries The Committee undertook such a review
during the year and approved the foltowing annual salary
Increases In respect of 2012

* 8% to £975,200 for the CED,

* 5% to £714,000 for the CFO

However, the Commuttee 1s mindful of the difficult and uncertain
economic circumstances prevailing at this ime Consequently,
the implementation of these salary increases will be deferred
until such Later time as the Comrmitiee consider it appropnate
When and tf these salary increases are implemented they will not
be backdated, salaries will be paid at the higher level only from
the implementation date onwards The Committee will use the
higher approved salary levels (£975,200 for the CEQ and £714,200
for the CFO) as the respective base points for caleutating 2012
Incentive payments

These salary increases are in line with the salary increases that

have been awarded to other high-performing UK/European
employees at Unilever
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The Commuttee will continue to keep the positioning of base
salaries under review, particularly for the CEO, whose current
salary s positioned at the lower end of market practice compared
te similar sized UK and European companies The Comrmttee will
therefore look to make furtherincreases as apprepriate to
address this aver the next fewyears

Fixed pension and benefit allowance

In order ta simplify the provision of benefits and increase
transparency, from 2012 the current benefit and pension provision
will be replaced by a fixed cash allowance of £250 000 for the CEQ
and £340 000 for the CFO This consolidated allowance reflects
the approach taken during 2011 for other senior executives at
Unilever The level of fixed allowance provided to the CFO will be
reduced over the next four years to reflect the phasing out of his
annual housing allowance to mlin 2015 Hes fixed allowance will
therefore be reduced to £220,0001n 2015

In addition Unilever will continue to provide death, disability and
medical insurance cover for Executive Directors Unilever will
also continue to pay social security obligations in the CEQ s
country of residence and maintain the CEO s hiring in agreement
of a cenditional supplemental pension accrual which will be
capped from 2012 onwards at 12% of the lower of actual salary or
current salary plus 3% pa Accordingly, the cap for this accrual
has been set at £947,600 for 2012

Annual bonus

There will be no change te the annual bonus oppertunity for 2012
The target opportunity far the CEO will remain at 120% of salary
with the maximum opportunity being 200% of salary This level of
bonus will only be paid for exceptional performance The target
opportunity for the CFO will continue to be 100% of salary with the
opportunity to earn 150% of salary for exceptional performance

The performance conditions for 2012 will be the same as for 2011
as outlined on page 52

GSIP

For 2012 the target level of GSIP award for the CED will be 200% of
salary {190% for 2011] This level of award 15 within the lLimuts
previously approved by shareholders The target GSIP award for
the CFO will be 175% of salary (178% for 2011]

Executive Directors will continue to be able to earn between 0 and
2 tmes the target award depending on performance The

performance conditions for 2012 are cutlined on page 52

The Committee intends to keep the annual bonus and GSIP
opportunities for the CEO at the current levels at least until 2014
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Executive Directors' rernuneration tn 2011
Remuneration for individual Executive Directors [audited)

Annual Emoluments 2011
Allowances
Base and ather Value of Share

salary payments benefits Bonus Sub Total Pension awards Total

Name and base country €°000 € 000 € 000 € 000 €'000 € 000 € 000 € 000
Paul Polman [UKjl! 1,058 149 e 1,429 2,647 363 3,6314 5,661
Jean-Marc Huet [UK) 782 285" 24 704 1,795 143 2,009 3,947
Total 2011 1,840 434 55 2,133 4,462 506 5,640 10,408
Total 2010 (including former Directors) 1,600 1,022 7 2,349 4,978 464 4,306 9,748

latChief Executive Officer Base salary set in sterling was £920 000 per annum

®ncludes allowance in lieu of company car entertaining allowance of £1 000 and payment to protect against the difference between the employee social
secunity obligations in his country of residence versus the UK He also recerved a further payment of £91 234 10 2011 in relation to his social security
obligations for 2009 and 2010 following a reconciliation for those years

ncludes benefits for medical insurance tax return preparation and private use of chauffeur-driven car

“IBonus for the full year 2011 Includes the value of beth the cash element and the element paid in shares of NV and PLC under the MCIP It does not include
matching shares awarded on a conditional bagis in addition to the element of bonus paid in shares

“ Chief Financial Officer Base salary set in sterling was £680 000 per annum

"Includes allowance in lieu of company car entertaining allowance of £1 000, annual housing allowance and annual education allowance of £16 000 net per
child of schosl age

ICosts are non-cash and relate to the expanses following IFRS2 Based on share prices on grant dates and $8% adjustment factor for GSIP shares awarded in
2011 and 2010 and 89% adjustment facter for GSIP shares awarded in 2009 and 2008 to take account of the external performance cendition TSR for GSIP

In addition, Unilever provides support to Executive Directors in relation to spouses travel expenses when travelling together on
company business This amount s capped at 5% of base salary and the maximum Umit for 2011 was €92 039

Amounts have been translated inte euros using the average exchange rate over the year €1=1£08692(2010 €1 = £0 858)and €1=US
$13955 (2010 €1=US $1324|

Pensions (audited)

Paul Polman 1s a member of a defined contribution pension arrangement The total pension cost including death In service benefits and

administration costs and the company s conditional supplemental pension provision was £363,000 This total pension cost breaks down

as follows

- company coniribution towards defined contribution pension plan €140,000

- additional campany contribution [made in return for his individual salary sacrifice) towards defined contribution pension plan
£€32,000%,

- costs of provision for death in service benefits and admimstration €43,000,

- company s supplemental penston provision, which is conditienat on the CEO remaining in employment with Unilever to age 60 and
subsequently retiring from active service or his death or total disability prier to retirement €128,000

Jean-Marc Huet participated 1n a defined contribution pension arrangement from January to March 2011 but with effect from April 2011
he elected to cease pension provision and receive an equivalent payment in cash in leu of pension The total pension cost for Jean-Marc
Huet was €143,000 This total pension cost breaks down as follows

From January 2011 to March 2011 the total cost was €44,000 of which

- company contribution towards defined contribution pension plan €30,000,

- additional company contribution [made in return for his indwidual salary sacrifice) towards defined contribution pension plan
€46 000*

- deathin service benefits and administration €8,000

From April 2011 to December 2011, the total cost was £99,000 of which
- cash payment of €89 000,
- deathn service benefits €10 000

*This amount 1s paid frem within [not in addition to] the salary reported in preceding sections of this Directors Remuneration Repart
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Balance of Balance of

conditional shares Conditional shares conditional shares at

at 1 January 2011 awarded in 2011W 31December 2011

Share type No of shares No of shares Price at award No of shares

Paul Polrnan NV 12,8970 9,932 €215%9 22,829
PLC 12,8970 9932 £18 35 22,829

Jean-Marc Huet NV - 5,047 €2159 5,047
PLC - 5,047 £18,35 5,047

“Each award of matching shares is conditional and vests three years after the date of the award subject to continued employment and maintenance of the
underlying benus shares The Committee considers that there 1s no nead for further performance conditions on thevesting of the matching shares because
the number of shares 1s directly linked to the annual benus [which s itself subject to demanding performance conditions] In addition during the vesting
period the share price of NVand PLC s influenced by the performance of Unilever The 2011 award was made at grant date 14 March 2011

o Of which 3 413 shares awarded on 19 March 2009 and 9 484 shares on 18 March 2010

Global Share Incentive Plan (audited)

The following conditional shares were granted during 2011 and outstanding at 31 December 2011 under the Global Share Incentive Plan

Balance of
conditional Balance of
shares at Conditional conditicnal shares
1 January shares awarded at 31 December
2011 In 2019 2011
[Performance Dividend
Dividend  period 1 January shares
shares 2011to accrued Vastad
Original accruedn 31 Dacamber  Priceat during the in  Lapsed Pricaat
Share type award  prioryears 20121 award year'™™ 2011 1n2011  vesting
Paul Polman NV 172,099 1,219 47173 €2159 3,176 54,640 [4,112) €24 &0 164,915
PLC 172,099" 1,410 47173 £18 35 3,588 54,640 [(4,112) £2077 165,518
Jean-Marc Huet NV 30,904 854 32,665 €2159 2,214 - 66,639
PLC 30,906 987 32,665 £1835 2,500 - 67,058

" Each award of conditional shares vests three years after the dzate of the award subject to performance conditions as set out on page 52 The 2011 award was

made at grant date 14 Marcn 2011

®This includes a grant of 58 752 of each of Unilever NV and PLC shares made on é November 2008 2 grant of 6% 210 of each of Unilever NV and PLC shares
made on 19 March 2009 and a grant of 44 137 of each of Unilever NV and PLC shares made on 18 March 2010 The first grant vested on & November 2011 the

second and third grant will vest on 19 March 2012 and 18 March 2013 respectively
©This grant was made on 18 March 2010 and willvest on 18 March 2013
¥ The & November 2008 grant vested on 6 Novernber 2011 at 93%

Both Paul Polman and Jean-Marc Huet received a one-off restricted stock award on joining Unitever under the GSIP Details of

balances, grants and vesting during 2011 are shown below

Balance of Balance of

shares at shares at

1 January 31 December

20M Granted in 2011 Vestingin 2011 201

Share type No of shares Price at award No ofshares Price at vesting No ofshares

Paul Polman's! NV 22,551 - - 22,551 €24.60 -
PLC 22,551 - - 22,551 €2077 -

Jean-Marc Huet® NV 65,650 - - 21,883 €21 22 43,767
PLC 65,650 - - 21,883 £18 20 53,767

Vesting on é November 2011 of remaining 1/3 of original award [made 6 Novernber 2008 at €18 93 and £14 39) The first 1/3 of the original award vested on &

Novernber 2009 The secand 1/3 of the eriginal award vested on § November 2010

tyesting on 18 March 2011 of 1/3 of oniginal award [made 18 March 2010 at €22 53 and £19 44) The second and thard 1/3 of the eriginal award will vest on 18

March 2012 and 18 March 2013 respectively

Share Save Plan (audited)

Options under the PLC Share Save Plan are subject to five-year vesting perieds and vesting Is contingent on continued emplayment with Unilever

Batante of Balance of
options at Granted options at First Final
Share type 1January 20119 n 2011 31 December 2011 exarasable date expiry date
Paul Polman PLC 1,042 - 1,042 01/10/2014 01/04/2015

W Qption price at grant was £14 92
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The highest and lowest share price per ordinary PLC 3%p share during the year were £21 73 and £1793 and the market price per
ordinary PLC 3'%p share at year end was £21 63

Executive Directors’ interests in shares [audited)

Share type™ Shares held at 1 January 2011% Shares held at 31 December 20114
Paul Polman NV 111,953 173,401
PLC 70,033 131,481
Jean-Marc Huet NV 23,000 38,7469
PLC 23,000 38,769

bl NV shares are ordinary €0 16 shares and PLC shares are ordinary 3%p shares
" Numbers are axcluding awards and options over shares which are disclosed above

The table shows the interest in NV and PLC ordinary shares of Executive Directors and their connected persons as at 31 December 2013
On 17 February 2012 Paul Polman and Jean-Marc Huet invested 40% and 25% respectively of their annual bonus over 2011 1n the MCIP
This resulted in 17,772 NV and 17772 PLC investment shares for Paul Polman and 3,649 NV and 3,649 PLC investment shares for
Jean-Marc Huet They each received a corresponding award under the MCIP of performance-related NV and PLC shares, which will vest
after three years depending on Unilever s performance continued employment and maintenance of the underlying investment shares

The vating rights of the Directors who held interests in the share capital of NV and PLC are the same as for other holders of the class of
shares indicated None of the Directors [Executive and Non-Executive] or cther executive officers shareholdings amounts to more than
1% of the tssued shares in that class of share Except as stated above all shareholdings are beneficial

Non-Executive Directors

Terms and conditions

The terms of engagement of Non-Executive Directors are set out in letters of appointment Non-Executive Directors are appointad for a
three-yaar term, subject to satisfactory performance and re-neminabion and re-election at forthceming annual shareholder meetings
Non-Executwe Directers may terminate their engagement upon three months notice The letters of appointment do nct cantain
provision for notice periods or for compensation If their appointments are terminated by Unilever

Details of Non-Executive Directors letters of appointment can be found in the table below

Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment

Date first appointed Effective date of current Date hirst appointed Effective date of current
Non-Executive Director to the Board letter of appointment  Non=Executive Director tothe Board letter of appointment
Michael Treschow 16 May 2007 15 May 2007 Hixonia Nyasulu 16 May 2007 15 May 2007
Louise Fresco 14 May 2009 25May 2009  Sir Malcolm Rifkind 12 May 2010 13 May 2010
Ann Fudge 14 May 2009 6 July 2009  Kees Storm ? May 2006 15 May 2007
Charles Golden 9 May 2006 17 May 2007  Paul Walsh 14 May 2009 27 May 2009
Byron Grote 9 May 2004 16 May 2007 Jeroen van der Veer® § May 2002 14 May 2007
Sunil B Mittal 12 May 2011 17 May 2013
I Retired at AGMs in May 2011
Non-Executive Directors’ fees Fee levels
Non-Executive Directors receive annual fees from NV and PLC Fee levels paid in 2011 remained unchanged over those paid in
No other remuneration is given in respect of their non-executive 2010 and are as fellows
duties The Boards determine non-executive fee levels within a
tatal annual imit specifted in PLC s Articles of Association In NV PLC
2008 shareholders approved an increase in the Lmit for PLC to Chairman €355 000 and  £237500

£2,000,000 and €3 000 000 for NV

Vice-Chairman/Senior
Independent Director €85,800 and £82 500

Chairman of the Audit Committee €55000 and £38,000

Unilever s fee levels reflect the commitment and contribution
expected by the Group Fee levels are also benchmarked at
regular intervats against those paid tn other global non-financial Board Committee Chairman €50,000  and  E35000

companies based in Europe Non-Executive Directors €45,000  and £31,000

Personal shareholding

The Committee has agreed to encourage the Non-Executive
Directors to build up a personal shareholding of at least one imes
their annuat fees cver the five years from 1 January 2012

[or appeintment if later) This principle, together with the new fee
structure for Non-Executive Directors [see below under the
section Fee levels ) has been endorsed by the Boards

An additicnal set fee of €3,625 and £2,500 per Board meeting 1s
paid to Non-Executive Directors for intercontinental travel when
Jjoining Board meetings, where applicable

With effect from 1 January 2012 Unilever will move to a modular
fee structure which better reflects the roles and responsibiliies
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of individual Board members with separate fees for Commuttee
membership and Chairmanship We have set a reference point for
fees in pounds sterling [£] and then split the fees 50/50 between PLC
and NV at a £/€ exchange rate of 0 877 as per Unilever s Controllers
department s exchange rate as of the 3¢ Quarter 2011 Fees for
Chawman and Vice-Chairman would reman allinclusive as follows

NV PLC
Charman €313,570 and  £275.000
Vice-Chairman €94 070 and £82 500
Basic Non-Executiva fag €42 760 and £37,500
Committee Chair.
Audit €17,100 and £15,000
Nomination £11,400 and £10,000
Remuneration £11400 and £10 000
Corporate Responsibility
and Reputation €11,400 and £10 000
Commttee Members
Audit €8 550 and £7500
Nomination €5 700 and £5.000
Remuneration €5,700 and £5 000
Corporate Responsibility
and Reputation €5,700 and £5,000

In moving to the new modular fee structure the intercontinental
travel allowance will be discontinued and three Non-Executive
Directors will receive a one-off fee of £10,0001n 2012 to
compensate thern for the removal of this allowance

Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration in 2011 (audited)

Tetal faes Total fees
paidn paidin
20 20108
Non-Executive Directors €000 €000
Michael Treschow® 635 638
Louise Fresco 87 28
Ann Fudge 113 120
Charles Golden 113 120
Byron Grote 87 88
Sunil B Mittal® 59 ~
Hixonia Nyasulu 113 120
Sir Malcolm Rifkind 97 b4
Kees Stormf 160 106
Paul Walsh 94 88
Former Directors
Jeroenvan der Veerl 75 188
Otherg® - 125
Total 1,633 1745

@ Covers fees recewed from both NV in euras and PLC in steriing Includes set fees

for intercontinental travel of £3 625 [via NV] and £2 500 [wa PLC] when joining
Board meetings 1f applicable Total amount for travel fee in 2011 1s €145 593

% Chairman

i Appointed at 2011 AGMs

M Keas Storm appointed as Vice-Chairman and Senior Independent Director
at AGMs in May 2011

WReured at AGMs in May 2011

" tneludes Leon Brittan Wim Dik and Narayana Murthy who retired at AGMs
in May 2010
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Non-Executive Directors’ interests in share capital (audited]

Shares Shares held
held at 1 at31
January December

Share type® 20119 2011
Michael Treschow NV 15,158 15158
PLC 15,000 15000
Louise Fresco NV 1,000 1,000
PLC - -
Ann Fudge NV NY - -
PLC ADRs 1,000 1,000
Charles Golden NV NY 1,000 1,000
PLC ADRs - -
Byron Grote NV NY 5,300 6,000
PLC ADRs 5,000 5,000
Hixoria Nyasulu NV - -
PLC - 150
Malcolm Rifkind NV - -
PLC - 1,660
Paul Walsh NV - -
PLC 1,000 1000

W NV shares are ordinary €0 16 shares and PLC shares are ordinary 3%p
shares

The table shows the interests in NV and PLC ordinary shares of
Non-Executive Directors and their connected persons as at 31
December 2011 There has been no change in these interests
between 31 December 2011 and 28 February 2012

Additional statutory disclosures

Unilever 1s required by UK regulation to show its retative share
performance, based on Tetal Shareholder Return, against a
hotding of shares n a broad-based equity index for the last five
years The Committee has decided to show Unilever s
performance against the FTSE 100 Index London and also the
furanext 100 index [AEX], Amsterdam as these are the most
relevant indices in the UK and the Netherlands where we have our
principal listings

Five-Year Historical TSR Performance

The table below includes

- Growth i the value of a hypothetical £100 holding over five
years FTSE 100 comparison based on 30-trading-day average
values, and
Growth in the value c¢f a hypothetical €100 investment over five
years AEX comparison based on 30-trading-day average
values

RRESSIN

——

This Directors Remuneration Report has been approved by the
Boards and signed on their behalf by Tonia Lovell - Chief Legal
Officer and Group Secretary
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Financial statements

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES

Annual accounts

The Directors are required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Civil Code in
the Netherlands and the United Kingdom Companies Act 2006 to
prepare accounts for each financial year which give 3 true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Unilever Group and the NV and
PLC entities, as at the end of the financial year and of the profit or
loss and cash flows for that year

The Directors consider that in preparing the accounts, the Group
and the NV and PLC entities have used the most appropriate
accounting policies, consistently applied and supported by
reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates, and that all
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU
and 3s 1ssued by the International Accounting Standards Board
[in the case of the consolidated financial statements) United
Kingdom accounting standards [in the case of the parent company
accounts] and Dutch law [in the case of the NV parent company
accounts) which they consider to be applicable have been
followed

The Directors have responsibility for ensuring that NV and PLC
keep accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy
their financial position and which enable the Directors to ensure
that the accounts comply with the relevant legislation They also
have a general responsibility for taking such steps as are
reasonably open to thern to safeguard the assets of the Group,
and to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularties

This statement which should be read in conjunction with the
Auditors reports, 15 made with a view to distinguishing for
shareholders the respective responsibilities of the Directors
and of the auditors in relation to the accounts

A copy of the financial statemnents of the Unilever Group 1s

placed on our website at www unilever com/investorrelations The
maintenance and integrity of the website are the responsibility of
the Directors, and the work carried out by the auditors does not
involve consideration of these matters Accordingly the auditors
accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred
to the financial statements since they were initially placed on the
website Legisiation in the United Kingdom and the Netherlands
governing the preparation and dissermination of financial
staternents may differ from legis{ation in other jurisdictions

UK law sets out additional responsibilities for the Directers of PLC
regarding disclosure of information to auditors Disclosure in
respect of these responsibilities 1s made on page 122
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Directors’ responsibility statement

Each of the Directors confirms that, ta the best of his or her

knowledge

+ The financial statements which have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the EU and as i1ssued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (in the case of the consolidated
financial staterments] and United Kingdom accounting
standards [in the case of the PLC parent company accounts)
and United Kingdom accounting standards and Part % of Book
2 of the Duteh Civil Code [in the case of the NV parent company
accounts], give a true and fair view of the assets liabilities,
financial position and profit or less of the Group and the NV and
PLC enuies taken as 2 whole, and

* The Report of the Directorsincludes a fair review of the
development and performance of the business and the position
of the Group and the NV and the PLC entities taken as a whole,
together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties they face

The BDirectors and their roles are listed on pages 34 and 40

Going concern

The activities of the Group, together with the factors likely to affect
its future development, performance the financial position of the
Group 1ts cash flows, Liquidity position and borrowing facilities
are described in About Unilever and the Financial review 201t on
pages 1to 27 In addition, we describe in note 16 cn pages 93 te 99
the Group s objectives policies and processes for managing its
capital its financial risk management objectives, details of its
financial Instruments and hedging activities, and its exposures to
credit and bquidity risk

The Group has considerable financial resources together with
established business relationships with many customers and
suppliers in countries throughout the world As a consequence,
the Directors believe that the Group 1s well placed to manage its
business risks successfully despite the current uncertain outlook

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue In
operational existence for the foreseeable future Accordingly, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Annual
Report and Accounts

Internal and disclosure controls and procedures
Please refer to pages 28 to 32 for a discusston of Unilever s
principal risk factors and to page 33 for commentary on the
Group s approach o risk management and control
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AUDITOR’S REPORT NETHERLANDS

Independent auditor’s report
To the General Meeting of Shareholders of Unilever N.V.

Report on the consolidated financial statements

Woe have audited the accompanying consolidated financial
statements 2011 as sel out on pages &4 to 110 which are part of
the Annual Report and Accounts 2011 of the Unilever Group for the
year ended 31 December 2011, which comprise the consolidated
income statement, consolidated staternent of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated
balance sheet, consolidated cash flow statement and the notes to
the consclidated financial statements, comprising a summary of
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information

Directors’ responsibility

The Drrectors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reperting Standards as
adopted by the European Union and as 1ssuved by the International
Accounting Standards Board and with Part 9 of Bock 2 of the
Dutch Cwil Code, and for the preparation of the Report of the
Directors in accordance with Part ¢ of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil
Code Furthermare, the Directors are responsible for such
internal control as they determine I1s necessary to enable the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstaternent, whether due to fraud or error

Auditor's responsibility

Cur responsibility 1s to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit We conducted our audit
in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on
Auditing This requires that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to ohtain reasonable assurance
about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from matenal misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements The procedures selected depend on the auditor s
Judgement, including the assessment of the risks of materiat
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error In making those risk assessments, the
auditor considers internal control relevant to the company s
preparation and fair presentaticn of the consclidated financial
staternents in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpese of
expressing an opinton on the effectiveness of the company s
internal control An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial staterments
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion

Opinion with respect to the consolidated financial statements

In our opinion, the consolidated financial staterments give a true
and fair view of the financial position of Unilever Group as at

31 December 2011, and of its result and its cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union and as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Beard and with Part § of Book
2 of the Dutch Civil Code

Separate report on company accounts
We have reported separately on the company accounts of Unilever
NV for the year ended 31 December 2011

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Pursuant to the legal requirement under Section 2 393 sub § at
e and f of the Dutch Civil Code, we have no deficiencies to report
as a result of our examination whether the Report of the
Directars, to the extent we can assess, has been prepared in
accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of this Code, and whether the
infermation as required under Section 2 392 sub 1 at b-h has
nannexed Furtherwe reportthat the Report of the Directors,
extent e can assess, 1s consistent with the consolidated
al statgdnents as required by Section 2 391 sub 4 of the
il Code

Amsterdam, 28 February 2012
PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants N V

R A JSwaak RA
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AUDITOR’S REPORT UNITED KINGDOM

Independent auditor’s report to the members
of Unilever PLC

We have audited the group hinancial staternents of Unilever Group
for the year ended 31 December 2011 which comprise the
consolidated income statement, consolidated statement ol
comprehensive Income consolidated statement of changes in
equity, consolidated balance sheet consolidated cash flow
statement and the related notes on pages 64 te 110 The financial
reporting framework that has been applied 1n their preparation 1s
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards
[tFRSs) as adopted by the European Union

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors
responsibilities set out on page 61, the Directors are responsible
for the preparation of the group financial statemenis and for being
sausfied that they give a true and fair view Qur responsibility s to
audit and express an opirton on the group financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and International Standards on
Auditing [UK and Ireland] Those standards require us to comply
with the Auditing Practices Board s Ethical Standards for

Audiiors

This report including the opinions, has been prepared for and
only for the parent company s members as a body in accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 14 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no
other purpose We do not, in giving these opinions accept or
assurme responsibility for any other purpose or 1o any other
person to whom this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may
come save where expressiy agreed by our prior consent in writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures In the financial statements sufficient to give
reasonable assurance that the group financial statements are
free from material misstatement whether caused by fraud or
error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Group s circumstances and have
been consistently applied and adeguately disclosed Lhe
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the
Directors, and the overall presentation of the group financial
statements In addition we read all the inanciat and non-financial
information in the Annual Report and Accounts 2011 to 1dentify
materiat inconsistencres with the audited financial statements |
we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report
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Opinion on financiat statements

In our opinion the group financial statements

+ give atrue and fair view of the state of the Group s affairs as at
31 December 2011 and of its profit and cash flows for the year
then ended,

« have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as
adopted by the European Union, and

» have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the Companes Act 2006 and Article 4 of the LAS Regulation

Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs as i1ssued by the [ASB

As explained in note 1 to the group financiat statements, the
Group in additien to complying with its legal cbligation to apply
IFRSs as adopted by the Eurapean Union, has also applied IFRSs
as 1ssued by the International Accounting Standards Beard HASB]

In our opinion the group financial staternents comply with IFRSs
as Issued by the JASB

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion, the information given in the Dhirectors Report set
out on pages 121 and 122 for the hinancial year for which the group
Iinancial statements are prepared is consistent with the group
financial staternents

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required 1o report to you if

Inour opinion

s certain disclosures of Directors remuneration spectfied by law
are not made or

* we have not received alt the information and explanations we
require for our audit

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review

» the Directors statement, setout on page 61 1n relatien to going
concern,

= the part of the Corporate governance statement relating to the
parent company s comgliance with the nine provisions of the
UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review, and

+ certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on
Directors remuneration

Qther matters

We have reported separately on the parent company financial
statements of Unilever PLC for the year ended 31 December 2011
and on the infermation in the Directors Remuneration Report that
1s descpib ving been audited

hn Baker
[Sensor Statutory Auditor]

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers 1P
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London

28 February 2012
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP

Consolidated income statement

for the year ended 31 December

€mllicn € million € million
20m 2010 2009
Turnover 2 46,467 44,262 39823
Operating profit 2 8,433 6,339 5,020
After [charging)/crediting
Restructuring 3 (812) (589] 18971
Business disposals impairments and other ane-off tems 2 144 308 29
Net finance costs 5 (377 (394 (593)
Finance income 92 77 75
Finance costs (540) 1491) [504)
Pensions and similar obligations il 20 [164]
Share of net profit/(loss] of joint ventures and associates 11 113 m 15
Other income from non-current investments 15A 76 76 374
Profit before taxation 6,245 6132 4914
Taxation 6 i1,622) (1 534) (1,257]
Net profit 4,623 4,598 3,659
Attributable io
Non-controlling interesis 3N 354 289
Shareholders eguity 4,252 4 244 3370
Combined earnings per share 7
Basic earnings per share (€] 151 151
Diluted earnings per share (€] 146 146

References in the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive iIncome, consolidated statement of
changes in equity, consolidated balance sheet and consolidated cash flow statement relate to notes on pages 48 to 108, which form
an integral part of the consolidated financial statements
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

for the year ended 31 December

Financial statements

€ millien € rmullion € mitlion
20m 2010 2009
Fair value gains/[losses] on financial instruments net of tax
0On cash flow hedges [148) 4 40
On available-for-sale financiat assets (20) 2 65
Actuanial gans/(losses) on pension schemes net of tax 11,2431 105 18
Currency retranslation gains/{losses] net of tax™ (703) 460 396
Other comprehensive income (2,114} 408 519
Net profit 4,623 4598 3,659
Total comprehensive ncome 18 2,509 5,204 4,178
Attributable to
Non-controtling interests 314 412 30
Shareholders equity 2,195 4,794 3877
Wlaciudes fair value gains/llosses) on net investment hedges of €45 millioa {2010 €107 millon 2009 €[58] million)
Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December
€ million € million € million
20M 2010 2009
Equity at 1 January 15,078 12,536 10,372
Total comprehensive iIncome for the year 2,509 5206 4,178
Dividends on ordinary capital 12,487) (2,209] {2,115]
Movement 11 treasury stock 48 126 129
Share-based payment credit 105 144 195
Dvidends pad 1o minority sharehalders (288) {289} (244]
Currency retranslation gains/(losses] net of tax 4] 2 3
Dther movements in equity 231 {84) 18
Equity at 31 December 18 14,921 15078 12534

For further information on movements in equity please refer to note 18 on pages 100 and 101
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP continued

Consolidated balance sheet

as at 31 December

€ millicn € million
2011 2010
Assets
Non-currentassets
Goodwill 9 14,896 13,143
Intangible assets ¢ 7,017 5,090
Property plant and equipment 10 8,774 7854
Pension asset for funded schemes in surplus 4B 1,003 918
Deferred tax assets 6B 421 607
Financial assets 15A 478 SN
Other nan-current assets 11 632 523
33,221 28 638
Current assets
Inventories 12 4,601 4307
Trade and other current recewvables 13 4,513 £142
Current tax assets 219 298
Cash and cash equivalents 15A 3,484 2316
Other financial assets 154 1,453 550
Non-current assets held for sale 22 21 921
14,291 12,534
Total assets 47,512 41172
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Financial Labilities 158 5,840 2,274
Trade payables and other current liabilities 14 10,971 10,23%
Currenttax Uabilitnes 725 642
Provisions 17 393 421
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 22 - 30
17929 13 608
Non-current Liabilities
Financial Liabilities 158 7,878 1,258
Non-current tax Liabilities 258 184
Pensions and post-retirement healthcare Labilities
Funded schemes indeficit 4B 2,295 1081
Unfunded schemes 4B 1.1 1,899
Provisions 17 208 884
Deferred tax labilities 68 1,125 380
Other nan-current lisbilities 14 287 298
14,662 12 486
Total Labilities 32,591 26,094
Equity
Shareholders’ equity
Called up share capital 18 484 48B4
Share preruum 18 137 134
Other reserves 18 (6,004) (5,408]
Retained profut 18 19,676 19273
Shareholders’ equity 14,293 14 485
Non-centrolling interests 18 628 593
Total equity 14921 15078
Total Liabilities and equity 47,512 41172

These financial statements, toggther with the?{:orth/rectors, have been approved by the Directors
L
VLL‘( /[ .

The Board of Directors
28 February 2012 MICHALL TEESCHOW
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Consolidated cash flow statement

for the year ended 31 December

€ millsion € million € millen
201 2010 2009
Net profit 4,623 4,598 3 659
Taxation 1,622 1,534 1257
Share of net profit of joint ventures/associates and other income fram nen-current investments (189) (187} (489
Net finance costs 377 394 893
Finance incore (921 (77 (75]
Finance cost 540 451 504
Pensions and simlar obligations (71 (20 164
Operating profit 6,433 6,339 5020
Depreciation amortisation and impairment 1,029 993 1032
Changes in working capital (1177) 169 1701
Inventories (219} [573) 473
Trade and other current recewvables 1399) (343] 640
Trade payables and other Liabilities 441 1085 588
Pensions and similar cbligations less payments (553) 1472) (1028)
Provisions less payments E) 72 [258]
Elimination of [profitsl/losses cn disposals {215} [474] 13
Non-cash charge for share-based compensation 105 144 195
Other adjustments 8 49 58
Cash flow from operating activities 6,639 6,818 6,733
Income tax paid (1,187} (1 328) [959)
Net cash flow from operating activities 5,452 5,490 577
Interest recewed 93 70 73
Purchase of intangible assets (264) 177 n21)
Purchase of property plant and equipment [1.835) [1,638] (1248]
Disposal of property plant and equipmant 125 14 m
Acquisition of group companies joint ventures and associates (3,098) (1,252] {409]
Disposal of group companies joint ventures and associates 1,378 891 270
Acquisiticn of other non-current investrnents [a8) (85t (95]
Disposal of other non-current investments 178 151 224
Owidends from joint ventures associates and other non-current investments 116 184 20
[Purchasel/sale of financial assets 11,072) 578 [269]
Net cash flow [used inl/from investing activities [4,487) [1,164] [1263)
Dividends paid on ordinary share capital 12,485) {2,323 [2106)
Interest and preference dwidends paid (498) [494) 517]
Net change i short-term borrowings 1,261 {46) 227)
Addittonal financial Liabilities 3,419 Bé 3140
Repayment of financial liabilities (207) (1.391] (4 456)
Capital element of finance lease rental payments (14) [22] [24]
Other movements on treasury stock 30 [124) 103
Other financing activities 1395) (295) [214]
Net cash flow lused in)/from financing activities 41 (4,609] {4,301}
Netincrease/[decreasel in cash and cash equivalents 1,394 (283] 210
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,966 2397 2360
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (384) (148] [173]
Cash and cash equivalents atthe end of the year 15 2,978 1565 2,397

The cash flows of pension funds (other than contributions and other direct payments made by the Group in respect of pensions and
similar obligations] are not included in the Group cash flow statement
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP

1. Accounting information and policies

The accounting poticies adopted are the same as those which
were applied for the previaus financial year, except as set out
below under the heading Recent accounting developments

Unilever

The two parent companies NV and PLC, together with their group
companies, operate as a single econormic entity Ithe Unilever
Group, also referred to as Unilever or the Group) NV and PLC
have the same Directors and are linked by a series of agreements,
mcluding an Equalisation Agreement, which are designed so that
the pesitions of the shareholders of both companies are as closely
as passible the same as iIf they held shares in a single company

The Equalisation Agreement provides that bath companies adopt
the same accounting principles It also requires that dvidends
and other rights and benefits attaching to each ordinary share of
NV, be equal in value to those rights and benefits attaching to each
ordinary share of PLC as If each such unit of capital formed part
of the ardinary capital of one and the same company

Basis of consolidation

Due to the operational and coniractuat arrangements referred to
above NVand PLC form a single reporting entity for the purposes
of presenting consolidated financial statements Accordingly, the
financial statements of Unilever are presented by both NV and
PLC as their respective consolidated financial staterments Group
cempantes included in the censolidation are those companies
cantrolted by NV or PLC Control exists when the Group has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so
as to cbtamn benefits from its activities

The net assets and results of acquired businesses are included in
the cansolidated financial staternents from their respective dates
of acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains control
The results of disposed businesses are included in the
consolidated financial statements up to their date of disposal
being the date control ceases

Intra-group transactions and balances are ebiminated

Companies legislation and accounting standards

The consolidated financial staterments have been prepared in
accordance with International Financiat Reporting Standards
(IFRS] as adopted by the European Union (EU), IFRIC
Interpretations and in accordance with Part ¢ of Book 2 of the Civit
Code in the Netherlands and the United Kingdom Companies Act
2006 applicable to companies reporting under IFRS They are also
in complbiance with |[FRS as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board

These financial statements are prepared under the histerical cost
convention unless ctherwise indicated

Accounting policies

Accounting policies are inctuded in the relevant notes to the
consolidated financial statements and have been highlighted
with blue shading and a vertical green bar on the left The
accounting policies below are applied throughout the financial
statements
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Balance sheet presentation

The presentation of the balance sheet has been changed in 2011 to
remove the sub-totals titled Total assets tess current Liabiities
and Total captal employed, instead including sub-totals titled
Total assets and Total babilibes and equity This change
provides information that 1s clearer and more relevant
Comparative information has been reclassified

Foreign currencies

The consclidated financial statements are presented in euros
The functional currencies of NV and PLC are eurcs and sterling
respectively Items included in the financial statements of
individual group companies are recorded in their respective
functional currency which is the currency of the primary
economic environment in which each entity operates

Foreign currency transactions in indwvidual group companies are
translated nto functional currency using exchange rates at the
date of the transaction Foreign exchange gains and losses from
settlement of these transactions and from translation of
monetary assets and Uabilities at year-end exchange rates, are
recognised in the income statement except when deferred in
equity as qualifying hedges

In preparing the consolidated financral statements the balances
inindividual group compantes are translated frorm their functional
currencynto euros The income staterment, the cash flow
statement and all other movements in assets and llabilities are
translated at average rates of exchange as a proxy for the
transaction rate or at the transaction rate itsetf if more
appropriate Assets and liabilities are translated at year-end
exchange rates

The ordinary share capital of NV and PLC is translated in
accordance with the Equalisation Agreement The difference
between the value for PL.C and the value by applying the year-end
rate of exchange 1s taken to otherreserves [see note 18 on

page 101

The effect of exchange rate changes during the year on net assets
of foreign operations Is recorded in equity For this purpose net
assets include loans between group companies and any related
{oreign exchange contracts where settlement is netther planned
nar likely to occur in the foreseeable future

The Group applies hedge accounting to exchange differences
arising between the functional currency of a foreign operation and
the euro, regardless of whether the net investment s held directly
or through an intermediate parent Differences arising on
retranslation of a financial lability designated as a foreign
currency net investment hedge are recorded in equity to the
extent that the hedge 15 effective These differences are reported
within profit or loss to the extent that the hedge 1s ineffective

Cumulative exchange differences arising since the date of
transttion to IFRS of 1 January 2004 are reported as a separate
component of other reserves {see note 18 on page 101} In the
event of disposal or part disposal of an interest in a group
company either through sale or as a result of a repayment of
capital the cumulative exchange difference 1s recognised in the
income staternent as part of the profit or loss on disposal of group
companies
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Criticat accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to
make Judgements, estimates and assumptions in the application
of accounting policies that affect the repaorted amounts of assets,
liabilities income and expenses Actual results may differ from
these estimates Estimates and judgements are continuously
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed
tc be reasonable Revisions to accounting estimates are
recogmsed in the period in which the estimate 1s revised and in
any future period affected

Information about critical jJudgements in applying accounting

policies as well as estimates and assurmptions that have the most

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and labilities within the next financial year, are

included in the following notes

+ Separate presentation of items in the Income statement
-note 3

* Measurement of defined benefit obligations - note 4B

+ Keyassumptions used in discounted cash flow projections
-note 9

* Utilisation of tax losses and recognition of other deferred tax
assets - note 6B

* Likelhood of occurrence of provisions and contingencies
including tax investigations and audits - notes 17 and 20

* Measurement of consideraticn and assets and Labilities
acquired as part of business combinations - note 21

Recent accounting developments

Adopted by the Group

The following amended standards are relevant to the Group and

have been adopted for the first time in these financial statements

with no material impact

¢ Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements

+ Amendments to IFRS 3 Business combinations

+ Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial instruments disclosures

+ |AS 24 Related party disclosures [Revised)

+ Amendments to IFRIC 14 Prepayments of a minimum funding
requirement

Not adopted by the Graup
The Group 1s currently assessing the impact of the following new
standards and amendments that are not yet effective

The Group does not currenily believe adoption of these standards
would have a material impact on the consolidated results or
financial position of the Group All of the following new standards
and amendments are effective from 1 January 2013 unless
ctherwise stated Standards have not yet been endorsed by the EU
unless otherwise stated
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IFRS 9 Financialinstruments replaces the current
classification and measurement models for financial assets
with two classification categories amortised cost and fair
value Classification is driven by the business medel for
managing the assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics Financial liabilities are not affected by the
changes Effective from 1 January 2015

IFR5 10 Consolidated financial statements replaces current
guidance on control and consolidation The core principle that
a consolidated entity presents a parent and its subsidiaries as
if they were a single entity remains unchanged as do the
mechanics of consolidatien

IFRS 11 Joint arrangements requires joint arrangements

to be accounted for as a jomt operation or as a joint venture
depending on the rights and obligations of each party to the
arrangement Equity accounting for joint ventures, already
used by Unilever will become mandatory

IFRS 12 Disclosure of interests in other entities requires
enhanced disclosures of the nature, risks and financial effects
associated with the Group s interests in subsidiaries,
assoctates, joint arrangements and unconsolidated structured
entities

IFRS 13 Fair value measurament explams how to measure
fair value and enhances fair value disclosures The standard
does not significantly change the measurement of fair value !
but codifies 1t in one place

IAS 19 Ermployee benefits [Revised] changes a number of
disclosure requirements for post-employment arrangements
and restricts the accounting options available for defined
benefit pension plans The return on pensicn plan assets and
finance charge will be replaced by a net interest expense or
income, calculated by applying the Liability discount rate to the
net defined benefit asset or iability The Group expects this
change will result in an increase In finance costs but will not
impact the group s net assets

Amendments to lAS 1 Presentation of iterns of other
comprehensive iIncome will result in items of other
comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or
loss being presented separately from stems that would never
be reclassified Effective from 1 July 2012

IAS 27 Separate financial statements [Revised] The standard
1s revised to reflect the 1ssue of IFRS 10

IAS 28 Investments tn associates and joint ventures [Revised)
The standard Is revised to reflect the issue of IFRS 11
Amendments to IAS 32 Financial instruments Presentation
[Effective from 1 January 2014] and IFRS 7 Financial !
instruments Disclosures (Effective from 1 January 2013)
provide additional guidance on when financial assets and
Liabilities may be offset
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Financial statements

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP continued

2. Segment information

Segmental reporting

Our operating and reportzble segments are the three operating regions of Asia, Africa and Central & Eastern Europe [Asia Africa

CEE), The Americas and Western Eurcpe Additional information i1s provided by product category area, our products are sold
across all operating regions

Revenue recognition |

Turnover comprises sales of goods and services after the deduction of discounts sales taxes and estimated returns It daes not
include sales between group companies Discounts given by Unilever include rebates price reductions and incentives given to
customers, promotional couponing and trade communication costs

Turnover 1s recognised when the risks and rewards of the underlying products and services have been substantially transferred to
the custemer Depending on individual customer terms, this can be at the time of dispatch, delivery or upen formal customer
acceptance Revenue from services is recognised as the services are performed

The analysis of turnover by geographicat area 1s stated on the basis of origin Inter-segment sales are carried out at arm s length and
were not material Other non-cash charges include charges to the iIncome statement during the year in respect of the share-based
compensation, impairment and praovisions Segment results are presented on the basis of operating profit

€ million € milliocn € million € milbon
Asia Africa The Western
CEE Americas Europe Total
2011
Turnover 18,947 15,251 12,249 46,467
Operating profit 2,214 2,250 1,967 6,433
Restructuring disposals, impairments and other one-cff itemns [RDIs]® (19s) (131) [142) 1468)
Operating profit befare RDIs 2,411 2,381 2,109 6,901
Share of net profit/lloss} of joint ventures and associates Ml 67 47 113
Depreciatien and amortisation (353 (286) (390) (1,029
Impairrment and other non-cash charges (100) [315) [194) (&11)
2010
Turnover 17,685 14,562 12015 44 262
Operating profit 2,253 2,169 1917 & 339
Restructuring, disposals, impairments and other ane-off items [RDIs)® (1081 (159] [14] (281)
Operating profit before RDIs 2,361 2328 1931 6,620
Share of net profit/(loss] of joint ventures and associates (1 &9 43 11
Depreciation and amortisation (323) {292) (378) (993}
Impairment and other non-cash charges (48) (188l [290] [526)
2009
Turnover 14 897 12 B50 12,076 39823
Operating profit 1927 1843 1,250 5,020
Restructuring, disposals impawrments and other one-off items {RB1s ]! (1471 231} [490) (868
Operating profit before RDIs 2074 2074 1740 5888
Share of net profit/iloss] of joint ventures and associates - 62 53 115
Depreciation and amortisation (3011 1311) [407) [1019)
Impairment and ather non-cash charges ) [198) [194) (501]

WRestructuring disposals impairments and other one-off tems See note 3 fer further infermation
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2. Segment information continued

The home countries of the Unilever Group are the Netherlands and the United Kingdom Turnover and non-current assets [other than
financial assets, deferred tax assets and pension assets for funded schemes in surplus) for these two countries combined, the USA and
Brazil [being the two largest countries outside the home countries) and all other countries are

€ miluon € million € million € million € million
Netherlands/
United Alt other

201 Kingdom USA Brazil countries Tatal
Turnover 3,693 6,889 3,644 32,240 46,467
Non-current assets 2,915 9,286 2,525 16,593 31,319
2010
Turnover 3490 6725 3502 30,545 44,262
Non-current assets 2,602 5,960 2,681 15,347 26,610
2009
Turnover 3384 6,332 2796 2731 39823
Non-current assets 2,634 5 498 2,412 132 879 24,223

No other country had turnover or non-current assets [as shown above| greater than 10% of the Group total

Additional information by product area

Although the Group s operations are managed on a gecgraphical basis we provide additional information based on brands grouped into
four principal areas as set out below

Personal Care - mcluding sales of skin care and hair care products, deodorants and oral care products

Home Care - including sales of home care products such as laundry taklets powders and lguids, soap bars and a wide range of
cleaning products

Foods - inctuding sales of soups, boulllons sauces, snacks, mayonnaise, salad dressings, margannes and spreads, and cooking
products such as liquid margarines

Refreshment - including sales of ice cream tea-based beverages weight-management products, and nutritionally enhanced staples
sold in developing markets

€ million € mitlion € million € million € mullien
Personat

2011 Foods  Refreshment Care Home Care Total
Turnover 13,986 8,304 15,471 8,204 46,6467
Operating profit 2,693 723 2,536 481 6,433
Share of net profit/(loss) of joini ventures and associates 7 98 5 3 113
2010
Turnover 14,164 8,605 13,767 7726 44,262
Operating profit 2,846 724 2296 473 6,339
Share of net profit/lloss] of joint ventures and associates 18 92 7 (6 111
2009
Turnover 13,286 7753 11,844 6,968 39,823
Qperating profit 1,840 734 1,834 415 5020
Share of net profit/[loss) of joint ventures and associates 14 87 & 10 115
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP continued

3. Gross profit and operating costs

Research and market support costs

Expenditure on research and market support, such as advertising, 1s charged to the income statement as incurred

Restructuring, business disposals, impairment and other one-off items

On the face of the Income statement, costs and revenues relating to restructuring, business disposals and impairments are
disclesed In addition, individual items judged to be significant are disclosed separately These items are material in terms of

nature and/er amount

Restructuring costs are incurred as Unilever continues to simplify the organisation, recrganise operations and support functions
and redevelop the portfolio They primarily relate to redundancy and retirement costs Business disposals generate both gains and
losses which are not reflective of underlying performance Acquisition and integration costs are cne-off expenses incurred in

relation to the acquired businesses

€million € mitlion € milien

2011 2010 200%

Turnover 46,467 L4262 39823
Cost of sales® (27,930} [25,890) (23182}
Gross profit 18,537 18,372 16,641
Selling and administrative expensast (t2,104) [12,033) 111,621
Operating profit 6,433 6,339 5,020

4 During 2011 the Group reassessed the presentation of distribution costs which in prior years have been presented within selling and adrministrative
expenses These are considered to be more appropnately recorded in cost of sales The comparative information for 2010 and 2009 has been reclassified
accordmgly Inaddiien 1n 2010 €179 million has been reclassified between cost of sales and selling and administrative expenses The 2009 impactis not

significant and has not been reclassified There was noimpact on operating profit in 2010 or 2009

The following items are disclosed on the face of the incormne statement to provide additional information to users to help them better

understand underlying business perfermance

€ milthon € millien € million

2611 2010 2009
Restructuring (612) (589) (827
Business disposals impairments and other one-off items 144 308 29
Gain/(loss] on dispesals of group companies A 468 4
Impairments - - -
Past service credit for UK pension plan 153 - -
[Provision for)/release of Brazilian sales tax - - 25
(Provision for)/release of EU competition investigations 4 (110] -
Acquisition and tntegratien costs (234) {50} -

Other items within operating costs include

€ million € million € million

2011 2010 2009

Staff costs 4 (5,345 (5 599 (5223
Distribution costs 13,080) (3 015] (2 602}
Raw and packaging materials and goods purchased for resale 119,253) 17 636) (15 267)
Amortisation of finite-lived intangibte assets and software (191} (174) 1168}
Cepreciation of property plant and equipment (838) [819) (851}
Advertising and promotions (6,069) (6 044) {5302}
Research and development (1,009] [928) (8911
Exchange gains/llosses] % 7 (33)
On underlying transactions (45) {36) (19]
On covering forward contracts 36 43 (14]
Lease rentals 1452) (465) (472]
Minimum operating lease payments [458) (465) [473)
Contingent operating lease paymants [3) (4] (3)
Less Sub-lease income relating to operating lease agreements 7 4 b
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4. Employees

4A. Staff and management costs

Financial statements

€ million € million € million

Staff costs 2m 200 2009
Remuneration of employeas (4,598) (4,572} 14162}
Pensions and other post-employment benefits 17 [276) (2586
Social security costs (627) {607] (810)
Share-based compensation costs (105) 144) (195)
{5,345) 15 5991 (5 223)

000 0oo u]i]

Average number of employees during the year 2 2010 2009
Asia Africa CEE 98 96 98
The Americas 42 40 41
Woestern Europe 29 29 29
169 145 168

€ rllion € million € mallion

Key management compensation 2011 2010 2009
Salaries and short-term employee benefits (15) (17] 13
Non-Executive Directors fees (2) {2) i2)
Post-employment benefits (2 (2] (2}
Share-based benefits (1) (10) (7
(30} [31) {24)

Ofwhich

Executive Directors (10} (7] 7]
Non-Executive Directors 2) i2) (2]
Other (18) i22) (15)
(30 (31 (24)

Key management personnel are defined as the members of the Unilever Leadership Executive [ULE} and the Non-Executive Directors

Detaiis of the remuneration of Directors are given in the parts noted as audited in the Directors Remuneration Report on pages 50 to 59

4B. Pensions and similar obligations

For defined benefit plans, operating and financing costs are recognised separately in the Income statement The amount charged
to oparating cost in the inceme statement s the cost of aceruing pension benefits promised to employees over the year, plus the
costs of Individual events such as past service benefit enhancements, settlements and curtailments (such events are recognised

immediately in the income statement] The amaount charged or credited to financing costs includes a credit equivalent to the

Group s expected return on the pension plans assets over the year offset by a charge equal to the expected increase in the plans
liabilities over the year due to the passage of time Any differences between the expected return on assets and the return actually

achieved and any changes in the Liabilities over the year due to changes in assumptions or experience within the plans are

recagnised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income

The defined benefit plan surplus or deficit in the balance sheet comprises the total for each plan of the fair value of plan assets less

the present value of the defined benefit obligation usmg a discount rate based on high quality corperate bonds]

All defined benefit plans are subject to regular actuarial review using the projected unit method, either by external consultants or
by actuaries employed by Unilever The Group policy 1s that the most important plans representing approximately 80% of the
defined beneht liabilities, are formally valued every year Other principal plans, acceunting for approximately a further 15% of
Liabilities, have their labilities updated each year Group pelicy for the remaining plans requires a full actuanial valuation at least

avery three years Assetvalues for all plans are updated everyyear

For defined contribution plans, the charges to the income statement are the company contributions payable, as the company s
obligation 1s Umited ta contributions paid into the plans The assets and liabilities of such plans are not included «n the balance

sheet of the Group
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP continued

4B. Pensions and similar obligations continued

Description of plans

In many countries the Group operates defined benefit pension plans based on employee pensionable remuneration and length of
service The majority of these plans are externally funded The Group also provides other post-employment benefits, mainly post-
employment healthcare plans in the United States These plans are predeminantly unfunded The Group also operates a number of
defined contribution plans, the assets of which are held in external funds

The majonity of the Group s externally funded plans are established as trusts, foundations or ssimilar entities The cperation of these
entities 1s governed by local regulations and practice in each country, as 15 the nature of the relationship between the Group and the
trustees (or equivalent] and their composition

Invesiment strategy

The Group s investment strategy in respect of tts funded pension plans 1s implemented within the framewark of the various statutery
requirements of the territories where the plans are based The Group has developed policy guidelines for the allocation of assets to
different classes with the objective of controlling risk and maintaining the right balance between risk and long-term returns in order to
Uimit the cost to the Group of the benefits provided To achieve this investrments are well diversified, such that the failure of any single
investment would not have a material impact on the overall level of assets The plans invest the largest proportion of the assets in
equities which the Group believes cffer the best returas over the long term commensurate with an acceptable level of risk The pension
funds also have a proportion of assets invested in property bonds alternative assets and cash The majority of assets are managed by
anumber of external fund managers with a small proportion managed in-house Unilever has a pocled investment vehicle (Univest)
which it believes offers its pension plans around the world a simplified externally managed investment vehicle to implement their
strategic asset allocation models currently for bonds equities and alternative assets The aim s to provide a high quality well-
dwversified, nisk-controlled vehicle

Assumptions

With the objective of presenting the assets and Uabilities of the pensions and other post-employment benefit plans at their fair value on
the balance sheet, assumptions under IAS 19 are set by reference to market conditions at the valuation date The actuarial assumptions
used to calculate the benefit abligations vary according to the country in which the plan 1s situated The following table shows the
assumptions weighted by Uabilities used to value the principal defined benefit plans [which cover approxmately 95% of total pension
Liabilities] and the plans providing other post-ermployrment benefits, and in addition the expected long-term rates of return on assets,
weilghted by asset value

31 December 2071 31 December 2010
Principal Other Principal Other
defined benefit pest-employment defined beneft  post-employment
pension plans benefit plans pension plans benefit plans
Discount rate 4 6% 4 3% 5 2% 55%
Inflation 2 %% n/a Z25% nfa
Rate of increase in salaries 3 4% 3.5% 35% £ 0%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment [where provided] 2.4% n/a 2 5% n/a
Rate of increase for pensicns in deferment [where provided) 2 6% n/a 27% n/a
Lang-term madical cost inflatian nfa 5.0% nfa 5 0%
Expected long-term rates of return
Equities 72% 7 4%
Bonds 38% 4 6%
Property & 7% 59%
Others 6 2% 6 3%
Weighted average asset return 5 6% 6 3%

The valuations of other post-employment benefit plans generally assume a higher nitial level of medical cast inflation, which falls from
7 5% to the long-term rate within the next five years Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts
reported for healthcare plans A one percentage point change in assumed healthcare cost trend rates would have the following effect

€ rullion € millien

1% point increase 1% pointdecrease

Effect on total of service and interest cost components 1 (1]
Effect on total benefit obligation 9 (11)

The expected rates of return on plan assets were determined, based on actuarial advice, by a process that takes the long-term rates of
return on government bonds available at the balance sheet date and applies to these rates suitable risk premiums that take account of
historic market returns and current market long-term expectations for each asset class
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4B. Pensions and similar obligations continued

For the most impartant pension plans, representing approximately 80% of all defined benefit plans by Liabilities, the assumptions used
at 31 December 2011 and 2010 were

United Kingdom Netherlands United States Germany
201 2010 201 2010 2011 2010 201 2010
Discount rate 4 7% 5 4% 4.5% 4 % 39% 5 2% 4.5% 4 7%
Inflation 30% 31% 1.8% 18% 2.3% 23% 18% 18%
Rate of increase in salaries 4 0% 4 1% 2.3% 23% 35% 4 0% 28% 28%
Rate of increase for pensions in payment
Iwhere provided] 28% 3 0% 1.8% 1 8% - - 18% 18%
Rate of increase for pensions in deferment
[where provided) 29% 31% 18% 18% - - - -
Expected long-term rates of return
Equities 7.3% 77% 70% 70% 6.9% 7 4% 70% 70%
Bonds 3.8% 4 6% 35% 4 3% 3 4% 4 4% 37% 4 2%
Property 4 8% 6 2% 4 5% 5 5% 4 &% 59% 4 5% 5 5%
Others 6.9% 71% 58% 56% 5 4% 17% 4 8% 55%
Weighted average asset return & 2% 6 9% 50% 59% 5.0% 6 2% & 9% 55%
Number cf years a current pensioner 15
expected to live beyond age 45
Men 21.7 215 21,5 214 19.0 170 19.4 190
Women 23.5 234 23.3 233 20.9 209 23.0 233
Number of years a future pensicner currently
aged 45 15 expected to Live beyond age 65
Men 235 233 23.0 230 206 205 194 190
Women 25.2 251 242 242 225 224 230 233

Demagraphic assumptions such as mortality rates, are set having regard to the {atest trends in Ufe expectancy [including expectations

of future improvements), plan experience and other relevant data These assumptions are reviewed and updated as necessary as part

of the periodic actuarial valuation of the pension plans The years of life expectancy for 2011 above have been translated from the

following tables

Il UK the year of use 51 series all pensioners [ STAP } tables have been adopted, which are based on the experience of UK pension
schemes over the penicd 2000-2006 Scaling factors are applied reflecting the experience of our pension funds appropriate to the
members gender and status Future improvements in longevity have been allowed for in Line with the 2009 CMI Core Projections
and a 1% pa long-term improvement rate

W) The Netherlands the Dutch Actuanal Sooety s AG Prognosetafel 2010 - 2060 table 15 used with correction factors to allow for the
typically longer life expectancy of pension fund members relative to the general population This table has an in-built atlowance for
future improvements in longevity

mUnited States the table RP-2000 with projected martality improvement using Projection Scale AA from 2000 to 2018 for annuitants
and to 2026 for non-annuitants This table has an in-built allowance for future iImprovements in longewity

[v) Germany fund specific tables are used which broadly equate to the Heubeck 2005 generatianal table projected to 2030

Assumptions for the remaining defined benefit plans vary considerably, depending on the economic conditions of the countries where
they are situated
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP continued

4B. Pensions and simular obluigations continued

Income statement
The charge te the income statement comprises

€million € million € mitlion
20m 2010 2009
Charged to operating profit
Defined benefit pension and other banefi: plans
Current service cost (252) [261) (228]
Emplayee contributions 15 13 12
Special termunaiion benefits (31) {22) (50)
Past service cost 195 60 50
Settlements/curtalments 144 & 20
Defined contribution plans (90] (72) [60]
Total operating cost 4A 7] (274) {256)
Charged to net finance costs
Interest on retrement benefits (908) (763) (940)
Expected return on assets 979 983 776
Total net finance income/[cost| 5 " 20 [164)
Net impact on the income statement [before tax] 54 [25&] [420]

Significant items on the face of the ncome statement
Cne-off tems 1n 2011 include a past service credit of £153 millien, as Unilever implemented amendments to certain constructive

obligations in the UK that the company had the discretion to amend, and curtailment credits of €146 million relating to benefit changes
mainly in the UK the USA and Canada

Statement of comprehensive income
Amounts recogmsed (n the statement of comprehensive income comprise

€ million € million € mullion € million € million € million
Cumulative
t January
2004 to
2m 2010 2009 2008 2007 present
Actual return less expecied return on pension and other benefit
plan assets 440} 677 1277 14 243} (236 1471
Experience gains/llosses) arising on pension plan and other
benefit plan Liabilities (74) 197 250 - 103 507
Changes i assumptions underlying the present value of the
pension and other benefit plan babilities 11,3771 [716] [1489] 1116 944 [3,599)
Actuarial gain/(loss) (1,691} 158 38 (3,127 813 13,563}
Change in unrecegnised surplus - - - - - 103
Refund of unrecognised assets - - - - - 15
Net actuarial gain/[loss) recognised in statement of comprehensive
ncormne [before tax) (1,691 158 38 (3127 813 (3,445]

76 Umilever Annual Report and Accounts 2011




Financial statements

4B. Pensions and similar obligations continued

Balance sheet

The assets, Liabiliues and surplus/[deficit] position of the pension and other post-employment benefit plans and the expected rates of
return on the plan assets at the balance sheet date were

31 Decembar 2011 31 December 2010
€ mithion € mitlion % € million € millien %
Otherpost-  Long-termn Other post- Long-term
employment rates of employment rates of
Penston benefit return Pension benefit return
plans plans expected plans plans expected
Assets of principal plans
Equities 6,840 - 72% 7690 - 7 4%
Bonds 6,120 - 3.8% 5,013 - 4 6%
Property 1,007 - 4 7% 915 - 59%
Other 1,633 - 6 2% 1,931 - 6 3%
Assets of other plans 47 7 79% 419 b 8 3%
16,037 7 - 15,948 b -
Present value of liabilities
Principal plans 117,703) - - (16 540] - -
Qther plans (887) (657] - [842) (662 -
(18,5%0] 1657) - {17,382) [662] -
Aggregate netdeficit of the plans [2,553) (650] - (1.414) (656] -
Irrecoverable surplus® - - - - -
Pension liability net of assets (2,553) {6500 - (1 414) (656) -
Of which in respect of
Funded plans in surplus
Liabilities (4,201) - - (5,519] - -
Assets 5,204 - - 6,429 - -
Aggregate surplus 1,003 - - g10 - -
Irrecoverable surplus® - - - - - -
Pension asset net of labilities 1,003 - - 910 - -
Funded plans i deficit
Liabilities (13,101 (34) - 110,592] (34] -
Assets 10,833 7 - 9939 6 -
Pension Liabibity net of assets (2,268) (27) - {1,053] {28) -

Unfunded plans
Penston Liability (1,288) 623) - h27i] 1628] -

@ A surplus 1s deemed recoverable to the extent that the Group is able to benefit econormically from the surplus

In 2010, agreement was reached with local insurers to externally insure most of our existing Swedish pension obligation Consequently,
€150 million of liabilties were considered settled and removed from the table above The remaining lability in Sweden of €4 million
was Included in unfunded plans at the end of 2010

Equity securities include Unilever secuntres amounting to €41 million (0 3% of total plan assets) and €50 mullion [0 3% of total plan
assets| at 31 December 2011 and 2010 respectively Property includes property occupied by Unilever amounting to €14 mitlion and
€14 million at 31 December 2011 and 2010 respectively

The pension assets abave exclude the assets in a Special Benefits Trust amounting to €110 million (2010 €128 ritlion] to fund pensicn
and similar obligations in the US (see also note 15A on page 91

The sensitivity of the overall pension Labilities to changes in the weighted key financial assumptions are

Chang® in assumption Impact on overall Llabilities
Discount rate Increasefdecrease by 0.5% Decrease/increase by 7%
Inflation rate Increase/decrease by 0 5% Increase/decrease by 4%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROURP continued

4B. Pensions and similar obligations continued

Reconciliation of change in assets and iabilities
Movements in assets and Labilities during the year

€ million € millien € milbon €million € millicn € million

Assets Assets Assets Liabilities Liabilities Liabrlitses

20M1 2010 2009 2011 2010 2009
1 January 15,974 14,413 nneg [18,044) (16 995) {15,101
Acquisitions/disposals " 3 -~ [16) (4) -
Current service cost - - - (252) [261) (228)
Employee contributions 15 13 i2 - - -
Special termination benefits - - ~ (31 (22] (501
Past service costs - - -~ 195 40 50
Setttements/curtaillments - (1621 (91 144 168 29
Expected returns on plan assets 979 %83 776 - - -
Interest an pension Liabilities - - - {908) (763) (7401
Actuarial gainflloss) (440} 677 1,277 [1,251) {519] [1239]
Employer contributions 463 669 1,202 - - -
Benefit payments 1,130) (1,146} {1,204 1,130 1,146 1204
Reclassification of benefits®™ - 19 - %) (28] -
Currency retranslation 172 505 640 (207) [626) {720]
31 December 16,044 15974 14 413 [19,247) (18,044] [14,995)

8 Certain obligations have been reclassified as employee benefit obligations

The actual return on plan assets during 2011 was €539 million being the sum of €379 million and €[440] million from the table abave
(2010 €1 6460 million]

Funded status of plans at the year end

€ million € milion € million € million € million

201 2010 2009 2008 2007

Total assets 16,044 15,574 14 413 nne 17 253

Total pension liabilities (19,247) (18 044]) (16995 {15,101] (18,342

Net Lizbilities (3,203) [2 070] 12582] 13 382) (1,089

Less unrecognised surplus - - - - -

Pension Liabilities net of assets (3,203) £2 070} (2582) (3,382 {1.089]
Cash flow

Group cash flow in respect of pensions and similar post-employment benefits comprises company contributions paid to funded plans

and benefits paid by the company i respect of unfunded plans, as set outin the following table including the current estimate of
contributions for 2012)

€ million € million € million € rmiltion
2012E 2011 2010 2009
Company contributions to funded plans

Defined Benefit {DB) 420 297 482 768
Cefined Contribution (DC) 110 90 72 40

Benefits paid by the cempany In respect of unfunded plans
Defined Benefit (DBI 170 166 187 234
Group cash flow in respect of pensions and simitar benefits 700 553 741 1262

Contributions to funded defined benefit plans are subject to periodic review taking account of local legislation 2009 contributions pard
to funded plans include around €370 rmillion of future years contributions accelerated into 2009
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4C, Share-based compensation plans

The fair value of the awards at the grant date Is calculated using pricing models and recognised over the vesting period of the
grant as a remuneration cost with a cerrespending increase in equity The value of the charge is adjusted to reflect expected and
actual levels of awards vesting except where the failure to vest 15 as a result of not meeting a market condition Cancellations of
equity instruments are treated as an acceleration of the vesting peried and any outstanding charge Is recognised in the income
statement immediately

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had share-based compensation plans in the form of performance shares, share cptions and other
share awards

The numbers in this note include those for Executive Directors shown in the Directors Remuneraticn Report on pages 50 to 59 and
those for key management personnel shown in note 44 on page 73 Non-Executive Directors do not participate in any of the share-
based compensation plans

The charge in each of the last three years 1s shown below and relates to equity settled plans

€ milion € million € million

Income statement charge 2011 2010 2009
Performance share plans (93) (120} [166)
Other plans® 2) (24) (29]
(105) (144) [199]

“IThe Group also provides a Share Matchung Plan (o awards after 2011) an All-Employee Share Option Plan and an Executive Option Plan [no awards after 2005)

Performance Share Plans

Performance share awards are made under the Management Co-Investment Ptan [MCIP] and the Global Share Incentive Plan (GSIP
The MCIP allows Unilever s managers to invest up to 60% of their annual bonus in shares in Unilever and to receive a corresponding
award of performance-related shares Under GSIP Unilever s managers receive annual awards of NV and PLC shares The awards
of both plans will vest after three years between 0% and 200% of grant level depending on the satssfaction of performance conditions

The performance conditions of both MCIP and GSIP are underlying sales growth operating cash flow and underlying operating margin
improvement There 1s an additional target based on relative total shareholder return [TSR] for senior executives

A summary of the status of the Performance Share Plans as at 31 December 2011, 2010 and 2009 and changes during the years ended
on these dates 15 presented below

201 2010 2009
Number of Number of Number of
shares shares shares
Outstanding at 1 January 17,240,376 17536 148 16 353 251
Awarded 9,587,934 9292 689 8847844
Vested 16,688,22%) 18 626 746) (6 278 634)
Forfeited (1,497,425) [961 715] 1 404,313]
Outstanding at 31 December 18,642,656 17,240,376 17,536,148
201 2010 2009
Share award value information
Fairvalue per share award duning the year €229 €21 49 €1302

Additional information

At 31 December 2011, there were options outstanding to purchase 24 196,358 (2010 32 928,940] ordinary shares in NV or PLC in respect
of share-based compensaton plans of NV and its subsidiaries and the North American plans and 10,394,180 (2010 12,2i7.128) ordinary
shares in NV or PLC in respect of share-based compensation plans of PLC and its subsidiaries
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NOTES 7O THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP continued

4C. Share-based compensation plans continued

To satisfy the options granted certain NV group companies hold 33,219,524 {2010 42,033,393] ordinary shares of NV or PLC, and trusts
in Jersey and the United Kingdom hold 3,042,111 {2010 4,838,277] PLC shares The trustees of these trusts have agreed, until further
notice to waive dividends on these shares save for the neminal sum of 0 01p per 3'/ep ordinary share Shares acquired during 2011
represent 0 27% of the Group s called up capital The balance of shares held in connection with share plans at 31 December 2011
represented 1 2% {2010 1 5%)] of the Group s called up caprtal

The book value of €799 mullion (2010 €937 million] of all shares held in respect of share-based compensation plans for both NV and
PLC 1s eliminated on censolidation by deduction from other reserves Their market value at 31 December 2011 was €954 million

(2070 €1 083 million)

At 31 December 2011 there were no options for which the exercise price was above market price

Shares held to satisfy options and related trusts are accounted for in accordance with [AS 32 Financial Instruments Presentation and
SIiC 12 Consolidation of Special Purpose Entities  All differences between the purchase price of the shares held to satisty options
granted and the proceeds received for the shares, whether on exercise or lapse are chargedto reserves The basis of the charge to

operating profit for the economic value of options granted 1s discussed on page 79

Between 31 December 2011 and 28 February 2012 5 78% 685 shares were granted and 75,466 shares were forfeited related to the
performance share plans

5. Net finance costs

Net finance costs 1s the net of finance costs and finance income, including net finance costs in relation to pensions and
srmilar obligations

Finance income Includes income on cash and cash equivalents and income on cther financial assets Finance costs include interest
costs In relation to financial liabilities

Borrowing costs which are not capitalised are recognised based on the effective interest method

€ miklson € million € million

Net finance costs 2011 2010 2009
Finance costs (540) (491) {(504)
Bank loans and overdrafts (59) (38] (47)
Bonds and other loans (472 1441) (429
Dwidends paid on preference shares (5) (6) (7]
Net gain/[loss) on derivatives for which hedge accounting 1s not applied® (4) (6) {21]
On foreign exchange derivatives (379) (601] 58]
Exchange difference an underlying items 375 595 147
Finance income 92 77 75
Pensions and stmilar obligations™ 71 20 li64]
(3771 (394) (593)

WEgr further details of derivatives for which hedge acceunting 1s not applied please refer to note 16D on page 98
I Net finance costs in respect of pensions and stmilar abligations are analysed in note 48 on page 74

4. Taxation

SA. Income tax

Income tax on the profit for the year comprises current and deferred tax Income tax s recogmsed in the iIncome statement except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity

Current tax s the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date, and any adjusiments to tax payable in respect of previaus years
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6A. Income tax continued

€miluon € mitlion € millien
Tax charge in iIncome statement 201 2010 2009
Current tax

Current year 1,571 (3,£79) (1263
Qverflunder] prowided in priar yearsk 93 88 151
{1,478) (1,391 2

Deferredtax
Origination and reversal of temperary differences (179} (237 [276)
Changes in tax rates 1 (2] 3
Recognit:on of previgusly unrecognised losses brought forward 34 96 128
(144) 143) (145]
1.622] {1534) (1,257

® Prowisiens have been released following the favourable sattlement of prior year tax audits in a number of countries none of which 1s indwvidually material

The reconciliation between the computed weighted average rate of iIncome tax expense, which i1s generally applicable to Uniever
companies and the actual rate of taxation charged 1s as follows

Y % %
Reconciliation of effective tax rate 2011 2010 2009
Computed rate of tax™ 27 28 29
Differences due to
Incentive tax credits (s (5] (8)
Withholding tax on dividends 2 2 2
Adjustments to previous years m (3) (3]
Expenses nct deductible for tax purposes 1 1 1
Other 2 3 3
Effective tax rate 26 26 26

®The computed tax rate used 1s the average of the standard rate of tax applicable in the countries in which Unilever operates weighted by the amaunt of profit
before taxatian generated in each of those countries Forthis reason the rate may vary from year to year according to the mix of profit and related tax rates

6B. Deferred tax

Deferred tax s recognised using the Liability method on taxabte temporary differences between the tax base and the accounting
base of iterns included in the balance sheet of the Group Certain temporary differences are not provided for as follows

« goodwill not deductible for tax purposes,

= themtial recognition of assets or Liabilities that affect nerther accounting nor taxable profit, and

+ differences relating to invesiments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the foreseeable future

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities using tax rates enacted, or substantively enacted, at the year end

Adeferred tax asset s recognised only to the extent that it 1s probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the

asset can be utilised Daferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it1s no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be
realised

€ million € millon € mullion € mitlien € million € million € milbien

€ millon

Asat As at As at As at

1 January Income 31 December 1 January Income 31 December

Movements in 2011 and 2010 20411 statement Other's 2011 2000 statement Other' 2010
Pensions and similar obligations 440 113) 421 748 592 (133 {19) 440
Provisions 701 (45] 5 6561 651 10 40 701

Goodwill and intangible assets 1,122 78 1677) ,721) (944} (53] (125} (1122)

Accelerated tax depreciation (540) 60 (68} 1668) (525) 12 (27 (540)
Tax losses 17 [21) 4 100 82 27 8 17

Fairvalue gains (25) (12) 17 (20) (24]) - il [25)
Fairvalue losses 13 2 16 N 2 - 1" 13
Share-based payments 120 19 17 118 1466 (25] M 120
Other 23 46 (22] &7 (&) 19 10 23
{273] (144) [287) (704) {24 (143) (104] (273

W 0f the other movernents in deferred tax of €287 million (2010 €104 milbon) €477 mutlion [2010 €55 mullion] arase as a result of acquisitions and disposals
Ofthis amount €623 million [2010 €58 million) was as a result of deferred tax artsing on goodwill and intangibles assets The rematnder of other movements

relates to ether deferrad tax on the components of other comprehensive income of [€452) millton 12010 €48 mullion] or currency retranslation €43 mullion
(2010 €1 million]
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP continued

6B. Deferred tax continued

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of €1,568 million (2010 €1,515 million) and tax credits amounting to

€39 millsion {2010 €78 million] available for offset against future taxable profits Deferred tax assets have not been recognised In
respect of unused tax losses of €1,191 million (2010 €1 109 million] and tax credits of €38 million (2010 €78 rmillion] as it is not
probable that there will be future taxable profits within the entities against which the losses can be utilised The majonity of these tax
losses and credits arise In tax jurisdictions where they do not expire with the exception of €512 million {2010 €524 mullion] of state
and federal tax losses in the US which expire between now and 2031

Other deductible temporary differences of €58 mitlion (2010 €83 rmullion) have not been recognised as adeferred tax asset Thereis no
expiry date for these differences

At the balance sheet date, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries for
which deferred tax liabiliies have not been recognised was €1 443 mitlion (2010 €1 633 mitbion] Ne Liability has been recognrsed in
respect of these differences because the Group is 1n a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences, and 1t
is probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future

Deferred income tax assets and Labilities are offset when there 1s a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax Liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority The following amounts, determined after
appropriate offsetting, are shown in the censclidated balance sheet

€ million € mitlion € million £ million € million € million
Assets Assets Liabilities tiabilities Total Total
Deferred tax assets and llabilities 201 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
Pensions and similar obligaticns 555 556 193 (114] 748 440
Provisiens £19 537 242 164 6561 701
Goodwilland intangible assets 1612} [475) (1,109 (6473 1,721) (1122]
Accelarated tax depreciatien 129} (238} (539 [302) (558) (5401
Tax losses &9 71 k| 46 100 17
Fairvalue gains §1] e (19 (7] (200 (23]
Fair value losses 27 1 4 12 N 13
Share-based payments 63 120 55 - 118 120
Other 30 53 17 (301 47 23
421 407 {(1,125) (880 (704) (273

Of which deferred tax to be recovered/(settled) after
more than 12 months 1463 294 11,131) [957) (948) (661

6C. Tax on other comprehensive income

Income tax 1s recognised in other comprehensive iIncome for items recognised directly in equity

Tax effects of the camponents of other comprehensive income were as follows

€ million € million € million £million € rmiliton € millicn
Tax Tax
Before charge/ After Before charge/ After
tax credit tax tax credit tax
201 20mMm 2011 201G 2010 2010
Fair value gains/llosses) on financial Instruments (194) 26 (148) 41 2 43
Actuarial gains/(lasses) on pension schemes 11,691) 448 (1,243 158 (53) 109
Currency redistribution gains/(lossesl| (73] 10 {703 440 - 460
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7. Combined earnings per share

The calculations of combined earnings per share are based on the net profit attributable to ordinary capital divided by the average
number of share Lnits representing the combined ordinary share capital of NV and PLC in 1ssue during the year, after deducting

shares held as treasury stock

The calculations of diluted earnings per share are based on (i) cenversion into PLC crdinary shares of those shares in a group
company which are convertible in the year 2038 as described in Corporate governance on page 41, and (i1) the effect of share-

based compensatien plans, details of which are set out in note 4C on pages 79 to 80

€ € €
Combined earmings per share 2011 2010 2009
Basic earnings per share 15 151 121
Dituted earnings per share 1.46 146 117

Millions of share units

Calculation of average number of share units 201 2010 2009
Average number of shares NV 1,714.7 17147 17147
PLC 1,310.2 13102 1,310 2
Less shares held by emplayee share trusts and companies (209 0) {212 8] (228 ¢
Combined average number of share units 2,815¢9 28123 27963
Add shares issuable 1n 2038 709 709 709
Add dilutive effect of share-based compensatien plans 213 219 228
Oiluted cembined average number of share units 2,9081 29051 28900
€ mitlion € rmitlion € million
Calculation of earnings 201 2010 2009
Net profit 4,623 4598 3 459
Non-controlling interests (371) [354] (289
Net profit attributable to ordinary capital 4,252 4,244 3,370
8. Dividends on ordinary capital
Dividends are recognised on the date that the shareholder s right tc receive payment i1s established This 1s generally the
date when the dividend 15 declared
€ million € mitlien € million
Dividends on erdinary capitat during the year 20m 2010 2009
NV dividends 11,368) [1270) (1203)
PLC dividends {1,119) (1,039) 1912]
(2,487) (2,309] [2,115]

Four quarterly interim dividends were declared and paid during 2011 Dhvidends declared totalled €090 (2010 €0 83] per NV ordinary
share and £0 78 (2010 £0 71) per PLC ordinary share Dwidends paid totalled €0 88 (2010 €0 82) per NV ordinary share and £0 77

(2010 £0 71) per PLC ordinary share

Quarterly dividends of €0 225 per NV ordinary share and £0 1879 per PLC ordinary share were declared on 1 February 2012, to be

payable in March 2012 See note 25 Events after the balance sheet date on page 108
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP continued

9. Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill 1s instially recognised based on the accounting policy for business combinations, see note 21 Goodwill 1s subseguently
measured at cost less amounts provided for impairment

Goodwill acquired in a bustness combination is allocated to the Group s cash generating units, or groups of cash generating units,
that are expected to benefit from the synerges of the combination These might not always be precisely the same as the cash
generating units that the assets or liabilities of the acquired business are assigned to Each unit or group of units to which the
goodwill 1s allecated represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwill 1s monitored for internal management
purposes, and s nct larger than an operating segment

intangible assets

Separately purchased intangible assets are initially measured at cost On acquisition of new interests in group companies Unilever

recognises any specifically identifiable intangible assets separately frem goodwill Intangible assets are initially measured at fair
value as at the date of acquisition

Finite-lived intangible assets mainly comprise patented and non-patented technology know-how and software These assets are
capitalised and amortised on a straight-line basis in the Income statement over the period of their expected useful Lives, or the
period of legal rights if shorter None of the amortisation periods exceeds ten years

Indefinite-lived intangibles mainly comprise trademarks and brands These assets are capitalised at cost but are not amertised

They are subject to a review fer impairment annually or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate this 1s necessary Any
impairment I1s charged to the income statement as It anises

Research and development

Development expenditure is capitalised only «f the costs can be reliably measured, future economic benefits are probable, the

product 1s technically feasible and the Group has the intent and the resources to complete the project Research expenditure is
recognised in profit or loss as incurred

€ million € million €millicn € million € mitlion
Indefinite~ Finite-
lived lived
intang brle intangibte
Movements during 2011 Goodwll assets assets Software Tatal
Cost
1January 2011 14,150 4,757 844 899 20,450
Acquisitions of group companies 1,677 1,935 15 5 3,632
Disposals of group companies (4) [263] - - (267]
Addtions - 8 2 260 270
Disposals - - - (18) [16)
Currency retranslation 106 172 2 4 284
31 December 2011 15,929 6,609 663 1,152 24,353
Amortisation and impairment
1 January 2011 {1,007) (235) (540] 1435) (2,217
Amertisation for the year - - (58) (133) (191
Dispasals - - - 5 5
Currency retranslation (25) o) (31 2 (37)
31 December 2011 (1,033} (245]) (601) (561) (2,440)
Net book value 31 December 2071 14,896 6,364 62 5 21,913
84
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9. Goodwill and intangible assets continued

€ rmillion € million E mullion € million € rmillian
Indefinite- Finite-
lived lived
intangible intangible
Movements during 2010 Goodwill assels assets Software Total
Cost
1 January 2810 13,408 4,269 &N 487 18,975
Acquisitions of group companies 225 246 1 - 472
Disposals of group companies (222 (1 - - 1223)
Reclassed to held for disposal (82l - - - (82)
Additions - 1 1 180 182
Disposals (t (8) - (18) [25)
Currency retranslaticn §22 250 31 48 1151
31 December 2010 14,150 4,757 44 899 20 450
Amortisation and impairment
1 January 2010 [944]) (219} (458) (307 {1,928)
Disposal of group companies - - - - -
Amacrtisation for the year - - (58) (18 [174)
Disposals - - - 6 3
Currency retranslation (63) (16} (24] (18] nz1)
31 December 2010 (1007 (238} (540 (435) (2,217]
Net book value 31 December 2010 13143 4522 104 444 18,233

There are no significant carrying amounts of goodwill and intangible assets that are allocated across multiple cash generating units (CGUs)

Impairment charges in the year
There were no material impairments 1n 2011, 2010 or 2009

Sigmficant CGUs
The goodwill and indefinite-Lived intangible assets held in the regional Foods CGUs are considerad significant in compariscn to the total carrying
amounts of goodwill and indefinite-lived Intangible assets at 31 Decemnber 2011 No other CGUs are considered significant in this respect

The goodwili and indefinite-lived intangible assets held in the regional Foods CGUs are

€ mllion € billion € bithon € billion

201 201 2010 2010

Indefimte- indefinite-

lived lived

Goodwnll  intangtbles Goodwilt intangibles

Western Europe 5.2 1.4 52 14
The Americas 41 1.5 42 15
Asia Africa CEE 20 0.6 18 0é

During 2011, the Group conducted an impairment raview of the carrying value of these assets Value in use has been calculated as the
present value of projected future cash flows A pre-tax discount rate of 7 4% was used

For the regional Foods CGUs, the following key assumptions were used in the discounted cash flow projections

Western Asi1a Africa

Europe Americas CEE
Longer-term sustainable growth rates 0.2% 14% 3.0%
Average near-term nominal growth rates 0.8% 29% 1.9%
Average operating margins 19-22% 18-20% 12-14%

The growth rates and margins used to estimate future performance are based on past performance and cur experience of growth rates
and margins achievable in our key markets

The projections cavered a period of five years, as we believe this to be the most appropriate tmescale over which to review and consider
annual performances before applying a fixed terminal value multiple to the final year cash flows

The growth rates used are consistent with our annual planning and strategic planning processes

Wae have performed sensitivity analyses around the base assumptions and have concluded that no reasonable possible changes in key
assumptions would cause the recoverable amount of the regional Foods CGUs to be less than the carrying value
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP continued

10. Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment 1s measured at cost including eligible borrowing costs less depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses

Depreciation i1s provided on a straight-line basis over the expected average useful ives of the assets Residual values are reviewed
at least annually Estimated useful lives by major ctass of assets are as follows

» Freehold buildings [no depreciation on freehold land] 40years

» Leasehold land and buildings 40 years*

* Plant and equipment 2-20years

*or Life of lease if less

Property, plant and equipment 1s subjact to review for impairment it triggering events or circumstances indicate that this s
necessary i an indication of iImpairment exists, the asset or cash generating unit recoverable amount I1s estimated and any
impairment loss 1s charged to the Incomne statement as it arises

€million € million € million
Land and Plantand

Movements during 2011 bulldings  equipment Total
Caost
1 January 2011 3,582 11,836 15,418
Acquisttions 76 107 183
Disposals of group cempanies (36) (86) n22)
Additions 346 1,502 1,848
Disposals (88) 1663) 1691)
Currency retranstation (51) n7n (228)
Reclassification as held for sale 26 51 77
Gther adjustments 20 (38) [18)
31 Becember 2011 3,875 12,592 16,467
Depreciation
1 January 2011 11,2091 (6,355) (7,564)
Disposals of group companies 12 38 50
Depreciation charge for the year (96) (742) (838)
Disposals &9 515 584
Currency retranslation 1 82 83
Reclassification as held for sale (13) (&) (1%9)
Other adjustments {1} 12 1"
31 December 2011 1,237) [6,458) [7,693)
Net book value 31 December 2011 2,638 6,135 8,774%!
Includes payments on account and assets in course of censtruction 242 1,149 1,611
Mavements during 2010
Cost
1 January 2010 3237 10 408 13,645
Acquisitions 44 28 74
Disposals of group companies (18 (142] 150
Additiens 215 1,486 1,701
Cisposals (5] (496) [561)
Currancy retranslation 224 671 895
Reclassification a5 held for sale {40] 1105 [145)
Other adjustrnents (17) (14] (31]
31 December 2010 3,582 11,836 15,418
Depreciation
1 January 2010 (1,089] (5.912) [7,001]
Disposals of group companies 7 85 b2
Depreciation charge for the year (119] [700] (8191
Disposals 51 436 487
Currency retranslation (65) (358) (423)
Reclassification as held for sale 14 56 70
Other adjustments (8) 38 30
31 December 2010 [1,209] [6 355] {7 564)
Net bock value 31 Decemnber 2010 2,373 5481 7.854%
Includes payments on account and assets in course of construction 153 997 1,150

4 | ncludes €272 million (2010 €211 rmillion) of freehold land
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10. Property, plant and equipment continued

Inctuded in the above 15 property plant and equipment under a nurmber of finance lease agreemenis, for which the book values are as
follows

€ millcon € millon € million
Plantand

Net book value Buwildings  equipment Total
Cosl 201 167 348
Depreciation (47 {133) (180)
31 December 2011 154 34 188
Cost 197 205 402
Depreciation (34) (160} (194]
31 December 2010 161 45 206

The Group alsa has commitments to capital expenditure of €514 million (2010 €40% million)

11. Other non-current assets

Joint ventures are undertakings in which the Group has an interest and which are jointly controlled by the Group and one or more
other parties Associates are undertakings where the Group has an investment in which it does not have control or joint contrel but
can exercise significant influence

Interests in joint ventures and associates are accounted for using the equity method and are stated in the conselidated balance
sheet at cost adjusted for the movement in the Group s share of their net assets and labillities The Group s share of the profit or
toss after tax of joint ventures and associates is included in the Group s consolidated profit before taxation

Where the Group s share of losses exceeds its interest in the equity accounted investee, the carrying amount of the investment 1s

reduced to zero and the recognition of further losses is discontinued, except to the extent that the Group has an obligation to make
payments en behalf of the investee

Biological assets are measured at fair value less costs to sell with any changes recogaised in the Income statement

€ million € rmillion
2011 2010
Interest in net assets of joint ventures 48 44
Interest 1n net assets of associales 45 45
Long-term trade and other receivables® m 194
Fairvalue of biological assets 3z 34
QOther non-financial assets 3346 246
632 523
W Classified as loans and recevables
€ million € million
Movements during 2011 and 2010 2011 2010
Joint ventures™™
1 January 11 60
Additions 10 3
Dwidends receved/reductions {125] {148}
Share cf net profit 13 120
Currency retranslation [ 9
31 Becember 48 44
Assoclates
1 January 45 42
Additions 2 18
Dividends recerved/reductions 13) (8
Share of net profit - ]
Currency retranslation 1 -
31 December 45 45

1 Qur princepal joint ventures are Unilever Jerénimo Martins in Partugal Pepsi Lipton International and the Pepsi/Lipton Partnership in the US

' Associates as at 31 December 2011 primarily comprige our investments in Langholm Capital Partners Other Unilever Ventures assets are included under
Other non-current nen-financial assets
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP continued

11. Other non-current assets continued

The joint ventures and associates have no significant contingent liabilities te which the Group 1s exposed, and the Group has no
sigmificant contingent Liabilities in relation to its interest In the Jjoint ventures and associates

The Group has na cutstanding capital commitments te joint ventures

Outstanding balances with Joint ventures and associates are shown in note 23 on page 107

12. Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of weighted average cost and net realisable value Cost comprises direct costs and, where
appropriate, a proportion of attributable production overheads Net realisable value i1s the estimated selling price less the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale

€ mthion € millien

Inventories 201 2010
Raw materials and consumables 1,584 1554
Finished gaods and geods for resale 3,017 2753
4,601 4 307

Inventonies with a value of €158 million (2010 €132 million) are carried at net realisable value this being lower than cost During 2011,
€99 million (2010 €135 million) was charged to the Income statement for damaged, obsolete and lost inventories In 2011, €43 million
(2010 €42 million] was utilised or released to the iIncome statement from inventory provisions taken in earlier years

In 2011 inventories with a carrying ameunt of €4 million (2010 €3 million] were pledged as security for certain of the Group s borrowings

13. Trade and other current receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recegnised at fair value plus any directly attributable transactien costs Subsequently
these assets are hetd at amortised cost, using the effective interest method and net of any impairment losses

We do not consider the farr values of trade and other recevables to be significantly different from their carrying vatues Credit terms for
customers are determined i individual territories Concentrations of credit nisk with respect to trade receivables are limited, due to the
Group s customer base being large and diverse Our historical experience of collecting receivables, supported by the level of default, 15
that credit risk is low across territories and so trade recevables are considered to be a single class of financial assets Balances are
considered for impatrment on an individual basis rather than by reference to the extent that they beceme overdue

€ million € mittion

Trade and other current receivables 201 2010
Duewithinohe year

Trade recewvables 2,897 2,541

Prepayments and accrued income 591 629

Other recevables 1,025 972

4,513 4,142

Other receivables comprise loans and recewvables of €327 million (2010 €286 million] and other non-financtal assets of €698 million
(2010 €686 mitlion)]
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13. Trade and other current receivables continued

€ million € million
Ageing of trade receivables 2011 2010
Total trade recewvables 3,013 2,658
Less impatrment provision for trade raceivables 1181 N7
2,897 2541

Of which

Not overdue 2,505 2,228

Past due kess than three maonths 300 242

Past due rmore than three months but less than six months 72 56

Past due more than six maonths but less than one year 52 22

Past due more than ong year 84 10
Impairment provision for trade recewvables (118) (1171

2,897 2541
€ million € milhon

Impairment provision for trade and other receivables - current and non-current impairments 2 2010
1 January 156 157
Charged to income statement 19 24
Reductions/releases (26) (35)
Currency retranslation 4] 10
31 December 145 156
14. Trade payables and other current liabilities

Trade payables and other Liabilities are initially recognised at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs

Subsequently these liabilities are held at amortised cost, using the effectiva interest method
We do not consider the fair values of trade and other payables to be significantly different from their carrying values

€ million € million
Trade and other current Lhiabilities 2011 2010
Due within one year
Trade payables 6,767 6,020
Accruals 3,332 3318
Social security and sundry taxes 397 402
Others 475 489
10,971 10239
Due after more than one year
Accruals 115 109
Others 172 189
287 298

Total trade payables and other abilities 11,258 10537

The amounts shown above do not include any payables due after more than five years
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP continued

15. Financial assets and liabiLities

15A. Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet include deposits, Investments 1n money market funds and highly liquid
investments To be classified as cash and cash equivalents, an asset must

* be readily convertible into cash, and

* have an insignificant risk of changes in value, and

* have a matunity period of three months or less at acquisition

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement also includes bank overdrafts

Other financial assets

Other financial assets are first recogrused on the trade daie At that point they are classified as
f Loans and recevables,

(1) Availabte-for-sale finangial assets or

fn] Financial assets at fair value through profit or toss

{il Loans and recewvables

These are assets with an established payment profile and which are not Usted on a recegnised stock exchange They are inttially
recognised at fair value, which 1s usually the original invoice amount plus any directly related transaction costs Afterwards loans
and receivables are carried at amaortised cost less any impairment

{ir) Available-for-sale financial assets

Any financial assets not classified as either loans and recervables or financial assets at far value threugh profit or loss are
designated as available-for-sale They are initially recognised at fair value usually the original invorce amount plus any directly
related transaction costs Afterwards they are measured at fair value with changes being recognised in equity When the
investment 1s sold or impaired the accumulated gains and losses are moved from equity to the income statement Interest and
didends from these assets are recognised in the income statement

I} Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

These are derwatives and assets that are held for trading Related transaction costis are expensed as incurred Unless they form |
partof a hedging relationship [see note 16C on pages 97 to 98), these assets are held at fair vatue, with changes being recognised in |
the income statement

Impairment of financial assets

Eachyear the Group assesses whether there 1s evidence that financial assets are impared A significant or prolonged fall in value
below the cost of an asset generally indicates that an asset may be impaired If impaired, financial assets are written down to their
eshimated recoverable amount Impairment losses on assets classified as loans and recewvables are recognised in profit and loss
When a later event causes the impairment losses to decrease, the reduction in impairment loss 1s also recognised in profit and
loss Impairment losses on assets classified as avallable-for-sale are recognised by moving the loss accumulated in equity to the
income statement Any subsequent recovery in value of an available-for-sale debt security (s recognised within profit and loss
However, any subsequent recovery in value of an equity security 1s recognised within equity
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15A. Financial assets continued

€ million € million €million € mullion € rmillion € millien
Non- Non-
Current current Total Current current Total
Financial assets® 201 20 201 2010 2010 2010
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and 1n hand 1,139 - 1,139 732 - 732
Short-term deposits with maturity of less than 3 months 2,243 - 2,243 8es - 888
Other cash equivalents®! 102 - 102 694 - 696
3,484 - 3,484 2,314 - 2316
Other financial assets
Loans and recewvables 930 2 932 3 2 S
Avallable-for-sale financial assets 307 413 720 127 406 533
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivatives 208 - 208 403 - 403
Cther 8 63 7 17 103 120
1,453 478 1,93 550 51 1061
Total 4,937 478 5,415 2,846 51 3,377

" For the purposes of notes 15 and 14 financial assets and liabilities exciude trade and other current receivables and liabilities which are covered in notes 13
and 14 respectively

®Other cash equivalents include investments 1n money market funds of €20 million 2010 €603 million] for which the risk af changes in value are insignrficant

EICurrent loans and recevables include shori-term deposits with banks with maturities of longer than three months

kI Current available-for-sale financial assets include government securities and A-minus or higher rated money and capital market instruments Also included
are Investments in maoney market funds of €116 mellion {2010 € mil) for which the risk ¢f changes in value 15 nsignificant Non-current avaitable-for-sale
financial assets predominantly consist of investments in a number of cempanies and financial inststutiens in Europe and the US sncluding €110 mitlton
(2010 €128 million] of assels in a trust ta fund benefit obligations in the US [see also note 4B on page 77)

€million € miliion

Cash and cash equivalents reconaliation to the cash flow statement 2011 2010
Cash and cash equivalents per balance sheet 3,484 2,316
Less bank averdrafts (504) (3501
Cash and cash equivalents per cash flow statement 2,978 1964
€ million € millian € milion

Other income from non-currentinvestments 201N 2010 2009
Income from other non-current investments 76 76 47
Profit an disposal of investments 1© - - 327
76 76 374

W For 2009 profit on disposal of investments relates to the tisposal of the majority of the Group s equity tnterest in JohnsonDiversey

15B. Financial Liabilities

Financial babilities

Financial babilities are initially recognised at fair value, less any directly related transaction costs Certain bonds are designated as
being part of a fair value hedge relationship In these cases, the hond i1s carried at amortised cost, adjusted for the fair value of the
risk being hedged, with changes in value shown in profit and loss Other financial Liablities, excluding derivatives are subsequently
carried at amortised cost

Derivative financial instruments
The Group s use of, and accounting for, derivative instruments s explained in note 16 on page 93 and on page 98
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP continued

15B. Financial Liabilities continued

€ million € milien € million £ mitlion € million € million
Current  Non-current Tetal Current  Non-current Total
Financial Liabilities®i® 2014 2011 201 2010 2010 2010
Preference shares - &8 68 - 90 S0
Bank loans and overdrafts 2,073 664 2,737 1164 514 1,678
Bonds and other loans
At amortised cost 2,898 5,357 8,255 814 £110 4,924
Subject to fair value hedge accounting 752 1,578 2,330 - 2,30 2,331
Finance lease creditors 20 16 188 204 19 18% 208
Derwatives 10t 23 124 279 24 303
5,840 7,878 13,718 2275 7,258 92534

W For the purposes of notes 15 and 16 financial assets and liabilities exclude trade and other current recevables and Liabilities which are covered in notes 13 and 14
respectively

®Fnancial liabiities include €80 million (2010 €93 million) of secured Liabilittes

Analysis of bonds and other loans

€ million € million € million € milicn € rmillion € rmllion
Farr valua Fair value
Amortised hadge Amertised hedge

cost adjustment Total cost  adjustment Total

201 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010
Unilever NV
3 625% Notes 2011 [Swiss francs] - - - 320 - 320
3125% Notes 2012 [Swiss francs) 204 - 206 200 - 200
4 625% Bonds 2012 (€] 749 3 752 748 il 759
3125% Bonds 2013 (US $ 47 - 347 334 - 334
4 875% Bonds 2013 [€] 749 34 783 749 57 BO6
1150% Notes 2014 {Renminbi) 37 - 37 - - -
3 500% Notes 2015 (Swiss francs} 287 - 287 279 - 279
3 375% Bonds 2015 (€] 749 &b 795 748 18 766
Commercial paper €] 1,096 - 1,096 203 - 203
Other 34 - 34 72 - 72
Total NV 4,254 83 4,337 3655 85 3741
Unilever PLC
4 000% Bonds 2014 [f] 415 - 415 403 - 403
4 750% Bonds 2017 [£) 474 - 474 464 - 461
Total PLC 889 - 889 Bb4 - 864
Other group companies
Switzerland .
QOther 43 - 43 - - -
United States
3 650% Notes 2014 (US $} 578 - 878 559 - 559
2 750% Notes 2016 [US $) 385 - 385 - - -
7000% Bonds 2017 (US $) 113 - 113 109 - 109
4 B00% Notes 2019 [US $) 577 - 577 559 - 55¢9
5150% Notes 2020 (US $) 127 - 127 - - -
4 250% Notes 2021 (US ) 768 - 768 - - -
7 250% Bonds 20624 (US $) 222 - 222 215 - 215
& 625% Bonds 2028 [US ) m - m 165 - 165
5900% Bonds 2032 (US $ 760 - 760 735 - 735
5 600% Bonds 2097 (US $) Fal - Fal 68 - 48
Commerciai paper (US $) 1,526 - 1,524 224 - 224
Other 12 - 12 11l - 1
Other countries [ - [ 5 - 5
Total other group companies 5,359 - 5,359 2,650 - 2,650
Total bonds and other loans 10,502 83 10,585 7169 86 7.255

Information in relation to the derwvatives used to hedge bonds and other loans within a fair value hedge relationship 1s shown in note 14
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16. Capital and treasury risk management

Derivatives and hedge accounting
Derivatives are measured at fair value with any related transaction costs expensed as incurred The treatment of changes in the
value of derivatives depends on their use as explained below

i Fair value hedges

Certain dervatives are held to hedge the risk of changes in value of a specific bond or other loan In these situations the Group
designates the Liability and related dervative to be part of a fair value hedge relationship The carrying value of the bond 1s adjusted
by the fair value of the risk being hedged, with changes going to the income statement Gains and losses on the corresponding
derivative are atso recognised in the income statement The amounts recognised oftset in the income statement When the
relationship no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the fair value hedge adjustment made to the bond 1s amortised to
the incorne statement using the effective interest method

{n} Cash flow hedges

Dervatives are also held to hedge the uncertainty in iming or amount of future ferecast cash flows Such derivatives are classified
as being part of cash flow hedge relationships For an effective hedge, gains and losses from changes in the fair value of derwatives
are recognised in equity Any ineffective elements of the hedge are recognised in the income staternent |f the hedged cash flow
relates to a non-financial asset, the amount accumulated in equity 1s subsequently included within the carrying value of that asset
For other cash flow hedges, amounts deferred in equity are taken to the income statement at the same time as the related cash
flow

When a derivative no longer qualifies for hedge accounting, any curnulative gain or loss remains in equity uniil the related cash flow
occurs When the cash flow takes place, the cumulative gamn or loss 1s taken to the income statement If the hedged cash flow s no
longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss Is taken to the iIncome statement immediately

fmi} Net investment hedges
Certain derivatives are designated as hedges of the currency risk on the Group s investment in foreign subsidiaries The accounting
policy for these arrangements is set out in note 1

{iv) Dervatives for which hedge accounting 1s not applied
Derwvatives not classified as hedges are held in order to hedge certain balance sheet items and commodity exposures No hedge
accounting 1s applied to these dervatives, which are carried at fair value with changes being recognised in the income statement

16A. Capital management

Unilever considers the following components of its balance sheet to be capital shart-term debt, lang-term debt [bank loans, overdrafts,
bonds and other loans) and equity Imatnly common and preferred stock}

Finance and Liquidity

The Group s financial strategy provides the financial flexibility to meet strategic and day-to-day needs Qur current long-term credit
rating 1s A+/A1 and our current short-term credit rating 1s A1/P1 We aim to maintain a competitive hatance sheet which we cons:der to
be the equivalent of a credit rating of A+/A1 in the long term This provides us with

* appropriate access to equity and debt markets,

« sufficient flexiblity for acquisitions,

« sufficient resilience against economic and financial uncertainty ensuring ample Liguidity, ang

* optimal weighted average cost of capital, given the constraints above

Unilever monitors the qualitative and quantitative factors utiised by the rating agencies This information 1s publicly available and 1s
updated by the credit rating agencies en a regular basis

The capital structure of Unilever 1s based on management s )Judgement of the appropniate balancing of all key elements of its financial
strategy in order to meet its strategic and day-to-day needs We consider the amount of capital in proportion to risk and manage the
capital structure and make adjustments to 1t in the light of changes in economic conditions and the nisk characteristics of the
underlying assets Unilever will take appropriate steps in order to maintain, or if necessary adjust, the capital structure

Unilever 1s not subject to covenants in any of its significant financing agreements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP continued

16B. Treasury risk management

The Group has an established system of control in place covering all derwative financial instruments This system inctudes guidelines,
exposure imits authority schedules and independent reperting The controls are subject to periodic review by internal audit The use of
leveraged instruments 1s not permitied

The Group 1s exposed to the following risks that arise from its use of financial instruments the management of which s described in
the following sections

al market risk,

b) iguidity risk and

c) credit nisk

aj Market risk

Market risk arises fram fluctuations in market facters including exchange rates interest rates and commodity prices Movermnents in
these factors may affact the Group s income and expenses, or the value of its financial instruments The objective of the Group s
management of market risk is to maintain this risk within acceptable parameters, whilst optimising returns Generally the Group
applies hedge accounting to manage the volatility in profit and loss arising from market risk

1) Currency risk

Currency risk on sales purchases and baorrowings

Because of Urnilever s global reach, it 1s subject to the risk that changes in foreign currency values willimpact the Group s sales,
purchases and borrowings The Group manages currency exposures within prescribed brmits, mainly through forward foreign currency
exchange contracts Operating companies actively manage foreign exchange exposures within prescribed limits and regional groups
moniter local compliance

As shown in nate 158 the Group holds debtin 2 number of currencies Exchange risks related ta the principal amounts of the US$ and
Swiss franc denominated debt either form part of hedging relationships themselves, or are hedged through forward contracts

The aim of the Group s approach to the management of currency risk is to leave the Group with no matenal residual risk This aim has
been achieved in all years presented

At 31 Decernber 2011, the unhedged exposure to the Group from companies holding assets and Lbabilities other than in their functional
currency amounted to €56 million [2010 €52 million) A 10% strengthentng of the euro against key currencies to which the Group I1s
exposed would tead to approximately an additional €6 milbion credit in the income staternent (2010 €5 million credit) A 10% weakening
of the euro against these currencies would lead to an equal but opposite effect

Currency risk on the Group s iInvestments
The Group s also subject to the exchange nisk in relation 10 the transtaticn of the net assets of i1s foreign operations into euros

Unilever aims to minimise this foreign exchange exposure by borrowing m local currency wherever possible in some locations
however, the Group s ability to do this1s inhubited by local regulations, tack of local liquidity or by local market conditions Where the
residual risk from these countries exceeds prescribed imits, Unitever may decide on a case-by-case basis to actively hedge the
exposure This s done either through additional borrowings in the related currency or through the use of forward foreign exchange
contracts Where local currency borrowings, or forward contracts are used to hedge the currency risk in relation to the Group s net
investment in foreign subsidiaries these relationships are designated as net investment hedges for accounting purposes

At 31 December 2011 the nominal value of the Group s designated net investment hedges amounted to €4 1 billion [2010 €4 4 billion)
mainly consisting of US $/€ contracts A 10% strengthening of the euro against all other key currencies would lead to an additional
€377 million debit being recognised in equity (2010 €395 million debit] A 10% weakening of the euro against these currencies would
have the equal but opposite effect There would be no impact on the income statement under erther of these scenarios

(n) Interest rate risk

Unilever s Interest rate managernent approach aims for an ocptimal balance between fixed and floating rate interest rate exposures on
expected net debt The objective of this approach is to minimise annual interest costs after tax and to reduce volatility This 1s achieved
either by 1ssuing fixed or floating rate long-term debt, or by modifying interest rate exposure through the use of interest rate swaps

At 31 Decermnber 2011, interest rates were fixed on approximately 73% of the expected net debt for 2012 and 57% for 2013 (66% for 2011
and 43% for 2012 at 31 December 2010] The average interest rate on shart-terrn borrowings in 2011 was 2 5% (2010 2 4%)
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14B. Treasury risk management continued

The following table shows the split in fixed and floating rate interest exposures, taking into account the impact of interest rate swaps
and forward foreign currency contracts

€ mitlion € million

201 2010

Cash and cash equivatenis 3,484 2,316

Current sther financial assets 1,453 550

Current financial liabilities [5,840) [2,278)

Nen-current financial labiities [7,878) [7 258}

(8,781) (6 648]

Cfwhich

Fixed rate [amount of fixing for follewing year] 16,179) (4 946) '

Floating rate [z,502) {1.722]

(8,781) (6 668)

Assuming that all other variables remain constant, a 100bps increase in floating interest rates on a full year basis would lead to an
addrtional €26 millien debit in the income statement {2010 €17 million debit] A 100bps decrease in floating interest rates on a full-year
basis would have an equal but opposite effect

Furthermore, Unilever has interest rate swaps for which cash flow hedge accounting 1s applied Assuming that all other variables
remaln constant, a 100bps increase in floating interest rates on a full year basis would lead to an additional €14 mullion credit in equity
(2010 €10 million credit] A 1G0bps decrease in floating interest rates on a full year basis would have an equal but opposite effect

[m) Commodity price risk

The Group uses commodity forward contracts to hedge against the risk of changes in price of certain commodities All commedity
forward contracts hedge future purchases of raw materials and the contracts are settled either in cash or by physical delivery
Commaodity derivatives are generally designated as hedges within cash flow hedge arrangements

The amount of outstanding commodity contracts 1s immaterial

b) Ligumdity risk

Liquidity risk 1s the risk that the Group will face difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with its financial liabilities The Group s
approach to managing liguidity 1s to ensure that it will have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities when due without incurring
unacceptable losses In doing this management considers bath normal and stressed conditions A material and sustained shortfatl in
our cash flow could undermine the Group s credit rating impair investor canfidence and also restrict the Group s ability te raise funds

Given recent volatility in the financial markets, the Group has maintained a cautious funding strategy running a positive cash balance
throughout 2011 This has been the result of a strong cash delivery from the business, coupled with the proceeds from bond issuances
in 2011 This cash has been invested conservatively with low risk counterparties at maturities of lessthan six months

Cash flow from operating activities provides the funds to service the financing of financial LUabilities on a day-to-day basis The Group
seeks to manage its Lgindity requirements by maintaimng access to global debt markets through short-term and long-term debt
programmes In addstion, Unilever has committed credit facilities for general corporate use

Unilever had US $4,150 million of undrawn committed facilities on 31 December 2011 as follows

* revolving 344-day bilateral credit facilities of in aggregate US $5 950 million (2010 US $5,495 million) with a 364-day term-out and

» 344-day bilateral money market commitments of in aggregate US $200 mullion (2010 US $555 million), under which the
underwriting banks agree, subject to certain conditions, to subscribe far notes with maturities of up to three years

As part of the regular annual process these facilities witl again be renewed 1n 2012
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP continued

16B. Treasury risk management continued

The following tabte shows Unilever s contractually agreed undiscounted cash flows including expected interest payments, which are
payable under financial liabilities at the balance sheet date

€ million € million € mitlion € million € milliocn € million € millon € million
Net
carrying
Due Due Due Due amount as
Due between between between batween Due shown in
within 1and 2and 3and 4and after balance
Undiscounted cash flows 1year 2years 3years 4years Syears Syears Total shaet
201
Non-derivative financial iabilities
Preference shares {4) (4) (4] (4) 14) (72) (92 [48)
Bank loans and overdrafts (2,123) (183) (114} (22) 1372) {1} 12,817) {2,7371
Bonds and other loans
At amortised cost (3,1463) 1602) (1,284) 1487) [5756) {5,114) (11,22¢) (8,255)
Subject to fair value hedge accounting 1847] 1812) (25) (775) - - {2,459) (2,330]
Finance lease creditors 20 [28) (27) (25) (23) (23) {2201 1346] (204)
Trade payables 14 (10,574) (287} - - - - (10,861) 110,861)
Issued financial guarantees (35) - - - - - {(35] -
(16,774} (1,915) 1,454) 1,311 {9751 {5,407) (27,838)  (24,455)
Derivative financial Liabilities
Interast rate derivatives
Derivativa contracts - receipts 70 19% N 51 47 184 582
Cerwvative contracts - payments (81) (212) (40) 1£7) (58) 1178) [634]
Foreign exchange derivatives
Dervative contracts - receipts 9444 - - - - - 444
Derivative contracts - payments (9,604) - - - - - (9,604)
(171) (13} 9 (18} (11} & (214) 11971
31 December (15,945) (1,928) (1,463) (1,327) (586)  (5,401)  (28,050)
2010
Non-derwvative financial labilities
Preference shares (5] (5 {5) (5] )] (95} {120] [90]
Bank loans and overdrafts (1 200) [494) (271 (m (1 12) [1725] (1678]
Bonds and other loans
At amortised cost [1025] {403] [528] {1159 (424) [3975] [7514] [4 9243
Subject to fair value hedge accounting (97) (847 (812 (25] (775) - [2 554] 2331]
Finance lease creditors 20 [311 [25) (24) (23] (22} (232 [357] [208)
Trade payables 14 {98371 (298] - - - - (10 135 (10 135)
Issued financial guarantees (49 - - - - - (69 -
(12 264) (2,072 (1,396 (1.213) (1,227 [4,304) (22 478) {19 364
Derivative financial Liabilities
Interest rate dervatives
Dervative contracts - receipts 52 40 239 73 27 36 487
Derivative contracts - payments [62] (81l (256) [75] (271 i34) (535]
Foreign exchange derivatives
Derivative contracts — receipts .477 - - - - - 1.477
Derivative contracts — payments (11,797) - - - - - (11,797)
{330] {21] [17] (2] - 2 (348) [366)
31 December (12 594) {2093} [1,413] {1,215] (1,227 {4302 [22,844)
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16B. Treasury risk management continued

The following table shows cash flows of those derivatives for which cash flow hedge accounting 15 applied These derivatives are
expected to impact profit and loss in the same periods as the cash flows occur

€ million € millien € millon € milhion € million € milbon € million € million
Net
carrying
Dua Due Bue Due amount as
Due betwean between betweaen betwoen Due shown in
within 1and2 2and3 Jand4 &and 5 after balance
1year years years years years Syears Total shaet
20N
Foreign exchange cash inflows 779 - - - - - 779
Foreign exchange cash outflows 15191 - - - - - {519} 3
Interest rate cash flows - - 117) (41) (571 [170) (285} (271
Commodity contracts cash flows (356) - - - - - (356} (2]
2010
Foreign exchange cash inflows 844 - - - - - 844
Foreign exchange cash outflows (411) - - - - - [411) 114)
Interest rate cash flows - (27] {37 (51] (51) (88) (254] 9
Commodity contracts cash flows (317) - - - - - (317) 59

c) Credit risk

Credit risk s the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty fails to meet its contractual obligations Additional
information in relation to credit risk on trade receivables is given in note 13 These risks are generally managed by local controllers with
additional regional oversight Credit risk related to the use of treasury instruments 1s managed on a Group basis This risk arises from
transactions with financial institutions involving cash and cash equivalents, deposits and derivative financial instruments To reduce
this risk Unilever has concentrated its main activities with a lirmited number of counterparties which have secure credit ratings
Indmdual risk bivuts are set for each counterparty based en financial position credit rating and past experience Credit imits and
concentration of exposures are actively monitored by the Group s treasury department Netting agreements are also put in place with
Unilever s principal counterparties In the case of a default these arrangements would allow Unilever to net assets and liabilities
across transactions with that counterparty Te further reduce the Group s credit exposures on derwative financial instruments Unilever
has collateral agreements with Unilever s principal counterparties in relation to derivative financialinstruments Under these
arrangements, counterparties are required to deposit securities and/or cash as a collateral for their obligations in respect of derivative
financial instruments At 31 Decernber 2011 the collateral held by Unilever under such arrangements amounted to €88 mullion

(2010 €58 million] of which €43 million (2010 €38 rillion] was in cash and €45 million (2010 €20 million] was in the form of band
securities The non-cash collateral has not been recognised as an asset in the Group s balance sheet

The carrying amount of financial assets best represents the Group s exposure to credit risk at the reporting date, excluding the impact
of any cotlateral held or other credit enhancements These amounts are summarised tn note 13 and note 15A

16C. Financial instruments fair value risk

The Group Is exposed to the risks of changes in fair value of its financial assets and labilities The following table summarises the fair
values and carrying amounts of financial Instruments

€ million € millicn € miltion € million
Fair Fair Carrying Carrying
value value amount amount
Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 2011 2010 20M 2010
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3,484 2,314 3,484 2.316
Loans and receivables 932 5 932 5
Avalable-for-sale financial assets 720 533 720 533
Financial assets at far value through profit or loss
Dervatives 208 403 208 403
Other a 120 71 120
5,415 3,377 5,415 3,377
Financial lamlities
Preference shares (102) (116) 168) (30}
Bank loans and overdrafts (2,737 [1478) (2,737] [1.678)
Bonds and other loans (11,605) [7,775) (10,585) [7.255]
Finance lease creditors [231) [220] (204) (208}
Dervatives (124] (303 [124) [303)
(14,799 (10,092] (13,718) [9534)

The fair value of trade recevables and payables is considered to be equal to the carrying amount of these items due to their short-term nature
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16C. Financial instruments fair value risk continued

Fair value hierarchy

These fair values shown above have been classified into three categories depending on the inputs used in the valuation technique The
categories used are as fotlows

* Level 1 guoted prices for identical instruments,

* Levet? directly or indirectly observable market inputs, other than Level | inputs, and

» Level 3 inputs which are not based on observable market data

For assets and liabilties which are carried at fair value, the ctassification of fair value calculations by category 1s summarised below

€ milien € million € mithien € millien € million €millien € miluon € millien
Total fair Total tair
Level 1 Level 1 Lovel2 Level 2 Level3 Level 3 value value
201 2010 20 2000 201 2010 201 2010
Assets at fair value
Other cash equivalents 154 - - 102 896 - - 102 694
Available-for-sale financiat assets 15A 236 197 482 314 2 22 720 533
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Derivatives 16D - - 2566 497 - - 264 497
Other 154 71 56 - 17 - 47 71 120
Liabilities at fair value
Bonds and other loans 158 - - {2,330) (2 331) - - (2,330) 2 331)
Derivatives 16D - - 1197) (3664) - - (197) {366)

During the reporting period ending 31 December 2011 there were no transfers from Level 2 to Leve! 1 (2010 €nill There were no
transfers into, or out of, Level 3 (2010 €nil)

Calculation of fair values
The fairvalues of the financial assets and Liabilities are defined as being the amounts at which the instruments could be exchanged or

Lability settled in an arm s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing parties The following methods and assumptions have
been used to estimate the fair values

Assets and liabdities carried at fair value

s Thefairvalues of quoted investments falling into Level 1 are based on current bid prices

» The fair values of unquoted available-for-sale financial assets, which fall into Level 2, are based on recent trades in Liguid markets,
observable market rates and statistical modelling technigues such as Monte Carlo simulation

+ Derwatives are valued using valuation techmgues with market observable inputs The models incorporate various inputs including
the credit quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and forward rates, interest rate curves and forward rate curves of the
underlying commodities

= Forlisted securities where the market 1s not liquid, and for unbisted securities, valuation techniques are used These include the use
of recent arm s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same and discounted cash flow
calculations

Other financial assets and liabilities (fair values for disclosure purposes only)

» Cash and cash equivalents, trade and other current receivables, bank loans and overdrafts, trade payables and other current
Liabilities have fair values that approximate to their carrying amounts due to their short-term nature

* The fair values of preference shares and listed bonds are based on their market vatue

* Non-listed bonds and other loans are based on the net present value of the anticipated future cash flows associated with these
instruments using rates currently avaiiable for debt on similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities

» Fairvalues for finance lease creditors have been assessed by reference to current market rates for comparable leasing
arrangements

16D. Derivatives and hedging

The Group uses derivauive financialinstruments, such as foreign exchange forward contracts interest rate swap contracts and forward
rate agreements to hedge its exposure to interest rate and foreign currency risk The Group also uses commodity contracts to hedge
the price of some raw materials The Group does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes
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16D. Derivatives and hedging continued

The use of derwvatives by the Group 1s summarised in the following tabte

€ millton € mdlon € million € million € million € millien
Other Trade Non-
Trade current payables Current current
and other financial and other financial financial
recewvables assets Lab:bities Labilities Labilities Total
31 December 2011
Foreign exchange derivatives
Farvalue hedges ? - [4) - - 5
Cash flow hedges 22 - n9. - - 3
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations - 18 - (7 - 11
Hedge accaunting not applied 22 50 17 (v2] - (37)
Cross currency swaps
Hedge accounting nat applied - | - (2) (23] §
Interest rate swaps
Fairvalue hedges - 109 - - - 109
Cash flow hedges - - 27 - - 27
Hedge accounting not applied - - - - - -
Commodity contracts
Cash flow hedges 4 - 3] - - (2)
Hedge acceunting nct applied 1 - - - - 1
58 208 (73] o1 (23)
Total assets 266 Total Liabiuities (197) &9
31 December 2010
Foreigh exchange derivatives
Fair value hedges 2 - 3] - - ()
Cash flow hedges 1 - (25) - - (4]
Hedges of net investments in foreign operations - 125 - (78) - 49
Hedge accounting not applied 8 164 [13) 197) - (38)
Cross currency swaps
Hedge accounting not applied - - - (6) (23] [29)
Interest rate swaps
Fair value hedges - 1é - - - 114
Cash flow hedges 13 - (22) - - (%)
Hedge accounting not applied - - - - (1 ()
Commodity contracts
Cash flow hedges 59 - - - - 59
Hedge accounting not applied 1 - - - - 1
94 403 163 (279] (24)
Total assets 497 Total liabilities (366) 131

17. Provisions

Provisions are recognised where a legal or constructive obligation exists at the balance sheet date as a result of a past event,
where the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated and where the outflow of economic benefit 1s probable

€ million € rmilbion
Provisions 20m 2010
Due within ane year 393 421
Due after one year 908 886
Total previsions 1,301 1307
€ millien € million € milon € million € million
Disputed
Movements during 2011 Restructuring l.egal indirect taxes Other Total
i January 201 292 165 580 270 1,307
Disposat of group companies (8] - - - 161
Income staternant
Charges 318 38 191 4 641
Releases (46l 1 (47} (41) (135)
Utilesation 1214) i120) (18] {108) (460])
Currencytranslatien 4 4] (52) 3 (46)
31 December 2011 348 81 854 218 1,301
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17. Provisions continued

The provision for disputed indirect taxes 1s comprised of a number of small disputed items The largest elements relate to disputes with
Brazilian authorities Due to the nature of the disputes, the timing of provision utilisation and any cash outflows 1s uncertain The
majority of disputed items attract an interest charge

No indivtdual tems within the remaining provisions are significant Unilever expects that the 1ssues relating to these restructuring,
legal and other provisions will be substantively resolved within five years

18. Equity

Other reserves

Other reserves include the fair value reserve the foreign currency translation reserve, the capital redemption reserve and
treasury stock

Shares held by employee share trusts

Certain PLC trusts NV and group compamies purchase and hold NV and PLC shares to satisfy options granted The assets and
liabilities of these trusts are included in the consolidated financial staterments The book value of shares held 15 deducted from
other reserves and trusts borrowings are included in the Group s liabilities The costs of the trusts are included in the results of
the Group These shares are excluded from the calculation of earnings per share i

€ million € mullton € million €mllion €million € million € mallion
Catled up Share Non-

share premum QGther Retained controtung Total

Consolidated statement of changes in equity capital account reserves profit Total interests equity
1 January 2009 484 121 (6,4669) 15,812 9948 424 10,372
Total comprehensive income tor the year - - 339 3,538 3,877 3 4,178
Dividends on ardinary capital - - - [2,115] {2115 - (2,115]
Movements In treasury stack® - - 224 (95) 129 - 129
Share-based payment credit™ - - - 195 195 - 195
Dividends paid to nen-contralling interests - - - - - [244) (244]
Currency retranslation gains/{losses] net of tax - 10 - - 10 (7l 3
Other movements in equity - - 6 15 21 (3 18
31 December 2009 484 131 (5 900) 17350 12,065 47 12 536
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 445 £,329 4,794 £i2 5206
Dividends on ordinary cap:tal - - - (2,309] [2,309] - [2,309)
Movements In treasury stock® - - 28 [154) (128] - (128)
Share-based payment credit®! - - - 144 144 - 144
Dividends patd to non-controlling mnteresis - - - - - (289) {289}
Currency retranstation gains/{losses] net of tax - 3 - - 3 (11 2
Other movemnents in equity - - i (87) (86) - (86
31 Decernber 2010 484 134 (5,408) 19,273 14,485 593 15,078
Total comprehensive incame for the year - - (737 2,932 2,195 314 2,509
Divdends on ordinary capital - - - (2,487) 12,487) - (2,487)
Movements In treasury stock®@ - - 138 (90] 48 - 48
Share-based payment credit® - - - 105 105 - 105
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests - - - - - (288) [288)
Currency retranslation gains/[tosses| net of tax - 3 - - 3 (4 m
Other meovements in equity - - 1 (57} 156] 13 143)
31 December 2011 484 137 16,004) 19,676 14,293 628 14,921

W ncludes purchases and sales of treasury stock and iransfer from treasury stock to retained profit of share-settled schemes artsing from priar years and
differences between exercise and grant price of share options

® The share-based payment credii relates to the reversal of the non-cash charge recorded against operating profit in respect of the fair value of share options
and awards granted to employees
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18. Equity continued

€ rmillion € million € rmillion

Total Total Totat

Other reserves 201 2010 2009
Fairvalue reservas [94) 74 42
Cash flow hedges (100) 48 7
Avallable-for-sale financial assets ] 26 35
Currency retranslation of group companies [1,594) (1,02é) (1 459]
Adjustment on transtation of PLC s ordinary capital at 3%p = €0 16 154) [164] [165)
Capital redemption reserve 32 32 32
Book value of treasury stock [4,184] (4,322 14,3501
(6,004) (5 406) 15,900)

Unilever acguired 4,556,762 NV ordinary shares threugh purchases on the stock exchanges during the year These shares are held as
treasury stock as a separate companent of other reserves No PLC ordinary shares were purchased during the year The tetal number
held at 31 December 2011 was 165 437018 (2010 170 380,550] NV shares and 39,082,242 (2010 44,748 743) PLC shares Of these,

23,874,389 NV shares and 12,385,248 PLC shares were held in connection with share-based compensation plans [see note 4C on pages
7% and 80|

€ million € million
Treasury stock - movements during the year 201 2010
1 January 4,322) {4,350)
Purchases and other utilisations 138 28
31 December (4,184) (4 322)

€ million € rmillion

Currency retranslation reserve - movements during the year 201 2010
1 January (1,028) (1,459)
Currency retranslation during the year (552) 314
Movement in net investment hedges 45 18 i
Recycled to income staterment 61 1
31 December 1,594) {1,026}

19. Share capital

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised as a
deduction from equity. net of any tax effects

Internal holdings

The ordinary shares numbered 1 o 2,400 inclusive) in NV [ Special Shares | and deferred stock of PLC are held as to one half of

each class by NV Elma - a subsidiary of NV - and one half by United Holdings Limited - a subsidiary of PLC This capital s
eliminated on consolidation

For information on the rights related to the aforementioned ordinary shares, see Corporate governance on page 38
The subsidiaries mentioned above have watved their rights to dividends on thesr ordinary shares in NV

Share-based compensation

The Group operates a number of share-based compensation plans involving options and awards of ordinary shares of NV and PLC
Full details of these plans are given in note 4C on pages 79 and 80

€ milbien € million

Called up share capital 201 2010
Ordinary share capital of NV 274 274
Ordinary share capital of PLC 210 210
4BL 484
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19. Share capital continued

Issued, lssued
called up called up
Nurnber Nominat Number and and
of shares  Authorised  Authorised value of shares fully paid fully pard
Ordinary share capital authorised™ 201 2010 per share 1ssued 2011 2010
€ million € mithion € m:llon € million
NV ordinary shares 3 000,000,000 480 480 €016  1,714,727,7G0 274 274
NV ordinary shares [shares numbered
1t0 2,400 - Special Shares | 1 1 €428 57 2,400 1 1
Internal holdings eliminated
on consalidation {€428 57 shares) - - m (1}
481 481 274 274
£ million £ million
PLC ordinary shares 3ep  1,310,156,361 40.8 408
PLC deferred stock £1 stock 100,000 0.1 01
Internal holding elrminated
on consolidation {£1 stock) 0.1 (o1
40.8 408
Euro equivalent in millions [at £1 00 = €5 143] 210 210

¥ The requirement for a UK company to have an authorised share capital was abolished by the UK Comparies Act 2006 In May 2010 sharehelders approved
new Articles of Association which reflect this

For information on the rights of shareholders of NV and PLC and the operation of the Equalisation Agreement, see Carporate
governance on page 43

Anominal dividend of 6% is paid on the deferred stock of PLC, which 1s net redeemable

20. Commitments and contingent liabilities

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantally all the risks and rewards of
ownership All other leases are classified as operating leases

Assets held under finance leases are initially recogrused at the lower of fawr value at the date of commencement of the lease, and at
the present value of the minimum lease payments Subsequent to imnitial recognition, these assets are accounted for In accordance
with the accounting policy relating to that specific asset The corresponding Liability 1s included in the balance sheet as a finance
tease obligation Lease payments are apportioned between finance costs in the iIncome statement and reduction of the lease
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the Liability

Lease payments under operating leases are charged to the income statemant on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease

€ milhion € millioh € million €millien € million € million

Future Future

minimum mirimum
lease Finance Prasent lease Finance Present
payments cost value payments cost value
Long-term finance lease commitments 2om 2011 2011 2010 2010 2010
Buildings® By ]| 13% 182 335 148 188
Plant and machinery 25 3 22 21 1 20
346 142 204 397 149 208

The commitments fall due as follows

Within i year 28 12 16 K] 12 19
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 98 51 47 G4 47 47
Later than 5 years 220 7% 141 232 90 142
346 142 204 357 49 208

bl All leased land s classified as operating leases

The Group has sublet part of the leased properties under finance leases Future mimimum sublease payments of €38 million are
expected to he recewved
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20. Commitments and contingent liabilities continued

€ million € million

Long-term operating lease commitments 201 2010
Land and buildings 1,199 1,243
Plant and machinery 429 357
1,628 1600

€ million € million € million € million

Other Other

Operating Operating commit- commit-

leases leases ments ments

Operating lease and other commitments fall due as follows 2011 2010 2011 2010
Within 1 year 381 364 1,087 1181
Later than 1year but not later than Syears 836 844 1,078 1,632
Laterthan 5 years m 392 99 41
1,628 1600 2,264 2954

The Group has sublet part of the leased properties under operating leases Future mimmum sublease payments of £58 millian are
expected to be received

Other commitments principally comprise commitments under contracts to purchase materials and services They do not include
commitments for capital expenditure, which are reported in note 10 on pages 84 and 87

Contingent Liabilities are either possible obligaticns that will probably not require a transfer of economic benefits or present obligations
that may, but prebably will nat, require a transfer of economic benefits It 1s not appropriate to make provisions for contingent Liabilities,
butthere s a chance that they will result in an obligation in the future The Group doas not believe that any of these centingent babilities
will result in a materiat loss

Contingent Liabiities arise in respect of litigation against group companies, investigations by cempetition, regulatory and fiscal
authorities and obligations arising under environmental legislation The estimated total of such contingent Liabilities at 31 December
2011 was €246 mullion (2010 €228 million)

Legal proceedings
The Group 1s involved from time to time in legal and arbitration proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business Details of the
significant outstanding legal proceedings and ongoing regulatory investigations are as follows

Competition matters

On 13 Apnit 2011, Unilever announced a settlement with the European Commussion after its mvestigation into the implementation of the
European Industry s Code of Good Environmental Practice As part of the settlement, a payment of €104 millien was agreed This
amount fell within the provision made by Unilever in its 2010 results

The setttement related to the implementation of an industry-wide initiative to concentrate laundry detergents with proven benefits for
the environment The Commussion s investigation found that certain aspects of the implementation of this complex imtiative infringed
European competition rules

Ongoing compliance with competition laws 1s of key importance to Unilever As the approach to enforcement of competition authorities
globally continues to evolve, 1t 15 possible that our industry may on occasions be the focus of investigations It s Unilever s policy to
co-operate fully with competition authorities whenever questions orissues arise In addition the Group will continue to reinforce and
enhance our internal competiien law compliance programime on an ongoing basis Where specific1ssues arnise provisions are made
and contingent Labilities disclosed to the extent appropriate

Tax case in Brazil

During 2004 in Brazil, and in common with many other businesses operating in that country, one of our Brazilian subsidiaries received a
nctice of infringement from the Federal Revenue Service The notice alleges that a 2001 reorganisation of our local corporate structure
was undertaken without valid business purpose The dispute s in court and, if uphetd, will result in a tax payment relating to years from
2001 to the present day The 2001 reorganisation was comparable with restructurings done by many companies in Brazit The Group

believes that the likelihood of a successful challenge by the tax authorities 1s remote, however, there can be no guarantee of success in
court
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21, Acquisitions and disposals

Business cornbinations are accounted for using the acquisition accounting methed as at the acquisition date, which 1s the date at
which control is transferred to the Group

Goodwill 1s measured at the acquisition date as the fair value of consideration transferred, plus non-controlling interests and the
fair value of any previously held equity interests less the net recognised amount (which 1s generally fair value) of the identifiable
assets and Liabilities assumed Consideration transferred does not include amounts related to settlement of pre-existing
relationships Such amounts are generally recognised 1n net profit

Transaction costs are expensed as incurred, other than those incurred in relation to the 1ssue of debt or equity securities
Any contingent consideration payable 1s measured at fair value at the acquisitton date Subsequent changes in the fair value of
contingent consideration are recognised in net profit

Changes in ownership that do not result in a change of control are accounted for as equity transactions and therefore do notimpact
goodwill The difference between censideration and the non-controtiing share of net assets acquired is recognised within equity

Alberto Culver

On 10 May 2011 the Group completed the purchase of 100% of Alberto Culver This acquisition added brands 1o Unilever s existing
portfolio including TRESemme, Nexxus St lves and Noxzema in the United States and internationally

The consideration was €2 68% million in cash The provisional far value of assets and Liabilities recognised for the acquisition 1s €1,339 millson
The intangibte assets of Alberto Culver are principally brands Their fair values have been prowvisionally determined panding the completion of
valuations in 2012 The provisional estimate of the goodwill arising on the acquisition of Alberto Cutveris €1,350 million It retates to the value
of the antricipated synergies to be realised from the acquisition, tegether with the market position and the assembled workforce

€ million € miltion € million
Provisional Revised
fair Further far
values adjustments values
Intangible assets 1,332 132 1,464
Property plant and equipment 115 15) 109
Qther non-current assets Al - [A]
Deferred tax assets 2 - 2
Total non-current assets 1,490 126 1,816
Inventories 126 - 126
Trade and other current recevables 157 - 157
Current tax assets 28 - 28
Cash and cash equivalents 357 - 357
Other financial assets 3z - 32
Neon-current assets held for sale 41 (13) 28
Total current assets 741 (13) 728
Financial labiliites (3) - 3l
Trade payables and other current Labilities (268) (2] (270
Current tax ligbilities 12} - (21
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 1n2j 12 -
Total current Liabiliies (285) 10 (275)
Deferred tax liabilities i538) 373 (5731
Other non-current liabilities (152) 4 (148)
Pensions and post-retirement healthcare liabilities (&) (5} (9
Total non-current Liabilities [692) (3g) (730]
Total identifiable net assets 1,254 85 1,339
Consideration - cash 2,689 - 2,489
Goodwill on acquisition 1,435 |85) 1,350

Total acquisition-related costs incurred o date for Alberto Culver are €30 mitlion of which €10 rmillion have been recorded In the
incarne statement for the year ended 31 December 2011 These acquisition costs are included in administrative expenses and presented
within acquisition and integration costs (note 3)

Since acquisition Alberto Culver has contributed €643 million to Group turnover and €4 mitlion to Group operating profit, net of
£88 mulbion of one-off costs which were recorded within acquisition and integration costs [note 3] If the acquisition had taken place
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atthe beginning of the year Group turnover would have been higher by €442 mullien and Group operating profit would have been higher
by €63 million

Saralee’s Personal Care business
On 6 December 2010 the Group completed the purchase of 100% of Sara Lee s Personat Care business

In the 12 menths since the compietion of the acquisition, further facts and circumstances have come 1o light that existed at the acquisiiton
date and 1f known, would have affected the measurement of the amounts recognised at that date As aresult the provisional amounts

recognised at the ime of the Sara Lee acquisition have been updated and the prior year balance sheet has been restated accordingly

The following table summarises the adjustments made as a result of this revision

€ million € mitbion € million

Provisional Revised

fair Further fair

values adjustments values

Intangible assets 256 (10] 246
Property plant and equipment 64 - b4
Other non-current assets 5 - 5
Total non-current assets 325 (10] 35

Inventories 53 (2] 31
Trade and other current recewvables 96 7 103
Current tax assets 2 - 2
Cash and cash eguivalents 306 - 306
Non-current assets held for sale 4657 45 702
Total current assets 1114 50 1164
Financial liabllines N - (7]
Trade payables and other current liabilitias (12) {3l (115)
Current 1ax Liabilities 19) (3 (22)
Provisions - {13] (13)
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale (571 27 (30]
Tatal current Liabilities {195) 8 [187]
Pensions and past-retirement Labilities n - (11}
Deferred tax liabilities (24) - f24)
Other non-current babilities [4) (3) {7
Total non-current Liabilities (391 (3 (42)
Totalidentifiable net assets 1205 45 1250
Constderation 1458 10 1466
Goodwill on acquisition 251 (38 216

Other 2011 acquisitions and disposals
On 24 September 2010 the Group announced a definitive agreement to sell our consumer tormato products bustness in Brazil to Cargill
for approximately R$600 million The deal was completed en 1 March 2011

On 28 September 2010 the Group announced an agreement to buy EVGA s ice cream brands and distribution network in Greece for an
undisclosed sum The dealwas completed on 27 January 2011

0n 23 March 2011 the Group announced a binding agreernent to sell the global Sanex business to Colgate-Palmolive for €672 million
The deal was completed on 20 June 2011

On 23 March 2011 the Group announced a binding agreement to buy the Colombian Laundry business from Colgate-Palmolive for
US$215 million The deal was completed on 29 July 2011

The disposal of Simple Soap in the UK, the Republic of Ireland and the Channel Islands and the Cidat and Wright s brands worldwide
was completed on 30 June 2011

On 24 August 2011 the Group announced a definitive agreement to sell the Alberto Y05 brand in the United States and Puerto Rico from
the Alberto Culver portfolio and the Rave brand globally from the Unilever portfolio to private equity firm Brynwood Partners VIL P for
anundisclosed sum The deal was completed on 31 August 2011
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21. Acquisitions and disposals continued
On 1 December 2011 the Group cempleted the sale of Culver Specialty Brands division to B&G Faods, Inc for €240 rrillion

On & December 2011 the Group completed acquisition of 82% of the outstanding shares of Concern Kalina, one of Russia s leading local
personal care companies

On 20 December 2011 the Group completed acquisition of Ingman e Creamn for an undisclosed sum

2010
The disposal of our frozen foods business 1n laly for £805 mitlion to Birds Eye lglo was completed on 1 October 2010

The table below shows the impact of disposals on the Group during the year The results of disposed businesses are included in the
consolidated financial staternents up to their date of dispcsal

€ mitlion € mullion € million

Disposals 201 2010 2009
Goodwill and intangible assets 1,058 223 1
Other non-current assets 81 105 1
Current assets 145 191 3
Trade creditors and other payables (57) {51 -
Provisions for Liabilities and charges i12) (7 1
Net assets sold 1,215 &1 6
(Gainl/loss on recycling of currency retranslation on disposal (61) 1 -
Profit on sale attributahle to Unilever 22 487 7
Consideration 1,375 879 13
Cash 1,404 891 1"
Cash balances of businesses sold (2 1 -
Financial assets cash deposits and financial habilities of businesses sold (&) {14 2
Non-cash items and deferred consideration (21) 1 -

The following table sets out the effect of acquisitions in 2011, 2010 and 2009 on the consolidated balance sheet The fairvalues currently
established for all acquisitions made in 2011 are provisianal The goodwill arising on these transactions has been capitalised and 1s subject to
an annual review for impairment {or more frequently if necessary] In accordance with our accounting policies as set out in note 9 on page 85
Any mpairment Is chargad to the Income statement as it arises Oetailed information relating to goodwillis given in note 9 on pages 84 and

85

€ million € mullion € million
Acquisitions 2011 2010 2009
Net assets acquired 1,733 1,262 128
Goodwill arising in subsidiaries 1,677 225 350
Consideration 3,410 1,487 478
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22. Assets and Liabilities held for sale

Nen-current assets and groups of assets and liabilities which comprise disposal groups, are classified as held for sale when all of
the fellowing criteria are met a decision has been made to sell the assets are available for sale iImmediately, the assets are being
actively marketed, and a sale has been agreed or is expected to be concluded within twelve months of the balance sheet date

Immediately pricr ta classification as held for sale, the assets or groups of assets are remeasured in accordance with the Group s
accounting policies Subsequently, assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are valued at the lower of book vatue or \
fair value less disposal costs Assets held for sale are not depreciated

€ million € milbon
201 2010
Drsposal group held for sale on acquisiticn
Assels - 702
Liabilities - (30
- 672
Other disposal groups held for sale
Goodwill and intangibles 9 82
Property, plant and equipment - 63
Inventories - 53
Trade and other receivables - 1
9 199
Non-current assets held for sale
Property. plant and eguipment 12 20

On é December 2010, the Group acquired the Sanex brand as part of the acquisitron of Sara Lee s Personal Care business The
European Competition Authority s approval of the acquisition was contingent on the divestiture of the Sanex brand in the European
Economic Area The divestiture was completed in the first half of 2011

23. Related party transactions

Arelated party)s a person or entity that I1s related to the Group These include both people and entities that have or are subject to
the influence or control of the Group

The following related party balances ex;sted with assaciate or joint venture businesses at 31 Decernber

€ million € rmillion
Related party balances 20m 2010
Trading and other balances due from joint ventures 243 233

Trading and other balances due from/[to] associates - -

Joint ventures

Sales by Unilever group companies to Unilever Jeronimo Martins and Pepst Lipton International were €100 million and €11 mirllion in
2011{2010 €83 rmllion and €12 mullion} respectively Sates from Jeronimo Martins to Unilever group companies were €45 million in
2011 (2010 €43 rmultion) Balances owed by/lto] Unilever Jeromimo Martins and Pepsi Lipton International at 31 December 2011 were
€244 million and €0 7 million (2010 €233 mullion and €0 3 million] respectively

Associates

Langholm Capital Partners invests in private European companies with above-average longer-term growth prospects Since the
Langholm | Fund was taunched in 2002, Unilever has invested €83 mullion in Langholm |, with an outstanding commitment at the end of
2011 of €2 mullion Unilever has received back a total of €130 mullion in cash from (ts investment in Langholm |

Langholm Capital Partners Il was launched in 2009 Unilever has invested €25 million in Langholm |I, with an outstanding commitment
at the end of 2011 of €50 mullion

Physic Ventures 1s an early stage venture capstal fund based in San Francisco focusing on consumer-driven health, wellness and
sustainable living Umilever has invested €44 millian in Physic Ventures since the launch of the fund in 2007 At 31 December 2011 the
outstanding commitment with Physic Ventures was €26 mullion
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS UNILEVER GROUP continued

24. Remuneration of auditors

This note includes all amounts paid to the Group s auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers, whether in relation to their audit of the
Group or ctherwise

€ mitlicn € million € million
20m 2010 2009

Fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers for the audit of the consolidated and parent
company accounts of Unilever NV and Unilever PLC 7 7 5

Fees payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers® for the audit of accounts of subsidiaries of

Unilever NV and Unilever PLC pursuant to legislation 1" 1 14
Total statutary audit feest 18 18 19
Other services supplied pursuant to such legislatien - 1 -
Other services relevant to taxation 1 1 2
Services relating to corporate finance transactions - 1 -
All other services 3 2 1

®Ofwhich €1 million was paid 1o PricewaterhouseCoopers Accountants NV [2010 €1 million 2009 €1 million} and
€& muillion was paid to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (2010 €6 million 2009 €4 miullion)
™ Comprises fees paid to the natwork ¢f separate and independent member firms of PricewaterhouseCoopers international Limited for audit work on statutory
financial statements and Group reporting returns of subsidiary companies
©Inadditicn €1 million of statutory audit fees were payable to PricewaterhouseCacpers in respect of services supplied to assaciated pension schemes
{2010 €1 midlion 2009 €1 millien)

25, Events after the balance sheet date

Where events occurring after the balance sheet date provide evidence of conditions that existed at the end of the reporting period,
the impact of these events 1s adjusted within the financial statements Otherwise, events after the balance sheet date of a matenal
size or nature are disclosed below

On 2 February 2012 Unilever announced a quarterly dividend with the 2011 fourth quarter results of €0 2250 per NV ordinary share and
£0 1879 per PLC ordinary share
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PRINCIPAL GROUP COMPANIES AND NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS UNILEVER GROUP

as at 31 Decembar 2011

The companies listed below and on page 110 are those which, In Group companies Continued
the apinion of the Directors principally affect the amount of profit
and assets shown in the Unilever Group financial statements i Ownership
The Directors consider that those companies not bisted are not Germany
significant in relation to Unilever as a whaole Maizena Grundstucksverwaltung
GmbH & Co OHG h

Fullinformation as required by Articles 379 and 414 of Book 2 of EE:?: \?Vr:ﬂ: gri?wdgnili\?:m:a%ig d
the Civil Cade 1n the Netherlands has been filed by Unilever N V GmbH & Co OHG h
with the Commercial Registry in Rotterdam Unilever Deutschland GmiH d

Unilever Deutschland Holding GmbH d

Unilever Deutschland Immobilien Leasing
Particutars of PLC group companies and other significant Gmb4 & Co OHG .

holdings as required by the United Kingdom Companies Act 2004 Unilever Deutschland Produktions GmbH & Co OHG d
will be annexed to the next Annual Return of Unilever PLC

Greece

Elais Unilever Hellas SA a
Unless otherwise indicated the companries are incorporated and —
principally operate in the countries under which they are shown 52 Hindustan Unilever Lid b
The aggregate percentage of equity capital directly or indirectly 85 Q‘anLTrifelser Indonesia Thk d
held by NV or PLC 1s shown in the margin, except where 1t s
100% Allthese percentages are rounded to the nearest whole {j:%ﬁever laly Hold 5l d
number yrodngs or

Japan

Unilever Japan KK a

The percentage of Unilever s shareholdings held either directly or
indirectly by NV and PLC are identified in the tables according to Mexico

the following cods Unilever de Mexico S deRL deCV d
The Netherlands
NV 100% a Mixhold BY d
PLC 100% b Unitever Fma‘r]lce International BV a
NV 55%, PLC 45% ¢ Unitever NVI*
NV £5%, PLC 35% d Unilever Nederland BV a
NV 3%, PLC 97% e UNUS Holding BV <
NV 15%, PLC 85% f Poland
NV 18%, PLC 82% g Unilever Polska S A b
NV 64%, PLC 36% h
NV 66% PLC 34% | Russia
000 Unilever Rus g
South Africa
Due to the inclusion of certain partnerships in the consclidated 74 Unilever South Africa (Pty] Limited f
group financial statements of Unilever, para 264(b) of the German Spam
trade law grants an exemption from the duty to prepare individual U'r’nlever Espaiz S A a
statutory financial statements and management reports in
Sweden
accordance with the requirements for bmited liabitity companies Unilever Sverige AB a
andto have these audited and published
Switzerland
Unilever Supply Chain Company AG a
Group companies Unitever Schweiz GmbH a
Thatland
* Qwnership Unilever Thai Trading Ltd d
A t
U;?lee:elrn:eArgentma S A d lSee Basts of consolidation 1nnote 1 on page 68
Australia
Unilever Australja Lid b
Belgium
Unilever Belgium NV/SA a
Brazil
Unilever Brasil Ltda d
Canada
Unilever Canada Inc d
Chile
Unilever Chile SA d
China
Unilever Services {He Fei] Co Limited a
France
99 Unilever France d
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PRINCIPAL GROUP COMPANIES AND NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS UNILEVER GROUP

as at 31 December 2017 contihued

Group companies Continued

% Ownership
Turkey
Unilever Sanayive Ticaret Turk A G, d
United Kingdom
Unitever UK Ltd e
Unilever PLCE!
Unilever UK Holdings Ltd b
Unilever UK & CN Holdings Lid e
United States of America
Alberto - Culver USA Inc c
Conopco, Inc 4
Unilever Capital Corperation 4
Unilever United States, Inc [

WSee Basisof consolidation innote 1 on page 68

Joint ventures

% Ownership
Portugal

55 Unilever Jercrama Martins, Lda b
United States of America

50 PepsifLiptan Partnership [

Assoclates

% Ownership
United Xingdom

40 Langholm Capital Partners L P b

In addition, we have revenues either from our own operations

or otherwise in the following locations Albania, Algeria, Andorra,
Angola Antigua, Armenia Austria, Azerbajan Bahamas,
Bahrain Bangladesh, Barbados, Belarus, Belize Benin Bhutan,
Bolivia, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Botswana, Brunel, Bulgaria,
Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cambodia, Cameroon, Cape Verde,
Central African Republic, Chad, Colombia, Comoros, Congo,
Costa Rica, Céte d Ivaire, Croatia, Cuba, Cyprus, Czech Republic
Democratic Republic of Conge, Denmark, Dybout), Dominica,
Domenican Republic, Ecuader, Egypt, EL Salvador, Equaterial
Guinea, Eritrea, Estonia Ethiopia, Fiji, Finland, Gabon, Gambia,
Georgia, Ghana Grenada Guadeloupe, Guatermnala, Guinea
Guinea-Bissau, Guyana, Haiti, Honduras, Hong Kong Hungary,
tceland Iran Iraq ireland, israel Jamaica, Jordan, Kazzakhstan,
Kenya, Kiribati, Kuwait Kyrgyzstan, Lao People s Demecratic
Republic, Latvia, Lebanon, Lesotho Liberia, Libya, Leichtenstein,
Lithuania, Luxembourg, Macao, Macedonia, Madagascar, Malawt
Malaysia, Mali Malta, Marshall Islands, Martinique, Mauritania,
Mauritius, Micronesia (federated States Of], Moldova (Republic of)
Monaco, Mongolia, Montenegro Moracco, Mozambique,
Myanmar, Narmibia Nauru, Nepal, New Zealand, Nicaragua,
Niger, Nigeria, Norway Oman Pakistan, Palua, Palestine,
Panama, Papua New Guinea, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines,
Portugal, Qatar, Reunion, Romama, Rwanda Saint Kitts and
Nevis, Saint Lucia, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, Samoa San
Marino Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Serbia Seychelles, Sierra Leone
Singapore, Slovakia Slovenia, Solomon Islands, Somalia, South
Korea, South Sudan, Sri Lanka Sudan, Suriname, Swaziland,
Syria Taiwan, Tapikistan, Tanzania Timor-Leste, Togo, Tonga,
Trinidad & Tobago, Tunisia, Turkmenistan, Tuvalu, Uganda,
Ukraine, United Arab Emirates, Uruguay, Uzbekistan, Vanuatu,
Venezuela, Vietnam, Yemen, Zambia and Zimbabwe
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COMPANY ACCOUNTS AUDITOR'S REPORT - UNILEVER NV

Independent auditor’s report
To. the General Meeting of Shareholders of Unilever NV

Report on the company accounts

We have audited the accompanying company accounts 2011 as set
out on pages 112 to 115 of the Annual Report and Accounts 2011 of
Unilever NV, Rotterdam, which comprise the balance sheet as at
31 December 2011, the profit and loss account for the year then
ended and the notes, comprising a summary of accounting
policies and other explanatory information

Directors’ responsibility

The Cirectors are responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of these company accounts in accordance with
United Kingdom accounting standards and with Part 9 of Book 2 of
the Dutch Cwvil Code and for the preparation of the Report of the
Directors in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Ciwil
Code Furthermore, the Directors are responsible for such
internal ccntrol as they determine 1s necessary to enable the
preparation of the company accounts that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility Is to express an cpinton on these company
accounts based on our audit We conducted our audit in
accordance with Dutch taw, including the Dutch Standards on
Auditing This requires that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to abtain reasonable assurance
about whether the company accounts are free from material
misstatement

An audit invelves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the company accounts The
procedures selected depend on the zuditar s judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
company accaunts, whether due to fraud er error In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internat control relevant
to the company s preparation and fair presentat:on of the
company accounts in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company s
internal controt An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting palicies used and the
reasonableness af accounting estimates made by the Directors,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the company
accounts
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion

Opinion with respect to the company accounts

In our opinien, the company accounts give a true and fair view of
the financial position of Unilever NV as at 31 December 2011, and
of its result for the year then ended 1n accordance with United
Kingdom accounting standards and with Part ¢ of Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code

Separate report on consolidated financial statements
We have reported separately on the consolidated financial
statements of Unilever Group for the year ended

31 December 2011

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Pursuant to the legal requirement under Section 2 393 sub 5 ate
and f of the Dutch Civil Code, we have no deficiencies to report as
a result of our examination whether the Report of the Directors, to
the extent we can assess, has been prepared in accordance with
Part ¢ of Book 2 of this Code, and whether the information as
required under Section 2 392sub 1 at b-h has been annexed
Further we report that the Report of the Directors, to the extent
we can assesg\is consistent with the company accounts as
regired by Sdction 2 391 sub 4 of the Dutch Civil Code
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COMPANY ACCOUNTS UNILEVER NV

Balance sheet as at 31 December

(after proposed appropriation of profit]

€ million € mitlien
201 200
Fixed assets

Fixed investments 28,426 27294
Bebtors due after more than one year - 3,386
Deferred taxation - 14
Total non-current assets - 3,400
Debtors due within one year 8,193 3,782
Deferred taxation 33 30
Cash at bank and in hand 1 -
Total current assets 8,227 3812
Crediters due within one year (23,3%1] [20,407]
Net current assets/lLiabilities) [15,164) {16 595]
Total assets less current Liahilities 13,262 14 099
Creditors due after more than one year 5,41% 4330
Provisions for habilities and charges lexcluding pensions and similar obligations) 39 100
Net pension Liability 92 89
Capitaland reserves 7,712 7580
Called up share capital 275 275
Share premium account 20 20
Legal reserves 16 16
Other reserves (3,450) (3521)
Profit retained 10,851 10790
Total capital employed 13,262 14,099

Profit and Loss account for the year ended 31 December
€ millien € millign
zZom 2010
Income fram fixed investments after taxation 1,327 1,084
Other income and expenses VA 278
Profit for the year 1,398 1,362

For the infermation required by Article 392 of Book 2 of the Civit Code in the Netherlands, refer to pages 111 and 116 Pages 113to 115
are pari of the notes to the Unilever NV company accounts

The company accounts of Unilever NV are included in the censolidated accounts of the Unilever Group Therefore, and 1in accordance
with Article 402 of Book 2 of the Civil Code 1n the Netherlands, the profit and loss account only reflects the income from fixed
investments after taxation and other income and expenses after taxes The company accounts of Unilever NV do not contamn a cash
flow statement as this 1s not required by Book 2 of the Civil Code in the Netherlands

112 Unilever Annual Report and Accounts 2011




Financial statements

NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS UNILEVER NV

Accounting information and policies

Basis of preparation

The company accounts of Unilever NV comply in all material
respects with legislation 1n the Netherlands As allowed by Articte
3621 of Book 2 of the Cwvil Code in the Netherlands, the company
accounts are prepared In accordance with United Kingdom
accounting standards, unless such standards conflict with the
Civil Code in the Netherlands which would in such case prevail

The accounts are prepared under the historical cost convention
in accerdance with the accounting policies set out below which
have been consistently applied

Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies are as follows

Fixed investments

Shares in group companies are stated at cost less any amounts
written-off to reflect a permanent imparment Any impairment
1s charged to the profit and loss account as it arises In
accordance with Article 385 5 of Book 2 of the Cwvil Code in the
Netherlands Unilever NV shares held by Unilever NV
subsidiaries are deducted from the carrying value of those
subsidiaries This differs from the accounting treatment under
UK GAAP which would reguire these amounts te be included
within fixed investments

Financial instruments

The company s accounting policies under United Kingdom
generally accepted accounting principles [UK GAAP] namely FRS
25 Fmanciat Instrements Presentation FRS 26 Financial
Instruments Measurement and FRS 29 Financial Instruments
Disclosures are the same as the Unilever Group s accounting
policies under International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
namely IAS 32 Financial Instruments Presentation, I1AS 39
Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement and IFRS
7 Fmancial Instruments Disclosures The policies are set out
under the heading Capital and treasury risk management in note
16 to the consolidated accounts on pages 93 to 79 NV s taking the
exemption for not providing all the financial Instruments
disclosures, hecause IFRS 7 disclosures are given

in note 15 to the consolidated accounts on pages 90to 92

Deferred taxation

Full provision 1s made for deferred taxation on all significant
tming differences artsing from the recogmition of items for
taxation purposes in different periods from those in which they
are included in the company s accounts Full provision 1s made at
the rates of tax prevailing at the year end unless future rates have
been enacted or substantively enacted Deferred tax assets and
liabilities have not been discounted

Own shares held

Own shares held by the company are accounted for in accordance
with Dutch law and UK GAAP namely FRS 25 Financial
Instruments Presentabion All differences between the purchase
price of the shares held to satisfy options granted and the
proceeds received for the shares whether on exercise or lapse,
are charged to other reserves
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Retirement benefits

Unilever NV has accounted for pensions and simitar benefits
under the United Kingdom Fenancizl Reporting Standard 17
Retrement benefits [FRS 17] The operating and financing costs
of defined benefit plans are recognised separately in the profit
and loss account service costs are systematically spread over
the service lives of employees and financing costs are recognised
in the periods in which they arise Variations from expected costs,
arising from the experience of the plans or changes in actuarnal
assumptions, are recognised immediately in the statement of
total recogrused gains and losses The costs of indwvidual events
such as past service benefit enhancements, settlements and
curtailments are recognised immediately in the profit and loss
account The habilities and, where applicable, the assets of
defined benefit plans are recognised at fair value in the balance
sheet The charges to the profitand loss account for defined
contribution ptans are the company contributions payable and
the assets of such plans are not included in the company

balance sheet

Dwidends

Under Financial Reporting Standard 21 Evenis after the Balance ‘
Sheet Date {FRS 21] proposed dwvidends do not meet the |
definition of a Liability until such time as they have been approved |
by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting Therefore, we do

not recognise a liability in any peried for dividends that have been

proposed but will not be approved until after the balance sheet

date Thts holds for external dvidends as well as intra-group

dividends paid to the parent company

Taxation

Unilever NV together with certain of 1ts subsidiaries 1s part of

a tax grouping for Dutch corporate income tax purposes The
members of the fiscal entity are jointly and severally Lablte for any
taxes payable by the Dutch tax grouping

Fixed investments

€milbon € millicn

20m 2010
1 January 27,294 26289
Additions® 1,178 1136
Decreases® (48] (131)
31 December 28,426 27,294

B The additions relate to capital injections in the substdiary Unilever Finance |
International BV '
™ The decrease relates ta the divesiment of shares in a group company

Debtors
€million € million
2011 2010
Loans ta group companies'® 4,436 3913
Other amounts owed by group compantes' 3,628 3188
Taxation 62 10
Other &7 57
8,193 7168
Cfwhich due after more than one year - 3,386

kI Amounts owed by group companies include balances with several group
companies which are interest bearing at market interest rates and are
unsecured and repayable on demand if this 1s the case
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS UNILEVER NV continued

Cash at bank and in hand
There was no cash at bank and in hand for which payment notice
was required at either 31 December 2011 or 31 December 2010

Legal reserve

In 2006 the NV ordinary shares were splitin the ratio 3to 1 and
at the same time the share capual, previously denomnated in
Dutch guilders, was converted into euros Due to rounding the
new norminal value per share differs from the value expressedn
Dutch guilders As a result the reported share capital issued at
31 December 2006 was €146 million lower than in 2005

Other reserves
€millen € million
2011 2010
1 January (3,521 (3 428)
Change during the year A (93]
31 December (3,450] [3521)

Creditors
€milbion € millien
20m 2010
Due within one year
Other amounts owed to group companies®! 19,804 18,381
Loans from group companiest 1,346 1.317
Bonds and other loans 2,087 556
Taxation and social security 16 14
Accruals and deferred income 34 55
Other 104 84
23,391 20407
Due after more than one year
Bonds and other loans 2,251 3148
Loans frem group companiest 3,089 3089
Accruals and deferred income 1" 4
Preference shares 68 89
5,419 6,330

W Amounts cwed te group companies include balances with several
group companies which are interest bearing at market interestrates
and are unsecured and repayable on demand if this 1s the case

Creditors due after five years amount to €68 million
(2010 €90 million] [Articte 375 2 of Book 2 of the Civil Code
in the Netherlands)

Capital and reserves

€mllion  €million

2011 2010

Company accounts Unilever NV 7.M2 7580
Unilever Group shareholders equity 14,293 14485

The equity of Unilever Group €14,293 mullion [2010 £14,485
million] includes the equity of the parent Unilever NV €7,712
million (2010 €7,580 million) the equity of parent Unilever PLC
£1,934 mullion (2010 £1,808 million] The remaining difference
arises from the recognstion in the company accounts of
investments in subsidiaries at cost less any amounts written-off
to reflect a permanent impairment, intra-greup balances and
transaction are not elirminated and other consolidation
procedures are not performed

Ordinary share capital

The called up share capital amounting to €275 million consists of
1,714 727,700 NV ordinary shares and 2,400 NV erdinary special
shares These special shares numnber 1to 2,400 are held by a
subsidiary of NV and a subsidiary of PLC, each holding 50%
Further details are given in note 19 to the consolidated accounts
on page 102 165,040,077 (2010 169,731,275) of the ordinary
shares are held by Unilever NV [see disctosure Otherreserves)
and 396,941 {2010 649,275) €0 16 ordinary shares are held by
other group companies

Share prermum account

The share premium shown in the balance sheet s not available
for the issue of bonus shares or for repayment without incurring
withholding tax payable by the company This i1s despite the
change in tax law in the Netherlands as a result of which
dividends recewved from 2001 onwards by individual shareholders
who are restdent in the Netherlands are no longer taxed

14

The own ordinary shares held by NV amount to 165,040,077
2010 169 731 275) £0 16 and are included 1n the other reserves

Profit retained

€milion € mitlion
2014 2010
1 January 10,750 10 457
Profit for the year 1,398 1342
Dividends (1,3681 (1270)
Taxatien charge - 1
Realised profit/loss| on shares/certificates held
to meet employee share options 36 39
Changes in present value of net pension liability - {5l
Other charges (5] 6
31 December 10,851 10790

Provisions for Labilities and charges (excluding pensions
and similar obligations]

€miluen € millien

20 2010

Other provisions'® 39 00
0f which due within one year 13 78

¥ Decrease mainly relates to the payment to the European Commissian
following the competition settlement Further information (s given in note
20 to the consolidated financial statements on pages 103

Net pension Lability

€milton € million

201 2010

Funded retirement benefit 14] (6}
Unfunded retirernent Liability %% 95
92 89
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Contingent Leabilities

Contingent Labilittes are not expected to give rise to any material
loss and include guarantees given for group companies The fair
value of such guarantees was not significant in either 2010 or
2011 The guarantees 1ssued o other companies were immateriat

NV has (ssued Jjoint and several Liabiity undertakings, as defined
in Article 403 of Book 2 of the Civit Code in the Netherlands, for
almost all Dutch group companies These written undertakings
have been filed with the office of the Company Registry in whose
area of Jurisdiction the group company concerned hasits
registered office

Remuneration of the auditors
For details of the remuneration of the auditors please refer to note
24 on page 108

Prefit for the year
€million € million
20m 2010
Company accounts Unilever NV 1,398 1,362
Unilever Group excluding non-controlling interest 4,252 4,244

The net profit of Unitever Group €4,252 million (2010 €4,244
rillion) includes the net profit of parent Unitever NV €1 398
mithion (2010 €1362 mitlion) the net prafit of parent Unilever
PLC £1,074 rmittion (2010 £879 mition] The remaining difference
arises from the recognition 1n the company accounts of
mvestments in subsidiaries at cost less any amounts written-off
to reflect a permanent impairment tragroup balances and
transaction are not eliminated and other consolidated procedures
are not performed

Directors’ remuneration

Information about the remuneration of Directors 1s given in the
tables noted as audited in the Directors Remuneration Report

on pages 50 to b9, incorporated and repeated here by reference

Information on key management compensation (s provided in note
4A to consobidated group financial statements on page 73

Employee information

During 2011 five employees were employed by the company,
of whom 4 worked aljroad

Wl QLWLJ .
The Board of Difectors

28 February 2012 MiCHAEL  TASSC HOW
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FURTHER STATUTORY AND OTHER INFORMATION UNILEVER NV

The rules for profit appropriation in the Articles of Association
{summary of Article 38)

The profit for the year is apptied firstly to the reserves required
by law or by the Egualisation Agreement secondly to cover
losses of previous years, If any, and thirdly to the reserves
deemed necessary by the Board of Directors Dividends due to
the holders of the Cumulative Preference Shares, including any
arrears In such dividends are then paid, if the profit 1s insufficrent
for this purpose, the amount available 1s distributed to them in
proportion to the dividend percentages of their shares Any
profit remaining thereafter shall be distributed to the holders

of erdinary shares in proportion to the nominal value of their
respective holdings of ardinary shares The General Meeting can
only decide to make distributions from reserves on the basis of
a proposal by the Board and (n compliance with the law and the
Equalisation Agreement

Proposed profit appropriation

€milion € million

201% 2010
Profit for the year lavailable for distrmbution) 1,398 1,362
Dividend 1,047) {269
To profit retained 351 393

Corporate Centre
Unilever NV
Weena 455

PO Box 760

3000 DK Rotterdam
The Netherlands

1é

Post balance sheet event

On 2 February 2012 the Directors announced a dividend of

£0 225 per Unilever NV ordinary share The dividend Is payable
from 22 March 2012 to shareholders registered at close of
business on 17 February 2012

Special controlling rights under the Articles of Association
See note 19 to the consolidated accounts on pages 101 to 102

Auditors

A resolution will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting on
9 May 2012 for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers
Accountants NV as auditors of Unilever NV The present
appointment will end at the conclusion of the Annual General
Meeting
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COMPANY ACCOUNTS AUDITOR'S REPORT - UNILEVER PLC

Independent auditor's report to the members of Unilever PLC
We have audited the parent company financial statements of
Unilever PLC for the year ended 31 December 2011 which
comprise the balance sheet and the retated notes on pages 118 to
120 The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
thew preparation 1s applicable {aw and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards [United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice]

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditors

As explamed more fully in the Statement of Directors
responsibilities set out on page 61, the Directors are responsible
for the preparation of the parent company financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view Qur
responsibility 1s 1e audit and express an opinien on the parent
company financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Iretand] Those
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices
Board s Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report including the opinions, has been prepared for and
only for the parent company s mermbers as a bodysn accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no
other purpose We do not in giving these opintons, accept or
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report 1s shown or inta whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit Involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial staternents sufficient to give
reasonabte assurance that the parent company financial
slatements are free from material misstatement whether caused
by fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the parent company s
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately
disclosed the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by the Directors, and the overall presentation of the parent
company financial statements In addition, we read all the
financial and non-tinancial information in the Annual Report and
Accounts 2011 10.1dentify material inconsistencies with the audited
financial statements |f we becomne aware of any apparent
material messtaternents or inconsistencies we censider the
implicatiuns for our report

Opimion on financial statements

In our opirwon the parent company financial statements

+ give a true and fair view of the state of the parent company s
affairs as at 31 December 2011,

* have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, and

¢ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the Companies Act 2006

Opinion an other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2004

In our cpimion

+ the part of the Directors Remuneration Report to be audited
has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006 and

+ thenformation given in the hrectors Report set out on pages
121 and 122 for the financial year for which the parent company
financial statements are prepared 1s consistent with the parent
company financial statements
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to reportin respect of the following matters

where the Compantes Act 2006 requires us to report to you if in

our opinion

« adequate accounting records have net been kept by the parent
company or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us or

* the parent company financial statements and the part of the
Directors Remuneration Report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

¢ certain disclosures of Directors remuneration specified by taw
are not made, or

+ we have not recerved all the informatien and explanations we
reguire for our audit

Other matters
We have reported separately on the group financial statements of
for the year ended 31 December 2011

John Baker /

[Sentor Statuiory Auditor)

For and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
London United Kingdom

28 February 2012
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COMPANY ACCOUNTS UNILEVER PLC

Balance sheet as at 31 December

€ million £ rillion
2011 2010
Fixed assets
Intangible assets 59 48
Fixed asset investments 5979 5942
6,038 5990
Current assets
Debtors due within one year 428 545
Creditors due within one year (3,778) (3933]
Net current assets/[Labilities) (3,350) (3,388]
Total assets less current Liabilities 2,688 2,602
Creditors due after more than one year 745 T44
Provision for Uabilities and charges (excluding pensions and similar obligations) 9 50
Capital and reserves 1,934 1,808
Called up share caprtal 41 41
Share premium account 94 4
Capital redernption reserve " L}
Other reserves [405]) (428}
Profit retained 2,193 2090
Total capital employed 2,688 2,602

As permitted by Section 408 of the United Kingdom Cormpanies Act 2006, an entity profit and loss account 1s not included as part of
the published company accounis for PLC Under the terms of Financial Reporting Standard 1 (revised 1994] Cash Flow Statements
(FRS 1] a cash flow statement 1s not included, as the cash flows are includad in the consolidated cash flow statement of the

Unilever Group
On behalf of the Board of Directors / -
3
/ u(/iwe / ﬁﬂ/t«/ .

M Treschow Chairman
P Polman Chief Executive Officer
28 February 2012
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS UNILEVER PLC

Accounting information and policies

Basis of preparation

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with applicable
United Kingdem accounting standards and the United Kingdom
Companies Act 2006

The accounts are prepared under the historical cost convention
except for the revaluation of financial assets classified as
avallable-for-sale investments or fair value through profit

or loss and derivative financial instruments 1n accordance
with the accounting policies set out below which have been
consistently applied

Accounting policies
The principal accounting pelicles are as follows

Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise trademarks purchased after

1 January 1998 and are amortised in the profit and loss account
over their expected useful lives of up to a maximum of 20 years
These assets are held at cost less accurnulated amortisation
They are subject to review for impairment in accordance with
United Kingdem Financial Reporting Standard 11 Impairment of
Fixed Assets and Goodwill {FRS 11] Anyimpairment is charged
to the profit and loss account as it arrses

Fixed investments

Shares in group companes are stated at cost less any amounts
written-off to reflect a permanent impairment Any imparment
15 charged to the profit and loss account as it arises

Financial instruments

The company s accounting policies under United Kingdom
generally accepted accounting principles [UK GAAP) namely
FRS 25 Financial Instruments Presentation FRS 26 Financial
Instruments Measurement and FRS 2% Financial Instruments
Disclosures are the same as the Unilever Group s accounting
policies under International Financial Reporting Standards ({FRS)
namely IAS 32 Financial Instruments Presentation, IAS 39
Financial Instruments Recogmition and Measurement and
IFRS 7 FinancialInstruments Disclosures The policies are set
outunder the heading Capital and treasury risk management
In nate 16 to the consolidated accounts on pages 93 and 99 The
company is taking the exemption for financial instruments
disclosures, because IFRS 7 disclosures are given in note 15 to
the consolidated accounis on pages 90 to 92
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Deferred taxation

Full provision 1s made for deferred taxation on all significant
uming differences anising from the recognition of termns for
taxation purposes in difierent periods from those in which they
are included n the company s accounts Futl provision 1s made at
the rates of tax prevailing at the year end unless future rates have
been enacted or substantively enacted Deferred tax assets and
Liabilities have not been discounied

Shares held by employee share trusts

Shares held to satisfy options are accounied for in accordance
with UK GAAP, namely FRS 25 Financial Instruments
Presentation FRS 20 Share Based Payments and Urgent Issues
Task Force abstract 38 Accounting for ESOP Trusts (UITF 38) ALl
differences between the purchase price of the shares held to
satisfy options granted and the proceeds recewed for the shares,
whether on exercise or lapse, are charged to ctherreserves

Dividends

Under FRS 21 Events after the Balance Sheet Date, proposed
drvidends do not meet the definition of a liability until such time
as they have been approved by shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting Therefore, we do not recognise a Liability in
any period for dividends that have been proposed but will not be
approved until after the balance sheet date This holds for
external dividends as well as intra-group dividends paid to

the parent company
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY ACCOUNTS UNILEVER PLC continued

Intangible assets

£ mitlhon E millien
2011 2010

Intangible assets™ 59 48

“WThe movernent in the year includes the acquisiion of trademarks within
Australia New Zealand and United Kingdom

Fixed investments

Emilbon £ million
20 2010

Shares in group companies® 5,979 5942

®The mevement in the year 1s an additional Investment in a group company

Debtors
€millon  Emullion
201 2010
Due within one year
Amounts owed by group companies! 418 B44
Taxation and social security 7 -
Other 3 1
428 945

kl Armounts owed by group companies include balances with several
group companies which are interest bearing at market interest rates
and areunsecured and repayable on demand If this 15 the case

Creditors

£ millien £ milison

201 2010
Due within one year
Amounts owed 1o group companies! 3,764 3857
Taxation and social security - 56
Accruals and deferred income 1" "
Other 3 9
3,778 3,933
Due after more than one year
Bonds and ather loans® 745 7hé

¥ Amounts owed 1o group companies include balances with several
group companies which are interest bearing at market interest rates
and are unsacured and repayable on demand if this (s the case
n 2009 Unilever PLC 1ssued the following senior notes
+ on 19 March £350 rmillion at 4 0% maturing December 2014 lyear-end
value at amortised cost £348 mullion) and
v on 17 June £400 million at & 75% maturing June 2017 fyear-end value
amortised cost £397 million]

Provisions for Liabilities and charges [excluding pensions
and similar obligations)

£mithon  Emillion

20 2010

Deferred taxation 8 9
Other provisions! 1 41
¥ 50

Of which due within one year 1 IA|

" Decrease mainly relates to the payment to the European Commission
following the campetition settlement Further information is given in note
20 to the consctidated financial statements on page 103
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Ordinary share capital

The called up share capital amounting to £41 million consists of
1,310,156,341 PLC ordinary shares and 100 000 PLC deferred
stock The deferred stock of PLC are held as to one half of each
class by NV Elma - a subsidiary of NV - and one half by United
Holdings Ltd - a subsidiary of PLC Further details are given in
note 19 to the censolidated accounts an pages 101 to 102

Otherreserves
The own ordinary shares held by PLC amount to 29,739 105
(2010 31535 2711 3'/4p and are included in Qther reserves

€ million £ mitlion

201 2010
1 January 1428) (455}
Movements in shares 23 27
31 December {405) {428}

Profit retained

€ million £ million

201 2010
1 January 2,090 2104
Profit for the year 1,076 879
Other movements [ 5
Dwidends (979) {2001
31 December 2,193 20%0

Contingent Labilities

Centingent babilities are not expected to give rise to any material
lass and include guarantees given for group companies The far
value of such guarantees 1s nat sigmficant in either 2010 or 2011
The guarantees 1ssued to other companies were immaterial

Remuneration of auditors
The parent company accounts of Unilever PLC are required to

comply with The Companies [Disclosure of Auditor Remuneration)

Regulations 2005 Auditors remuneration in respect of Unilever
PLC 15 included within the disclosures in note 24 on page 108

Profit appropriation

€milion  £million

2011 2010
Profit for the year [available for distribution) 1,076 879
Dvidends' (752) (683]
To profit retained 324 196

5 The dividend to be paid in March 2012 [see post balance sheet event] is not
included in the 2011 dwidend amount

Post balance sheet event

On 2 February 2012 the Birectors announced a dividend of
£01879 per Unitever PLC ordinary share The dividend is payable
from 22 March 2012 to shareholders registered at close of
business on 17 February 2012
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FURTHER STATUTORY AND OTHER INFORMATION UNILEVER PLC

Directors’ Report of PLC and Limitations of Liability

For the purposes of the UK Cempanies Act 2006 the Directors
Report of Unilever PLC for the year ended 31 December 2011
comprises this and the following page and the infermation
contained in the Repert of the Directors on pages 2 to 59 which
includes the company s position on environment and corporate
responsibility matters the Directors Remuneration Report in
respect of Directors interests in shares or debentures of the
Group on pages 57 and 59, Dividends an page 83, Principal group
companies and non-current investments on pages 109 and 110,
Significant sharehclders of PLC as disclosed on page 124, and
Capital and Treasury risk management on page 93to 99 The
information required to be given pursuant to Section 992 of the
Companies Act 2004 1s covered elsewhere in this Annual Report

The Directors Report has been drawn up and presented in
accordance with and in rellance upon English company law and
Liabilities of the Directors in connection with that report shall be
subject to the imitations and restrictions provided by such law

Under the Companies Act 2006, a safe harbour imits the Liability
of Directors in respect of statements i and omissions from the
Directors Report Under English Law the Directors would be
liable to Unilever [but not to any third party] if the Directors
Report contained errors as a result of recklessness or knowing
misstatement or dishonest concealment of a material fact but
would not otherwise be Liable

Business review

The Companies Act 2006 requires Unilever PLC to set outin
this report & fair review of the business of the Group during the
financial year ended 31 Cecember 2011 including a descriptien
of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and an
analysis of the position of the Group s bustness at the end of
the financial year known as a Business review

The information that fulfils the current Business review

requirements can be found on the following pages of this Annual

Report which are incerporated into this report by reference

* adescription of the outlock of the Group and the principal risks
and uncertainties facing the Group - see pages 28 to 32,

+ the development and performance of the Group s business
during the year - see pages 20 to 27,

¢ the position of the Group s business at the end of the
year - see pages 24 and 46,

s key performance indicators - see pages 4, 21tc 23, 26 and 27

¢ other key indicators - see page 6,

* malntrends and factors likely to affect the future development
performance and position of the Group - see page 28,

* environmental matters and policy including the impact of the

Group s business on {he environment - see pages 6 and 8§ to 19,

+ employee matters and policy - see pages 18 and 19 and also
below

+ social and community matters and policy-see pages 6 and 8 t¢
19,

* astatement that the Directors do not believe that there are
any contracts or other arrangements which are essential to
the business of the Group Is given on page 43, and

* an explanation of the business model and the Group s Strategy
for delivering its cbjectives-see pagesBand 9
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Employee involvement and communication

Unilever s UK companies maintarn formal processes to inform,
consult and involve employees and their representatives We
recognise collective bargaining on a number of sites and engage
with ernptoyees via the Sourcing Uit Forum including officer
representation from the three recognised trade unions Qur sites
use tools such as Total Productive Maintenance which rely heavily
on employee involvernent, contribution and commitment

A National Consultative Council covering ernployees and
management representatives exists to provide a forum for
discussing issues relating to the United Kingdom A European
Works Council, embracing employee and management
representatives from countries within Europe, has been in
existence for several years and provides a forum for discussing
Issues that extend across national boundaries

The company carries out regular and wide-ranging monitoring
surveys providing valuable insight into employee views, attitudes
and levels of engagement

The Directors Reports of the United Kingdom group companies
contain more details about how they have communicated with
their employees during 2011

Equal opportunities and diversity

Under the umbrella of our Code of Business Principles, Unilever
aims to ensure that applications for employment from people with
disabilities and other under-represented groups are given full
and fair consideration and that such people are given the same
training development and prospects as other employees Every
effort i1s also made to retrain and support employees who become
disabled while working within the Group

Unilever continues to review ways in which greater diversity can
be achieved in recruitment and selection We have putin place
policies which promote the achievernent of diversity in our
business and we review these regularly For example Unilever UK
provides policies on harne working, flexible working maternity
and paternity leave child care provision and career breaks which
help us to meet the objective of greater employee divarsity

Charitable and other contributions

Unulever collates the cost of its community involvement activities
using the London Benchmarking Group model The model
recommends the separation of charitable donations, commurity
investment commercial initiatives in the comrunity and
management costs relating to the programme of activity

During 2011 UK group companies made a total contribution of
£2 67 mullion, analysed as follows

e Charitable donations £0 36 million

* Community investment £156 million

* Commercial imtiatives inthe community £0 75 million

No donation or contribution was made or expenditure incurred for
political purposes
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FURTHER STATUTORY AND OTHER INFORMATION UNILEVER PLC continued

Supplier payment policies

individual operating companies are responsible for agreeing

the terms and conditions under which business transactions

with their suppliers are conducted The Directors reports of the
United Kingdom operating companies give infermation about thair
supplier payment policies as required by the Companies Act 2004
PLC, as a halding company, does not itself make any relevant
payments in this respect

Auditors and disclosure of Information to auditors
Aresolution will be preposed at the AGM on 2 May 2012 for the
re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCcopers LLP as auditars
of PLC The present appaintment will end at the canclusion of
the AGM

To the best of each of the Directors knowledge and belief, and
having made appropriate enquiries of other officers of the
Unilever Group, all infermation relevant to enabling the auditors to
provide their opinions cn PLC s conscolidated and parent company
accounts has been prowided Each of the Directors has taken all
reasonable steps to ensure their awareness of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the company s auditors are
aware of any such information

Authority to purchase own shares

At the AGM of PLC held on 11 May 2011 authority was given to
rmake market purchases of PLC ordinary shares of 3%p each toa
maximum of 131 million shares This authority will expire at the
AGM on 9 May 2012, and a resolution will be proposed to renew
the authority

Details of shares purchased by an employee share trust and
Unilever graup companies to satisfy options granted under PLC s
employee share schemes are given in note 4 to the consolidated
accounts on pages 79 and 80 and on page 124
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UK Capital Gains Tax

The market value of PLC 3'/sp ordinary shares at 31 March 1982
would have been 746 84p per share Since 1982 PLC ordinary
shares have been sub-divided on two occasions and consolidated
on two eccasions First, with effect on 24 June 1987, the 25p
shares were split into five shares of 5p each Secondly with effect
on 13 October 1997, the 5p shares were split into four shares of

1 25p each Thirdly with effect on 10 May 1999 the shares were
consolidated by replacing every 112 shares of 1 25p each with 100
shares of t 4p each Lastly, with effect on 22 May 2004 the shares
were consolidated by replacing every 20 shares of 1 4p each with
nine shares of 3!/sp each

Corporate Centre Unilever PLC Registered Office
Unilever PLC Port Sunlight

Unilever House Wirral

100 Victoria Embankment  Merseyside CH6Z 470

London ECAY 0DY Registered number 41424

Unilever PLC Registrars
Computershare Investor Services PLC
The Pavilicns

Bridgwater Road

Bristol BS9%7 6ZY

By Order of the Board

JLELN

TE Lovell
Secretary of Umlever PLC
28 February 2012
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Share capital

NV s 1ssued share capital on 31 December 2011 was made up of
o £274,356,432 splitinto 1,714 727700 ordinary shares
of £0 16 each,
o €£1,028,558 split into 2,400 ordinary shares nurmbered
1to 2,400 known as special shares, and
* £81454 014 splitinte two classes (6% and 7%) of
cumulative preference shares [ financing preference shares )

The voting rights attached to NV s outstanding shares are split
as follows

PLC sissued share capital an 31 December 2011 was made up of
* £40,760,420 spltinte 1,310,156,361 ordinary shares

of 3'/+p each and
« £100,000 of deferred stock

The total number of voting rights attached to PLC s outstanding
shares are as follows

Total number of votes

1 310,156,351 ordinary shares 1,310,156,361" 9976
£100 000 deferred stock 3,214,285 024

% of 1ssued capital

Total numbear of votes % of d capital

1,714,727,720 ordinary shares 1,714,727,700% 76 89

2,400 special shares 6,428,550 D29
161 060 6% cumulative

preference shares 431,409,276 1934
29,000 7% cumulative

preference shares 77,678,313 348

1l 0f which 141 560 629 shares were held in treasury and 23 876 38% shares
were held to satisfy obligations under share-based incentive schemes as at
31 Decernber 2011 These shares are not voted on

b 0f which 37 6% 6% cumulative preference shares were held intreasury as
at 31 December 2011 These shares are not voted on

K 0fwhich 7 546 7% cumulative preference shares were held in treasury as at
31 December 2011 These shares are not voted on

NV may 1ssue shares not yet rssued and grant rights to subscribe
far shares only pursuant to a resolution of the General Meeting of
Shareholders or of another corporate body designated for such
purpese by a resolution of the General Meeting At the NV AGM
held on 12 May 2011 the Board was destgnated, in accordance with
Articles %6 and 96a of Book 2 of the Netherlands Civil Cede, as the
corporate body autherised until 11 November 2012 to resolve on
the 1ssue of - or on the granting of rights to subscribe for - shares
not yet 1ssued and to restrict or exclude the statutory pre-emption
rights that accrue to shareholders upon issue of shares, on the
understanding that this autharity 1s bmited to 10% of the 1ssued
share capital of NV, plus an additicnal 10% of the 1ssued share
capital of NV in connection with or on the occasion of mergers
and acquisiticns

At the 2011 NV AGM the Board of NV was authorised, In
accordance with Article 98 of Book 2 of the Nethertands Civit
Code until 11 Novemnber 2012 to cause NV to buy back its own
shares and depositary receipts thereof, with a maximum of

10% of 1ssued share capital either through purchase on a stock
exchange or otherwise, at a price, excluding expenses not lower
than the nominal value of the shares and not higher than 10%
above the average of the closing price of the shares on Eurctist
by Euronext Amsterdam for the five business days before the
day on which the purchase 1s made

The above mentioned authorities are renewed annually
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W Of which 26 494 994 shares were held by PLC n treasury and 12 385 248
shares were held by NV group companies or by share irusts as at
31 December 2017 These sharesare not voted on

The Board of PLC may, under sections 551, 570 and 571 of the
UK Companies Act 2006 and subject to the passing of the
appropriate resolutions at a meeting of shareholders, issue
shares within the Lmits prescribed within the resolutions Atthe
2011 PLC AGM the Directors were authorised to 1ssue new shares
pursuant to section 351 of the Companies Act 2006, Limited to

a maximum of £13,290,000 nominal value, which at the time
represented approximately 33% of PLC s 1ssued ardinary share
capital and pursuant to section 570 of that Act, to disapply
pre-emption rights up to approximately 5% of PLC s issued
ordinary share capital These authorities are renewed annually

Atthe 2011 PLC AGM the Board of PLC was authorised in
accordance with 1ts Articles of Association to make market
purchases of its ordinary shares representing just under 10%

of PLC s 1ssued capitat and within the limits prescribed within
the resotution until the earlier of the six-month anniversary after
the 2011 year end or the conclusion of the 2812 PLC AGM

A similar authority will be sought at the 2012 AGM of PLC
pursuant to the Cormpanies Act 2004

123




Shareholder information

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION continued

Analysis of shareholding

Significant shareholders of NV

As far as Unitever 1s aware, the only holders of more than 5% [as referred to in the Act on Financial Supervision in the Netherlandsl in
the NV share capital [apart from the Foundation Unilever NV Trust Office see pages 41 and 42 and shares held in treasury by NV see
page 123, are ING Groep NV [ING ] and ASR Nederland NV [ASR}

The voting rights of such shareholders are the same as for other holders of the class of share indicated The two shareholders have
each notified the Netherlands Authority for the Financial Markets [AFM) of their holdings Detailed below are the interests in NV shares
provided to NV by ING and ASR in the second half of 2011 Allinterests are mainly held in cumulative preference shares

ING

* 11,508,671 (0 67%) ordinary shares [€1,841,387)

+ 20,665 (71 26%] 7% cumulative preference shares [£8,856,399)
e 74088 146 0%) % cumulative preference shares (€31 751 894)

ASR
* 1,521,639 (0 8%) ordinary shares (€243 442)
= 46,000 (28 56%) 6% cumulative preference shares (€19 714,220

Between 1 January 2009 and 31 December 2011, ING and ASR [previously Fortis Utracht N V) have held more than 5% in the share
capital of NV

Significant shareholders of PLC

The following table gives notified details of shareholders who held more than 3% of, or 3% of voting rights attributable to PLC s shares
or deferred stock [excluding treasury shares) on 28 February 2012 The veting rights of such shareholders are the same as for other
holders of the class of share indicated

Number of Approximate

Title of class Name of holder shares held % held
Deferred Stock  Naamlocze Vennosischap Elma 50,000 50
United Holdings Limited 50,000 50

Ordinaryshares BlackRock Inc 74,570,243 5
Trustees of the Leverhulme Trust and the Leverhulme Trade Charities Trust 70,565,764 5

Legal & General Group plc 51,295,103 3

Between | January 2009 and 31 Decernber 2011, Barclays PLC, Legal & General Group plc and BlackRock, inc have held more

than 3% of, or 3% of voting rights attributable 1o PLC s ordinary shares During this peried, and as notified certain of these holdings
reduced to below the reporting 3% threshold The table above sets out the notifiable interest of shares or voting nights attributable
to PLC as at 28 February 2012

Controlling security holders

To our knowledge, the Unilever group is not awned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by another corporation, any foreign government
or by any other legal or natural person We are not aware of any arrangements the operation of which may at a subsequent date result
in a change of control of Unilever

Purchases of shares during 2011

Buring 2011 Unilever group compantes purchased 4,556,762 NV ordinary shares each with a nominal value of €0 14, for €101 4 mitlion
This represents 0 27% of the called-up share capital of NV The repurchase was undertaken to sabsfy obligations under share-based
Incentive schemes

During 2011 Unilever group companies purchased 37,669 NV 6% cumulative preference shares and 7 546 NV 7% cumulative preference
shares each with a nominal value of €428 57 for €375 milion This represents 5 43% of the called-up share capital of NV The

repurchase was undertaken under the public cash offer for all cutstanding 6% and 7% cumulative preference shares as announced on
19 October 2011

No PLC ordinary shares were purchased by Unilever group companes during 2011
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Financial calendar

Annual General Meetings

Shareholder information

Voting Record Vating &

Date date Registration date

NY 9 30am ¢ May 2012 11 Apri 2012 2 May 2012

PLC 300pm 9 May 2012 4 May 2012 4 May 2012
Anncuncements of results

First Quarter 26 April 2012 Third Quarter 25 October 2012

Second Quarter 26 July 2012 Fourth Quarter 24 January 2013

Quarterly Dividends

Dates Listed below are applicable to all four Unilever Ustings NV ordinary shares, PLC ordinary shares, NV New York shares,

and PLC ADRs)

Quarterly Dividend announced with the Q4 2011 results
Quarterly Dividend announced with the Q1 2012 results
Quarterly Dividend announced with the Q2 2012 results
Quarterly Dividend anngunced with the Q3 2012 results

Announced Ex-dividend date Record date Paymentdate
2February 2012 15February2012 17 February 2012 22 March 2012
26 April 2012 9 May 2012 11 May 2012 13 June 2012
24 July 2012 8 August 2012 10 August 2012 12September 2012

25 Octaber 2012 7 November 2012 9 November 2012 12 December 2012

Preferential Dividends - NV

Announced Ex-dividend date Record date Paymentdata
6% and 7% 7 September 2012 10September2012 12September 2012 1 October 2012
Contact details
Rotterdam London
Unilever NV Unilever PLC

Investor Relatiens Department
Weena 455, PO Box 7460

3000 DK Rotterdam

The Netherlands

Telephone +44 (020 7822 4830
Telefax +44 (0120 7822 5754

investor Relations Department
Unilever House

100 Victona Embankment
London ECAY 0DY

United Kingdom

Telephone +44(0)20 7822 6830
Telefax +44[0)20 7822 5754

Anyqueries can also be sent to us electronically via www unilever com/resource/contactus aspx
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION continued

Website

Shareholders are encouraged to visit our website

www unilever comwhich has a wealth of information
about Unilever Any information on or linked from the
website 1s not incorporated by reference into this Annual
Report and Accounts

There 1s a section designed specifically for investors at
www unilever com/investorrelations It includes detailed
coverage of the Unilever share price our quarterly and annual

results, performance charts, financial news and investor relations

speeches and presentations It also includes conference and
investor/analyst presentations

You can also view this year s Annual Report and Accounts and
prior years Annual Review and Annual Report and Accounts
documents at www unilever com/investorrelations

PLC shareholders can elect to receve their shareholder
communications such as Annual Report and Accounts and
other shareholder documents electronically by registering at
www unilever com/shareholderservices

Shareholders are also able to view documents on our website

Share registration

The Netheriands

ANT Trust & Corporate Services NV
Claude Debussylaan 24

1082 MD Amsterdam

Telephone +31(0)20522 2555

Telefax +31(0)20 522 2500
Website www ant-trust com
Email registersfdant-trust nl
UK

Computershare Investor Services PLC
The Pavilions

Bridgwater Road

Bristol BS99 62¥

Telephone +44(0)870 600 3977

Telefax +44 (0870 703 6119

Website  www unilever com/shareholderservices
Emait web quenesfdcomputershare co uk

USA

Ciubank Shareholder Services
PO Box 43077

Providence RI 02940-3077

Toll free phone (inside US) 888 502 6356

Toll phone {outside US) +1 781 575 4555

Website www citl com/dr

Email citibank@shareholders-online com
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Publications

Copies of the following publications can be accessed directly
or ardered through www unilever com/investorrelations or
www unilever nl/ansbedryf/beleggers
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Available in English with figures ineuros It forms the basis for
the Form 20-F that 1s filed with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission, which is also available free of charge at
WWW SeC gov

Quarterly Results Announcements
Available in English with figures in euros
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Principal greup companies 109-110
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Provisions 99-100
Receivables £8-89
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Regions 22,26,70,73,85
Related party transactions 107
Remuneration Committee 39-40, 44 30-59
Research and development 10-11,72, 8B4
Reserves 100 114 120
Restructuring 70,72,99
Revenue recogmition 70
Risk management and control 33,43-45 46
Risks - principal risks N 28-32
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Share-based payments 79-80
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Shareholders

41,101-102, 114,120,123

40-42,123-124

Share registration 126
Staff costs 73
Strategy 9
Taxatien 80-82 113 N9
Total shareholder return 59
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Underlying sales growth 6-7,20-27
Unilever Leadership Execytive 5,35
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Cautionary statement

This document may contain forward-looking statements 1ncluding forward-locking statements within the meaning of the United States Private Securities
Liigation Reform Act of 1995 Words suchas will aim  expects anticipates intends believes vision orthe negative of these terms and other similar
expressians of future perfermance or results and thair negatives are intended to identify such forward-looking statements These forward-locking
stalements are based upon current expectations and assumptions regarding anticipated developments and other factors affecting the Group They are

not lustorical facts nor are they guarantees of future performance

Because these forward-locking statements involve risks and uncertainties there are important facters that could cause actual results ta differ matenially
fromthose expressed or implied by these forward-looking staternents including among others competitive pricingand activitias acencmic slowdown
industry consolidation access to credit markets recruitment levels reputational risks commodity prices continued availabiliy of raw materials
prionitisation of projects consumption levels costs the ability to maintain and manage key customer relationships and supply chain sources consumer
demands currencyvalues interestrates the abibity 10 integrale acguisitions and cemplete planned divestitures finalising f2ir values related to prior
acquisitions the ability to complete planned restructuring activities physical risks environmental risks the ability to manage sustainability regulatory

tax and legal matters and resolve pending matters within current estimates leqislative fiscal and regulatory developments political economic and social
conditions in the geagraphic markets where the Group operates completion of the Sustainable Development Report 2011 and new or changed pricrities of the
Boards Further details of potential risks and uncertainties affecting the Group are described in the Group s filings with the London Steck Exchange Euronext
Amsterdam and the US Securities and Exchange Cemmussion including the Group s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended 31 December 2011 and
the Annual Report and Accounts 2011 These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this document Except as required by any applicable

{aw or regulation the Group expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates or revisians to any forward-leoking statements
contained herein to reflect any change in the Group s expectations with regard thersto or any change in events condibiens or circumstances on which any such
statement is based

This document is not prepared in accordance with US GAAP and should not therefore be relied upon by readers as such The Group s Annual Report on
Form 20-F for 2011 15 separately filed with the US Securities and Exchange Commission and 1s available on our corporate website www unilever com Any
information on or linked from the website 1s not incorparated by reference into this decument or the Annual Report on Form 20-F tn addition a printed copy
of the Annual Report on Form 20-F 1s avallable free of charge upon request to Unitever PLC [nvestor Relations Department Unilever House 100Victoria
Embankment London EC4Y 0DY United Kingdom
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